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Section I Introduction

A. Project Purpose and Goals

In the spring of 1991, the Caroline County Planning Department contracted PMA Consulting
Services and Traceries to conduct a survey of the county’s historic resources. PMA, a planning
and architecture firm specializing in preservation planning, provided overall management of the
project as well as field work, while Traceries, a Washington, D.C. consulting firm concerned
with architectural history and historic preservation, was responsible for directing and conducting
the on-site survey, conducting the historic research, preparing a historic context report,
evaluating the findings and making preservation recommendations.

The purpose of the project was 1o conduct an architectural survey of the county, concenirating on
the primary and secondary growth areas as identified in the Caroline County Comprehensive Plan
Update (February 1987). These growth areas were systematically surveyed for sites 50 vears or
older. Other sites outside of these areas were identified and surveyed, based recommendations
from local residents.  Sites already on file at the Virginia Department of Historic Resources
which had been identified by the Reverend E. Fall in the 1970s, the Historic American Buildings
Survey in the 1950s, and the WPA survey in 19308 were re-surveyed to update their status and to
collect more architectural information. The original project scope provided for the survey of 200
properties to the reconnaissance-level and 20 properties w the intensive-level.  The scope of
work included the following additional activities:

1. provide narrative and statistical architectural descriptions of the propertics surveyed;

b

provide brief general reports on potential historic districts;

3. provide survey forms completed to the appropriate levels, photographs, several
representative floor plan drawings, and maps prepared and collected during the survey
phase of the project;

4. place the buildings in the historical context of the growth and development of Caroline
County as based on the historic themes recognized by VIVHR;

5. evaluate the significance of these resources, balancing historical data, architectural data,
and integrity, using local, state and National Register criteria for significance; and,

6. provide recormendations for further study and preservation planning.
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B. Survey Coverage and Study Area

Located in the Commmonwealth of Virginia, Caroling County consists of the area bounded on the
north by the Rappahannock River, on the south by the Pamunkey and North Anna Rivers, on the
gast by Hssex County, King and Queen County, and King William County, and on the west by
Spotsylvania County. The county is located between Fredericksburg and Richmond and is
traversed by several highways including Interstate 95, Route 1, Route 301 and Route 2.

The survey activity was concentrated within the six primary and secondary growth areas in the
county as shown in Figure 1, These areas were selected as the focus of the survey because they
will receive more intense development in the future than the outlying areas of the county. The
primary growth region consists of the large area around Bowling Green, Carmel Church and
Ladysmith., The secondary growth regions include the areas arcund Dawn, Guinea, Woodford,
Sparia, Port Royal. The towns of Bowling Green and Port Royal were not included in the survey
project because both are well-documented and the amount of available grant funds limited the
overall number of sites which could be surveved, Additionally, Camp AP, Hill was eliminated
from the scope of the survey because so few of the early structures remain standing.

Following the survey of the growth areas, other areas of the county were surveyed, based on
recommendations from residents and local historians, to document other significant buildings and
structures which bad not been previously surveyed. These included sites located along Route 601
in the vicinity of Penola, Route 627 from Wright's Fork w Shumansville, and other individual
sites which were identified along the survey route.

C. Overview of Findings

BIVEY, lings: A total of 214 historic properties were visited over the course of the project,
mc%udmv ﬁewiy identified sites within the growth areas of the county, the re-survey of sites
which had been identified previously, and additional sites in outlying areas which were
discovered, The survey effort resulted in extending the inventory of historic resources in
Caroline County from 187 to 302 sites. A wide variety of significant buildings, structures, ruins,
and cemeteries were identified ranging in date from the eighteenth century to the early twenticth
century. prior to 1941, Of the sites surveyed, forty-five (45) were determined to be potentially
eligible for nomination to the Virginia Landmarks Register and National Register of Historic
Places; of these forty-five, thirteen (13} sites were determined to be potentially eligible based on
thelr architectural and historic significance, rwenty-three (233 of these were determined to be
potentially eligible based on a preliminary architectural examination but require further resecarch,
and nine {9 are in a date of deterioration and considered threatened.  Aside from the towns of
Bowling Green and Port Royal {which were excluded from this survey), Carcline County has
many small villages and communities rich in historic architecture which should be considered as
Incally important historic areas.
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While many residents have worked 1o preserve the historic buildings and structures which they
own through their individual maintenance, rehabilitation, and preservation efforts, significant
historic resources continue to be lost. It was discovered that over one-third of the historic
buildings and structures which had been identified in previous surveys of the county have been
destroyed, excluding those lost in the creation and use of Camp AP, Hill,

Recommendations: Future planning efforts in the county should address ways to protect the
important historic architecture of the community and ways to encourage and accelerate its
preservation. The immediate focus of this effort should be the growth areas of the county, and
the significant historic sites in the outlying areas. It is recommended that a Preservation Plan be
developed as part of the update of the county’s Comprehensive Plan in order to identify
community preservation concerns, issues, and strategies. Further, it is recommended that
preservation strategies related to managing change around historic sites be integrated into the
current Zoning Ordinance through the mechanism of Historic Overlay Zoning. This will protect
important resources from future alteration, additions, or adiacent construction which would
substantially detract from the historic significance of the community, building or structure.
Additional research is also recommended for properties which may be eligible for nomination to
the state and national registers.

Outside of the growth areas, it is recommended that a second phase of survey work be completed
for areas not covered in this survey in order to develop a comprehensive county-wide inventory
of historic sites. A review of the survey findings revealed that significant historic sites in the
outlying rural areas are not necessarily concentrated around the historic communities and villages,
but are spread out and relate much more to historic routes of transportation and farm locations
than community centers. Therefore, it is anticipated that other significant sites meriting
preservation will be found in these outlying areas.

in addition, other programs which encourage historic preservation should be developed, as they
relate to the concerns of county residents. These could include, 1) nominating properties o the
state and national registers, 2} executing historic or open space easements for sites meriting
permanent protection, 3} programs in public awareness, 4} official recognition of owners of
historic properties. and 5} developing educational components in the local school system.

B, Organization of the Report

The Survey Methodology (Section 1D, Swrvey Findings and Recommendations (Section 11D, and a
detailed summary of the drchitectural dnalysis (Section 1V) are presented in the following
sections of the report, with additional information presented in the Appendices. The section on
Survey Methodology provides a detailed explanation of the procedure and scope of preparing and
completing the on-site survey work and the methods of gathering information and performing
research. The section on Survey Findings and Recommendations, details the findings of the



Historic Architectural burvey of Caroline County 4
October 1991

survey in general terms, provides a discussion of properties of particular significance and those
eligible for nomination to the state and national registers. In addition, a detailed analysis of the
need for further preservation planning is given with specific suggestions on how 1 proceed in
developing a comprehensive Preservation Plan for the county, The section on Architectural
Analysis containg an analysis of how the identified sites relate 1o the overall history of the
county. Appendix A Includes a listing of surveyed properties in alphabetical order first, followed
by a listing by site number in numerical order. Appendix A also includes an inventory of sites
by tax parcel numbers, as well as an inventory of sites which are potentially eligible for
nomination 0 the National Register. Appendix B presents drawings of measured floor plans of
several significant historic buildings which were surveved, These help to illustrate the range of
different bullding types and plan types encountered during the survey. Appendix € provides a
bibliography of sources used in relation to this project.
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Section I Survey Methodology
A. Preliminary Work:

Prior to initiating the field survey, PMA collected United States Geological Survey (U.5.G.8)
Maps on Caroline County and VDHR survey data compiled on previously identified sites in
Caroline County. The VDHR survey data include information gathered on 187 archagological
and architectural sites identified during the WPA Survey of 1937, the Historic American
Buildings Survey (HABS) of 1957 and a Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission (now the
Yirginia Department of Historic Resources) Survey performed by the Reverend R.E. Fall from
1969 to 1975, Reverend Fall combined his survey findings with the WPA survey ﬁﬁémgs @f {?}6
1930s to produce his book, People, Post Offices and Communities in Caroline Coun
1727-1969. Using the survey forms and photographs from Reverend Fall's survey of the county,
the VDHR compiled an accurate assessment of the architecture of Caroline County. A catalog of
Fall’s findings was written in 1975 by Edward A. Chapell and 15 located in the archives at
VIDHR.

Based on the above survey records, PMA and Tracerics indicated all of the previously identified
sites in the county, as well a3 propertics listed on the National Register of Historic Places on a
set of U.8.G.5. maps of the county. Many of the survey forms had inaccurate or incomplete
location identifiers making it difficult to precisely locate the property. Following this task,
Traceries and PMA roughly outlined the primary and secondary growth areas on the maps. In
coordination with the Caroling county Planning Department and the VDHR, the survey
boundaries were outlined 10 generally follow the sketch plans found in the Comprehensive Plan.
The boundaries were enlarged to include more potential historic properties, as well as to codify
the areas with boundary lines defined by roads and other geographic features.

Collecting previous survey data and marking up the maps with this information was an essential
first step for surveying an extensive area for a limited number of historic properties. The maps
were also used to develop a survey itinerary in order to make the on-site survey as efficient as
possible.

B. Survey Form

As part of the 1991 survey of Powhatan County, Virginia, Traceries assisted the VDHR in
revising VDHR s current survey form. VDHR’s long and short forms were consclidated into
one survey form where the level of survey prescribes the degree of completion of the form. The
form was revised to more convenlently correspond to the screens currently being developed using
the Integrated Preservation Software (IPS) systom. The newly developed survey form used for
the first time during the survey of Powhatan County, was similarly used during the survey of
Caroline County.
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The form used for the on-site survey work included eight basic sections: Property Identification;
Property Location; Property Description; URM Tracking; Site Description; General Description;
Architectural Description; and Interior Description.  Additional sections including Historical
Data; Bibliographic Information; and Evaluation of Significance were filled out on-site or as the
data were entered into the computer system as appropriate.

The Property Identification section of the survey form includes information used to identify the
property once it has been surveved. This information, including property name(s), was provided
by owners, signs or archival research,

Information related to the geographical location of the resources was entered in the Property
Location Information section. Among other location identifiers, the surveyor provided a
complete and accurate descriptive location of the property being surveyed. This section also
included tax map and parcel information and ownership status.

The Property Description Information section is the listing and count of the contributing and non-
contributing buildings, structures, properties and objects located within the property. This
information can be easily retrieved by reforring to the surveyor’s site plan,

The CERM (Cultural Resource Management) Tracking Information section provides data related to
surveys or studies conducted on the property and should be up-dated as necessary. Specifically,
the survey team indicated the level of survey conducted, the date the survey took place, the
individuals responsible for conducting the survey, and the negative and frame number of the
photographs taken of the resource.

The Site Description section provides information related 1o the placement of the resocurces and
landscape features within the property. The section includes a site plan, a short description of
notable landscape features and a brief description of the setting by defining the inunediate and
general surroundings of the property.

The General Description section is completed for the primary resource and, if appropriate, any
secondary resouyrces. This section addresses the building type and sub-type, and current and
historic uses of the resources, The condition and integrity of the resource are evaluated in this
section. The integrity is assessed using the six aspects outlined in National Park Service’s
Mational Register Bulletin Mumber 13, These include, location, design, setting, materials,
workmanship and feeling. The Bulletin actually includes a seventh aspect of integrity, known as
association. This aspect, however, requires archival research and can not be evaluated through
on-site examination alone. It was therefore eliminated from the survey form.

The General Architectural Description section is a relatively technical discussion of the resource
as it appears at the time of the survey, This section includes specific information regarding the
materials, configuration, alierations and treatment of all aspects of the resource. This section was
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thoroughly completed on-site for resources surveyed at either the reconnaissance or intensive
level.

The Interior Architectural Description section was completed only if the surveyor was granted
permission to enter the resource or the owner provided information on the interior. Information
such as the plan type, a sketch plan and descriptions of moldings, fixtures or hardware was
included in this section.

C. On-site Survey:

The on-site survey was directed by Kimberly Willlams of Traceries. It was conducted by Jeff
Stodghill from PMA and architectural historians Kim Williams and Laura Harris from Traceries
in the period from May 1951 to August 1991, A two-member team worked to map, survey and
photograph the historic properties. The team mapped the route, identified the properties o be
surveyed, completed the survey forms, and photographed the site.  When owners or residents of
the properties were present, the survey project was intreduced to them and informal oral histories
were conducted. Using the USGS maps, the survey team investigated every paved and unpaved
road leading to a marked property within the primary and secondary growth areas. Important
corridors Hoking the growth areas were also systematically surveyed, while the non-growth areas
were surveyed for already identified properties or other important properties identified through
vesearch or oral histories, The only properties not investigated within the growth areas were
properties not accessible due to unpassable road conditions or because of g locked gate. The
survey team would generally attempt to walk the road, however if conditions appeared unsafe or
illegal, the effort was abandoned. The few properties eliminated for such reasons are ientified
on the field maps.

The survey provided for a survey of 200 properties at the reconnaissance level and 20 properties
at the intensive level, The level of examination was dependent upon several factors including,
but not limited 1o the following: 1) the date of construction; 2} the level of architectural
significance; 3} the level of historical significance; 4} the condition of the property; §) the
integrity of the property; 6) the distinctiveness of the building type; 7) the degree of
representation of the building type; and 8) the potential threat to the property. Generally, if the
property was surveyed to the intensive level versus the reconnaissance level, the form was more
completely filled-out and more photographs and slides were taken of the property. When
possible, photographs of the interiors were taken and interior descriptions were writien,
However, because of the limited nature of this survey project. interiors were not systematically
examined. Special aitention was paid to early outbuildings and farm structures, as well as
significant buildings in poor or threstenced condition,
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In assigning dates 1o properties, the survey team considered historical data, architectural features,
construction techniques and information provided by the owner. Generally, the survey team was
conservative in assigning dates to the resources. In most cases, a span was provided to indicate
the earliest possible and the latest possible construction date.  Assigning dates 1o agriculural
structures and dependencies was generally more difficult than other building types. The basic
construction and form of utilitarian building types such as barns, smokehouses and corn cribs,
have changed little over the years. Architectural features and construction technigues, such as
masonry bonding patterns, nail type, saw cuf, and window types, were instrumental in helping to
determine a date of construction for these buildings.

In surveying the properties, special carg was taken to examine all resources located on the
property. If outbuildings and dependencies contributed to the significance of the property and
retained their integrity, a Secondary Resource Survey Form was completed and the struchure was
photographed. When an owner or tenant was present, the survey team inguired about the
property’s development and captured relevant oral history.

The survey team also noted properties in the county that are fifty vears or older but that werg not
chosen to be individually surveyed. This information, which was outside of the Scope of Work,
is recorded on the working maps used during the survey process. Notations of these properties
on the maps help to identify the function of the buildings and the approximate date of
construction,  The following codes were used o indicate the function of the property:

A = Agriculture Refers to an individual barn

C = Commercial Refers o a store or office building

D = Dwelling Refers to a domestic property not related to agriculture

F = Farm Refers to a complex of domestic and agricultural buildings
R = Religious Refers 10 g church or cemetery

The survey of Caroline County resulted in an examination of all buildings fifty years or older and
located within either the primary or secondary growth arcas, Additonally, areas outside of the
growth arcas were investigated for already identified historic resources, or other important
resources identified through other methods of research. The survey was an important step in
updating records of a relatively well-documented county, and in assessing newly identified
architecture for its tmportance at a county, state and federal level.

Representative floor plans of a variety of significant buildings were measured and recorded in
floor plan drawings which appear in Appendix B. These plans were delineated from field
measurements and interior photographs which were taken during visits 1w each property. The
interior dimensions of each room were taken (o establish the plan layout. Detailed measurements
were taken of some primary features, such as stairs, chimney projections, and other maior plan
glements. Due to the limited amount of time available for measurements, the widihs of doors and
windows were approximated. Although the floor plans are not o scale, every effort has been
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made within the limits of this effort o faithfully delineate the plans in size, shape, scale, and
detail,

D, Avchival Eesearch:

Research into the history of Caroline County was begun during the on-site investigation and
continued beyond its completion.  This research involved the examination of published books and
articles, as well as unpublished documents, Published records were located at the Virginia State
Library and Archives in Richmond, The Central Rappahannock Regional Library in
Fredericksburg, and the Carcline County Library in Bowling Green. The most complete
published histories of the county include A _History of Caroline County by Marshall Wingfield,
{1924) and Colonial Carpline, by T.E. Campbell, (1954). People, Post Offices and
Communities, by Reverend Ralph E. Fall (1989}, is not a history of the county, but provides a
compilation of architectural and geneslogical findings from Fall’s survey as well as the WPA
survey of the 1930s.

Unpublished materials on the history of the county were located in the vertical files of the Ceniral
Rappahannock Regional Library, the Caroline County Historical Soclety, and in the collections of
individual residents of Caroline County. Unpublished resources of particular help in providing
histories for individual properties included the newsletters of the Caroline Historical Socisty, and
the Caroline County Historical Guide Book. Several individuals, most notably Mr. James Patton
of Gaymont, provided helpful documents relevant to the history of the county. Mr. Patton
provided a list of cometeries in the county a3 well as other useful information.

Primary source research was limited to research of the Census Directory at the Virginia State
Library and Archives, and of the Mutual Assurance Society Records at the Virginia Department
of Historic Resources. The Census Directory research provided statistics on agriculiural
production, while the Mutual Assurance Society Records provided architectural information for
the period 1798 to 1820 on certain properties located within the county.

E. Computer Data Entry:

The survey findings were entered into VDHR's newly-developed version of the Integrated
Preservation Software (IPB) system. Traceries worked with VDHR o customize the National
Park Service IPS system to specifically meet the needs and desires of VDHR. This new system
i catled VDHR-IPS, and is a test version of the new software. Information entered into the
system can be sorted and enumerated for accurate and consistent accounts of study findings.
Computer reports can be generated 1o produce 3 wide range of statistical information on surveyed
rescurces. The IPS svstem can produce frequency counts for historic resources based on dates,
architectural features and other qualities recorded in the database. Reports can be run on specific
historic events, individusal properties, chronclogies, as well as specific data such as architectural



Historic Architectural Survey of Caroline County i1
October 1991

style, material, interior plan and the like. IPS is also a sophisticated and analytical tool which,
with proper use, can provide support data 1o assist cultral resource historiang, preservationists
and planners.

F. Analysis of Findings

Once identified and documented, the survey findings were evaluated and analyzed. Photographs,
survey forms, and research findings were examined and evaluated for each resource surveyed ©
determine its architectural and historical significance. These evaluations were used in
formulating preservation recommendations for the properties surveyed.



Section 111

SURVEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMEDATIONS
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Section 11 Swurvey Findings and Recommendations

A. Summary and Analysis of Burvey Findings

YDHR-IPS Caroline County Database Holdings

The Caroline County database includes a property record for properties identified through on-site
and archival research and an individual resource record for each contribwting resource surveved
on the property. The Caroline County database contains a total of 231 property records and 270
resource records. Of the 231 property records, 214 properties were surveyed. Those properties
not surveyed include seven properties listed on the National Register of Historic Places and fen
properties representing archacological properties or previously identified properties that are no
longer intact. Of the 214 properties surveyed, 207 represent intact properties.

While all of the resources on the surveyed property were identified and noted on the survey form
and in the computer, at least one resource {primary resource), and maybe several resources
{secondary resources), were surveyed for each property. The survey identified a total of 652
resources, Of these 632 identified resources, 237 extant resources were surveved.

Resources were surveyed at the reconnaissance-level and the intensive-level and entered into the
computer system within appropriate screen groups composed of data elements relating o the two
tevels of VDHR surveys. Thirty-two of the 214 properties surveved were documented to the
reconnaissance level,

Mational Register Besource Categories

Each property record lsted in the computer includes a count of the number and types of National
Register resource categories located on the property. These resources were labeled based on the
definitions incladed in National Register Bulletin 135,

Building A building. such as a house, barn, church, hotel, or similar construction, s created
o shelter any form of human activity. "Building” may also be used o refer 1o a historically
and functionally-related unit, such as a couwrthouse and jail or a house and barn.

District A district possesses a significant concentration, linkage, or continuity or properties,
buildings, structures, or objects united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical
development.

Site A site is the location of a significant event, a prehistoric or historic occupation or
activity, or a building or structure, whether standing, ruined, or vanished, when the location
itself possesses historic, cultural, or archeologival value regardiess of the value of any
existing structure.
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Structure The team "structure” is used 1o distinguish from buildings those functional
constructions made usually for purposes other than creating shelter,

Object The term "object” is used o distinguish from bulldings and structures those
constructions that are primarily artistic in nature or are relatively small in scale and simply
constructed.  Although it may be, by nature or design, movable, an object is associated with
a specific setting or environment, such as statuary in the designed landscape.

The survey of Caroline County was a predominately architectural survey, as verified by the
computer statistics. Of the 237 extant resources surveyed, 228 are considered buildings and six
are considered structures.  Although many properties, including thirty cemeteries, were identified
during the on-site survey, none were individually surveyed. Also, neither the historic districts
nor areps inmediately surrounding the historic districts of Bowling Green or Port Roval were
surveyed in this project.

Resources Types

Each property record includes a count of bullding types, currently referred to as "wuzits” in the
computer database, that are located on each property. Similarly, each resource which is surveyed
is classified by building type, or "wuzit”. An accurate account of the numbers and types of
“wuzits” identified and surveyed in Caroline County can be generated in a report format, For
instance, in Careline County, 162 dwellings were identified and 153 were then surveyed; sixty-
seven barns were identified, and four were actually surveyed; eight kitchens were identified and
five were surveyed. The following diagram represents the building types and "wuzits” which
were surveyed during the project,

Threatened Properties

Based on the survey findings, 49 resources were determined o be threatened by deterioration,
private development or public development. Specifically, 45 of the 48 resources are considered
threatened by deterioration, principally resulting from neglect and/or agbandonment. One resource
is threatened by private development and two by public development, In general, the threat of
private and public development includes subdivision of the land, inappropriate glterations or
additions, and compromising the context of the resource.  In the case of Carcline County, the
property threatened by private development is a farm currently being sub-divided for a Planned
Unit Development. The other properties are threatened by a newly cut road and high tension
wires, ard adjacency to Interstate Route 95,

YOHR Themes

VDHR defined eighteen cultural themes for Virginia’s material cultural history from prehistoric
times 1o the present. The surveyed properties and thelr respurces relate 10 one or more of the
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themes. The following count of resources by theme was generated from the VDHR-IPS database
for Caroline County:

The high count of domestic buildings and structures relates to the large number of dwellings,
smokehouses, kitchens and other associated domestic buildings located during the survey. The
high number of subsistence/agriculture related buildings s a product of the rural nature of the
county, while the presence of transportation-related buildings is related to the important
transportation corridors in the county. These corridors include the R F & P railroad and the
important highways such as Route 1, Route 301 and Route 207 which run through the county.

The commerce/trade theme includes architecture from the 18th century to the 20th century which
is related to commercial enterprises.  The most prevalent building types for this theme include
taverns, stores, offices, and a bank. The twenty-one religious resources inchude churches and
chapels, and the twelve funerary resources include family, church and slave cemeteries.

inventory of Hislorie Bespuross
Laroline Lounty

Bank ~f
Bars
Bigckemith
Chureh
Diywegliing -
Dweilings Tavers -8
Freight Biativs -8
Sarage Dweliing -
Gas Stalies
Muotel
Kitnhan
VT
Gitier  —§
Restavrant ~§
Sehwat -
Eaooninry Dweiling
Stave Duariecs
Smoke House Bl
Stapte ~§
Store
Kigrefwniting
Taveere 8
Tokasvs Barn

A5 &y 3y i34 § 234 144 164 134

Pates of Constructic

Chronological reports generated from the IPS computer system indicate that the buildings
surveyed in Careling County range in date of construction from the early 1700°s to 1941,

Within this range, the majority of resources surveyed fell within a more narrowly defined date
range from 1860 to 1910, The survey statistics indicate that, based upon the buildings surveyed,
ceratin spurts of building activity occurred in specific time periods during the more than 200 vear
span. For instance, while twenty-seven of the surveved resources were erected in the period
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from 1700 to 1800, fifieen resources alone were built around the tarn of the nineteenth century.
Other heavy periods of building activity occurred in the mid-nineteenth century and into the
twentieth. From 1860 to 1890 there appears to be consistently heavy building activity which is
then again increased in 1910, The building surges of the mid-to-late-nineteenth century
correspond with the development of the railroad in Caroline County and the growth of the
villages located along the RF&P railroad line. Other explanations may include the disappearance
in the importance of large plantations following the Civil War and the emergence of numerous
small farmsteads which dotted the Caroline County countryside. Further explanation of these
buildings surges requires additional research into the history of the county, especially census
information and records on industrial growth.

inventary of Historic Resource
by Historic Thems

Frangporistion 1)
Sunsistence/Agricul 44

Commarse/Tratds 25

rdititary Dealangsg 3

industry/Procassin

Domestic 1B

Associated Individuals

Preliminary research conducted on the individual properties revealed, among other things, the
names of persons associated with that specific property. Thirty-one individuals of local, state and
national significance, including architects, builders, owners, residents and other associated
individuals were identified with specific Caroline County properties.

MNatiomal Rezister Fovended Criteria

Forty-five properties and thelr corresponding resources were determined potentially eligible for
listing the National Register. This determination was based upon on-site survey and archival
research findings, as well as review of historic integrity. For sach property, the National
Register criteria were listed. This general criteria has been extended by Traceries to provide a
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more specific explanation of the properties” potential for significance. This information
represents a preliminary review of the properties; additional archival research and analysis is
required. In addition, the determinations represent Traceries” opinions. The VDHR staff must
review the information before any property owner proceeds with formal designation of the
property.

B. Evaluation/Recommendation for Desipnation

The properties surveved in Caroline County have been evaluated for their historic significance at
the local, state and national levels. As stated in the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for
Evaluation, evaluation is the process of determining whether identified properties meet defined
criteria of significance and whether they should, therefore, be included in an inventory of historic
properties determined to meet the established criteria.  The Secretary of the Interior provides four
standards for evaluation. These standdards are listed a3 follows:

Standard I Evaluation of Significance of Historic Properties Uses Esiablished Criteria
Standard 1. Evaluation of Significance Applies the Criteria Within Historic Contexts
Standard HI.  Evaluation Results in a List or Inventory of Significant

Properties that s Consulted in Assigning Registration and

Treatment Priorities
Standard 1V, Evaluation Results Are Made Available to the Public

Following the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Evaluation are the Secretary of the
Interior’s Guidelines for Evaluation. These guidelines describe the principles and process for
evaluating the significance of the identified historic properties. In evaluating the historic
resources of Caroline County both the Standards and Guidelines for Evaluation were consulted.
Firstly, the guidelines suggest that criteria used to develop an inventory of historic propertie
should be coordinated with the National Register of Historic Places. The evaluation of historic
properties in Caroling County was conducted using both the National Register of Historic Places
Criteria and the Virginia Landmarks designation criteria, The Virginia Landmark Landmarks
designation criteria, established in 1966, are coordinated with those established by the National
Register, and therefore conform with the guidelines established by the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for Evaluation,

The Mational Register of Historic Places Criteria states;
The quality of significance In American history, architecture, archeology, and culture is

present in districts, properties, buildings, and oblects that possess integrity of location,
design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association, and:
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A. that are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history; or

B. that are associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or

. that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic
values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components
may lack individual distinction; or

D, that have yielded, or may be likely 1o vield, information important in prehistory or
history,

Similarly, the Virginia Landmarks Register designation criteria are set forth in the legistation as
follows:

No structure or site shall be deemed a historic one unless it has been prominently
identified with, or best represents, some major aspect of the cultural, political, economic,
military, or social history of the State or nation, or has had 4 relationship with the life of
an historic personage or event representing some major aspect of, or ideals related to, the
history of the State or nation, In the case of structures which are 10 be so designated,
they shall embody the principal or unique features of an architectural style or demonstrate
the style of g period of our history or method of construction, or serve as an illustration
of the work of a master builder, designer or architect whose genius influenced the period
in which he worked or has significance in current times, In order for a site 1o qualify as
an archaeological site, it shall be an area from which it iz reasonable to expect that
artifacts, materials, and other specimens may be found which give insight to an
understanding of aboriginal man or the Colonial and early history and architecture of the
State or nation.’

Secondly, the guidelines suggest that the established criteria should be applied within particular
historic contexts, In the case of Caroline County, the criteria were examined to determine how
they might apply to properties within the given context. The historic contexts are synonymous
with the eighteen historic themes developed by the VDHR and listed as follows:

® Domestic Theme: This theme relates broadly tw the human need for shelter, a home place,
and community dwellings,

! Calder Loth, nditor, The ¥irginie Landmerks Reglster, pox.
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® Subsistence/Agriculture Theme: This theme most broadly seeks explanations of the
different strategies that cultures develop to procure, process and store food.

# Government/Law/Political Theme: This theme relates primarily to the enactment and
administration of laws by which a nation, state, or other political jurisdiction is governed; and
activities related to politics and government,

@ Health Care/Medicing Theme: This theme refers to the care of sick, elderly and the
disabled, and the promotion of health and hyglene.

® Education Theme: This theme relates to the process of conveying or acguiring knowledge
or skills through systematic instruction, training, or study, whether through public or private
gfforts.

& Military/Defense Theme: This theme relates to the system of defending the territory and
sovergignty of & people and encompasses all military activities, battles, strategic locations,
and events important in military history.

% Beligion Theme: This theme concerns the organized system of beliefs, practices, and

traditions regarding the world view of various culiures and the material manifestation of
spiritual beliefs.

social Theme: This theme relates to social activities and institutions, the activitdes of
z,harzia%iﬁ fraternal, or other community organizations and places associated with broad
social movements.

& Recreation and the Arts Theme: This theme relates to the arts and cultural activities and
institutions related o leisure time and recreation.

& Transportation/Communication Theme: This theme relates (o the process and technology of
conveying passengers, materials, and information,

. This theme relates 1o the process of trading goods, services and

Indusirs ssing/Extraction Theme: This theme exploves the technology and process of
mamgiizg ma@auaﬁs Eabcr and aqummezzm o produce goods and services.

& Landscape Theme: This theme explores the historic, cultural, scenic, visual and design
qualities of cultural landscapes, emphasizing the reciprocal relationships affecting the natural
angd the human-buill environment.
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® Funerary Theme: This theme concerns the investigation of grave properties for
demographic data to study population, composition, health and mortality within prehistoric
and historic societies.

® Dihnicity/Immigration Theme: This theme explores the material manifestations of ethnic
diversity and the movement and interaction of people of different ethnic heritages through
time and space in Virginia,

# Settlement Patterns Theme: Studies related to this theme involve the analysis of different
strategies available for the utilization of an area in response to subsistence, demographic,
socio-political, and religious aspects of a cultural system.,

Archiecture e/ Lt ing Theme: This theme explores
the éeszgn w}ueﬁ and pracizcai arts of g;iazmmg, des;gnmg, arranging, constructing and
developing buildings. structures, landscapes, towns and cities for human use and enjoyment.

gy ering Theme: While the technological aspects of a culture form the
primary ba,sm of mterpremzim g}f &Ei themes, this theme relates primarily to the utilization of
and evelutionary changes in material culture as a society adapts o the physical, biological,
and cultural environment.

According to the Secretary of Interior’s Guidelines for Evaluation, the integrity of a property
should be assessed after determining how criteria apply. In evaluating the integrity, factors such
as structural problems, deterioration, and abandonment should be considered if they have affected
the property. In surveying the properties of Caroline County, the integrity of the resource was
evaluated using six aspects as defined in National Register Bulletin 15, The six aspects include
location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, and feeling. The bulletin presents a seventh
aspect called association. This aspect was not evaluated while conducting on-site survey work,
and requires further archival research,

Based on the state and national guidelines and criteria, all of the properties in Caroline County
were evaluated for potential nomination. Since this survey project concentrated on the on-site
investigation and devoted less time to the archival research, the following recommendations for
nominagtions are based on the property’s apparent architectural significance, and are. in some
cases, supplemented by Hmited historic data. It would be beneficial to the county and to VDHR
o conduct & second phase of the project which would emphasize historic research, particularly
primary source research. This primary source research should be directed generally to the
county and specifically to the identified properties and the associated individuals, This
information would assist in defining the significance of the identified resources and evaluating
their potential eligibility.
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Caroline County contains six properties listed on the National Register of Historic Places. One
of these six properties, Camden, located near Port Royal, is also listed as a National Historic
Landmark. The survey indicated that at least 45 other properties in Caroline County may be
eligible for individual listing on the National Register of Historic Places. In evaluating the
properties, Traceries developed a set of three hierarchical categories for potentially eligible
properties. The properties were placed in the appropriate category based on the examination of
the property’s architectural and historical significance, the information available on the property
and the potential threat to the property. Category 1 lists all of those properties determined
potentially eligible to the National Register based on this preliminary review. Category 2 refers
1o those properties which have architectural or historical merits, but require further research
determine if they meet the criteria of the National Register of Historic Places. Category 3 lists
propertics that are potentially eligible to the National Register and are currently threatened. A
description of the specific threat to the property is indicated on the Hst.

CATEGORY 1: Potentially Eligible
Avuburn Hill {16-1)
Associated VDHR Theme: Domestic

Criterion B Tradition holds that Edmund Pendleton of Caroline County built Auburn Hill,
Mount Clear and White Plains for his nephews. Pendleton is best known for having revised
the laws of Virginia, in collaboration with Thomas Jefferson and George Wythe, when
Independence was declared, Among other noteworthy achievements, Pendleton wag
appointed Judge of the United States District Court of Virginia in 1789 by George
Washington. He served this role, as well as leader of the Federalist Party in Virginia until
his death.

Criteria {0 Auburn Hill is an interesting example of a late-sighteenth century vernacular I-
house, with stylistic detailing recalling more formal, academic architecture. The house is a
tall, two-story structure articulated on the front elevation by five window openings organized
into three bay groupings. The windows of the second floor recall Renaissance-derived
features such as the shorter second floor window openings.

Blenheim {16-2)

Associated VDHR Theme: Domestic

Criterion B! Blenheim is located on a Crown grant to the important Taliaferro family of
Caroline County. The house was built ¢. 1745 for Zachary Taliaferro and is one of four
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estates in Virginia named "Blepheim” for the British victory at the Battle of Bleinheim in
Germany in 1704,

Criterion C: Located on a ridge overlooking the Mattaponi River valley, Blenheim
represents a fine example of the Georglan style of architecture. The house is comprised
of a principal facade seven-bays wide, a low hipped roof and decorative detailing
including a molded cornice, molded water table and brick string course.

Elson Green {16-9)
Associated VDHR Theme: Domestie

Criterion C: Built in the early to mid-eighteenth century, Elson Green is a fine example
of the pre-Revolutionary hall-parlor house plan. The one-and-one-half-story house with
its steeply-pitched gable roof, dormer windows, and brick end chimneys are
representative of this vernacular house form in Virginia,

Grace Episcopal Church (16-11)
Associated VDHR Theme: Religion

Exception A: Although not normally considered eligible to the National Register, Grace
Episcopal Church meets Exception A because of its Jocal historic significance and its
architectural distinction. Grace Episcopal is one of the oldest surviving Episcopal
churches in the county and is designed in an elegant Greek Revival style from the 1830s.
The church was built by three important Caroline County families;, William 1. Dickensen
of "Chesttd Valley”, Bamuel Gordon of "Santee” and William Penn Tayvlor of
"Hayfield.

The Grove (16-12)
Associated YDHE Theme Commercial

Criterion A! The Grove is one of few remaining tavern buildings located on the 0ld Stage
Uoach road which ran between Richmond and Fredericksburg, The Stage Coach road
was at one time dotted with taverns at intervals of five 1 ten miles. By the mid-
nineteenth century the development and expansion of the Richmond, Fredericksburg and
Petomac Railroad rendered the Stage Coach Road virmually obsolete.

gy
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Criterion C Probably originally built in the carly cighteenth century and consisting of a
single room, the Grove has undergone several architectural transformations and additions
which make it a virtual artifact of early architectural development in Virginia The
building today presents itself as a two-story, three-bay T-house from the mid-ninsteenth
century. A rear wing extending across the rear of the building dates to the 1970s,

Moss Neck Manor (16-18)
Associated YDHR Theme: Domestic

Criterion A Moss Neck Manor served as the winter headquarters for Stonewsall Jackson’s
troops in 1862-1863,

Criterion C: Built in ca. 1854 by James Parke Corbin, Moss Neck Manor represents a
Palladian villa-type house consisting of a large central block with end pavilions comnnected
by one-story hyphens. This five-part house type conforms with earlier important houses
in Virginia such as Bremo in Fluvanna County and Brandon in Prince George County,

Mount Gideon {16-20)
Assaciated YVDHR Theme: Domestic

Criterion C: Mount Gideon consists of a three-bay, one-and-one-half story house from the
mid-eighteenth century which was extended at the end of the eighteenth century 1o a five-
bay house. The original center-passage, three-bay portion with its central entry has 2 pair
of large brick end chimneys with glazed headers, double shoulders, and vorbelled caps.

A ninetgenth century granary with 2 steeply-pitched gable roof is located in a field at a
distance from the house. The house and barn are 3 representative complex of early
Virginia plantation architecture.

Stanhope {16-26)
Associated VDHR Theme: Domestic
Criterion C: Probably built during the late eighteenth century. The five-bay, one-and-
ong-half-story house is laid in Flemish bond and presents a row of five shed dormer

windows on one elevation and three on the other. This house represents an interesting
example of an center-passage plan house in Virginia,
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Mulberry Place (16-35)

Criterion A: Built by Jourdan Woolfolk around 1827, Mulberry Place received its name
for the hundreds of mulberry trees planted on the property. The builder raised and sold
thousands of mulberry tregs for the leaves, which were used o feed sitkworms.

Criterion ( Mulberry Place 15 an elegant example of a Feders! style house from the mid-
nineteenth century, The plantation complex includes 3 series of important outbuildings,
such as g school house, carriage house, kitchen, and blacksmith shop. The entire
complex is in excellent condition.

Cook’s Mill (16-56)
Associated VDHR Theme: Industry

Criterion C; Cook’s Mill, erected in 1868 by Mr. Smoots and still in use until 1965, was
the last surviving grist mill of its kind in Caroline County. The two-and-one-half story
frame structure is in good condition and still retaing all of its original machinery.

Liberty Baptist Church (16-69)
Associated VDHR Theme: Religion

Criterion Exception A: Organized in 1796, Liberty Church was one of the earliest Baptist
churches organized in the county. The church currently serves as the Post Chapel for
AP, Hill, and sits in 2 sylvan, undisturbed quadrant of the army base. Construcied in
1850 church has been preserved with much of its interior intact,

Bethel Baptist Church {16-74}
Associated VIDHR Theme: Religion

Exception A Although not generally considered eligible to the National Register, Bethel
Church meets Exception A because of its historical significance on a national level. The
church was construcied in 1858 in the village of Paige and served as General Grant's
headquarters in his control of the county during the Chvil War, Ironically, this same
church held funeral services for General Stonewall Jackson upon his death after the Banle
of Chancellorsville.
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Criterion C: Bethel Baptist Church is designed in an elegant manner with unusual
brickwork detailing representing local craftsmanship.

New Market Plantation (16-281)
Associated VDHE Theme: Domestic, Commercial

Criterion B: Originally located on an 11.760-acre land grant to John Baylor in 1726, New
Market Plantation was established as an important horse breeding farm in the eighteenth
century. Bavlor's stud farm gt MNew Market included nearly one hundred horses upon his
death. John's son John Baylor inherited the farm and attempted 1o build a large mansion
on the plantation,  Although the plantation house was never completed, surviving
glevational drawings indicate design influence from nationally noted architect Benjamin
Henry Latrobe.,

Criterion € Although the original plantation dwelling was never completed and is no
fonger standing, several other buildings on the property have architectural significance,
The Old Baylor Home is an excelient example of a Gothic Revival style cottage patterned
after the architectural styles promoted by AL, Davis and AJ. Downing. A brick barn
and stable building related 1o the breeding farm are Important architectural components of
the property.

CATEGORY 2: Potentially Eligible (requires further architectural and/or historic research)

Glamorgan (16-10)

This two-story house from the mid-nineteenth century has significant and unusual interior
detailing associated with the Gresk Revival style.

Hampton Manor (16-13)

This large, mid-nineteenth century, two-story house with front projecting portico is the
most significant Classical Revival house of its kind in the county, More research into the
history of the house could potentially vield information to increase the house’s
importance.
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Hayficld (16-14)

A large, two-story brick plantation house from the eighteenth century, Hayfield is
associated with individuals of local and national significance. An early 1o mid-nineteenth
century Tuscan portico addition adorns the front elevation of the house.

Locust Hill {16-15)

Locust Hill is a one-and-one-hall-story frame dwelling with a gambrel roof and g rear
lean-to. The distinctive roof line and the pairs of brick end chimneys distinguish Locust
Hill as one of the more interesting early nineteenth century domestic buildings in the
county.

Southbrook (16-24)

Built in 1810 by Judge F. Coleman as the Kenmore Law School, Southbrook includes g
large two-story frame dwelling and a one-and-one-half-story school building.

White Plains {16-27)

White Plains, constructed around 1765, is traditionally known as one of three houses
canstructed by Edmund Pendlston for his nephew, Edmund Pendleton, Jr. The central-
passage house with its steeply pitched gable roof and massive, brick end chimney placed
off-center 15 an excellent example of this vernacular house type.

Green Falls (16-34)

Green Falls represents a Pederal, two-story side-hall plan house with massive brick end
chimneys. Located near the old courthouse in the Kidds-Fork-Shumansville triangle, this
property had a tavern known as Johnston Tavern associated with it in 1727-1747.  The
building was later used as a store and a post office.  Green Falls association with these
commercial ventures is an important historical contribution to the county.
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Hillford (16-43)

In addition fo its intergsting evolution from a hall-parlor plan dwelling to a large, two-
story house, it also features elegant interior detailing worthy of investigation. Amoung
the outbuildings of the property is well preserved antebellum granary.

Mount Zion (16-47)

Located on Route 2 near Corbin, Mount Zion is bordered by an old grain road that was
used in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries to transport tobacco to the Conway
Warehouse on the Rappshannock River. 1t is a good example of an early nineteenth
century Federal Thouse.

Belle Hill (15-48)

Belle Hill is a fine example of an early greek revival house. The front gable house sits
atop a hill overlooking the Rappahannock river valley and presents an enclosed end gable
in g marmer reminiscent of a temple form,

Blanton’s Store (16-60)

Located on the site of the Blanton General Store built in the mid-to late nineteenth
century, the present store building was erected on the same site in 1916, Known then as
the Davis-Allen & Co., the store marketed a variety of goods, including caskets and
antique car parts.  Its location at the intersection of Route 603 and Route 804 iz
characteristic of the late-nineteenth and early- twentieth century commercial architecture
in the county.

vy Hill (16-77)
Probably erected in the early nincteenth century, Ivy Hill is a hall-parlor house built in

the Anglo-Virginia vernacular tradition. 1t is a good example of English precedents in
zarly Virginia architecture,

27
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Mount Clear {16-84)

Traditionally said to have been built by Edmund Pendleton, along with Auburn Hill and
White Plains, Mount Clear is a study in the early architectural evolution of a two-story
frame dwelling. The house underwent an extension from a three-bay o a five-bay house
and saw the addition of two lean-tos at the rear. The house represents a study in the
evolution of an antebellum house in Virginia.

Spring Grove {16-94)
Built in ca. 1860 by Joseph A, Chandler, Spring Grove comprises a dwelling and several

important domestic outbuildings. A brick kitchen and a brick smokehouse are located
across from each other at the rear of the main dwelling.

Cannon Place (16-108)
This one-and-one-half-story, two-room deep house from the pre-Revoultionary period is
one of few surviving houses of its type and form in Virginia. Of particular interest is the
Flemish bond brick chimmey with the chevron patterning at the shoulder.

Marmaduke (16-128)
Marmaduke represents an early-ninsteenth-century side-passage plan house in a relatively
chimney. A shed roof porch and a one-story rear room have been added to this otherwise
unaltered house,

Fontaine Hill {16-137}
Built in 1833 by Levi Stern, Fontaine Hill consists of a large frame house and several
domestic owtbuildings, including, most notably, a log kitchen, The log kitchen was
constructed of heart-pine timbers which had been used as woeden railsonthe RF & P
railroad before they were replaced by steel rails, ¢.a. 1850,

Poplar Grove (16-154)
This early-to-mid-ninsteenth century complex of bulldings consists of a large two-room

deep house with a catslide roof at the rear, and two ocuthuildings (possibly slave guarters)
with stone chimneys.
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Thompson’s Hill {16-164)

Thompsen's Hill is an early-nineteenth-century-five-bay, central-passage-plan house with
a saltbox roof and stone end chinmey. The chimney, set off-center, has a massive base of
field stone with a shaft of brick,

Old Chandler Residence {16-203)

This mid o late-nineteenth-century house is an interesting example of the Gothic Revival
style in Caroline County and s associated with the locally important Chandler family.

Caroling Mansion (16-228)

Located in Woodford, this late-nineteenth or early-twentieth century house is designed in
a transitional Queen Anne style with Classical detailing.  The asymmetrical plan, irregular
roof shape, wrap-around porch and projecting gables all recall the Queen Anne style,
while the bcammozzi Ionic columns supporting the porch roof, end wall pilasters,
enclosed gables in a pediment form, and the frieze are more classically inspired motifs,
This is a fine example of the transition from one siyle to another,

8¢ Margaret’s Episcopal Church (16-172)
Originally known as 5t. Margaret’s Episcopal Church (16-172) the frame sgructure is now

used as the Cardinal Baptist Church. St. Margaret's is a unigue, undisturbed example of
a frame parish church, nestled along Route 652 in Ruther Glen,

Milford Bank (16-27)
The Milford Bank building is one of two historic bank buildings in the county. Designed
in 1912 in the Classical Revival style, the bank was strategically located on the railroad

line in Milford, in close proximity o the county seat.

CATEGORY 3: Potentially Eligible and Threatened

Hubbard’s Tavern (16-122 deteriorated
Tod s Tavern (16-215) deteriorated
Woodford Freight Depot (16-232) deteriorated
Old Brick House (16247 deteriorated
Milford Freight Depot {16-266) deteriorated
Blatt’s Store (16-272} deteriorated
Chandler House (16-279) deteriorated

Broad Plaing (Burrus Flass) (16-2923 deteriorated
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C. Preservation Planning Becommendations

This section deals with establishing a framework for future historic preservation planning efforts
in Caroling County which can promote the stabilization, conservation, and preservation of the
county’s historic architectural resources through the use of legal protectives and community
preservation efforts involving programs at the local, state, and national levels. The background
information and recommendations offered here are intended to assist the community in preparing
a future Preservation Plan which would identify community concerns and specific strategies for
historic preservation. Completing a Preservation Plan should invelve collaboration hetween the
county government, the Caroling Historical Society, owners of historic properties, other citizens,
higtorians, and planners. The process should integrate the findings of the survey into the policy-
making procedures of the county and should meet the national and state standards for historic
preservation as well as the needs of the community,

Role of the Citizens and Local Government

The success of preservation programs depends on the interest and commitment of local citizens in
preserving the remaining historic resources of a community in spite of its continuing
development. Citizen involvement should oceur at the one-on-one level as well as the community
level in order to form a consensus on the preservation issues on which actions can be taken. It is
the responsibility of the local government to identify and translate these community issues into
general policies and regulations which will govern how historic preservation will be accomplished
in relation to other community goals. The Code of Virginia enables local governments to
designate historic landmarks and districts, to enact zoning ordinances o control development
within historic districts, and to use other procedurss which accomplish historic preservation”.

Use of these provisions becomes possible when the local government adopts preservation policy
as part of its Comprehensive Plan, and adopts provisions for historic preservation within the
Zoning Ordinance.

Role of Siate Government

The State of Virginia encourages and facilitates historic preservation through the legisiative and
exgcutive branches of state government. The Code of Virginia establishes the legal framework
for historic preservation at the state and local levels from a legislative standpoint; while the
Virginia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) administers the Commonwealth's
preservation program as well as serving as the State Historic Preservation Office in the federal
preservation system. The Department is made up of architectural historians, architects,
archacologists, historians and archivists. Working in partnership with local governments, private

* Code of Yirginia, Ssotion 15,1, 503.2
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preservation organizations and individuals, the Department carries out a variety of programs o
survey, evaluate and encourage the preservation of Virginia's historie, architectural and
archaeological resources. A comprehensive statewide survey of historic buildings and
archagological sites is an ongoing responsibility of the Department.  In addition, the Department
maintains an ever-growing collection of data on historic structures and archasological sites, The
Department also manages the Virginia Landmarks Register and is involved in nominating sites to
the National Register of Historic Places. Standing on the Virginia Landmarks Register and/or
Mational Register provides for the recognition of significant state historic landmarks and for the
review of impacts which a state-funded or permitted project might have on a registered landmark.
Additionally, the Department administers the state’s Historic Fasement Program, Gramt
Assistance programs, tax incentive programs and various other preservation programs.

Role of the Federal Government

Under the authority of federal legislative acts, the National Park Service administers the
Department of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines for archaeology and historic preservation.
The Department of the Interior establishes comprehensive Guidelines and Standards for the
preservation of the Nation's historic resources and maintains the National Register of Historic
Places. Listing on the Mational Register of Historic Places provides for a review of impacts to
historic properties when federally funded or licensed projects are involved.

The Need for g Preservation Plan

Carcline County has lost over 70 of its historic properties® within the past 50 vears, with over 40
per cent of these losses oceurring during the past twenty years. The loss of these properties can
be attributed to demolition for new building properties, deterioration, fire, timbering and clearing
operations, o name a few. In addition, there was a substantial loss of historic architecturs with
the opening of Camp AP, Hill which displaced many families and led to the demolition of
buildings in a vast area of the county. Also, many historic buildings and structures have fallen
into disuse over the years because of changes in the local economy, land use, and patterns of
settiement which have left some historic structures vacant and subject to damage or loss.

However, a significant amount of Caroline County’s historic architecture remains today in the
form of farms, houses, train freight depots, mills, mercantile buildings, and other buildings and
structures to represent Caroline County's rich historical development. Of these, some have besn
carefully rehabilitated and meticulously maintained by their current owners, some have received
less attention but are still stable and unthreatened, while others have deteriorated and require
immediate attention if they are to be saved.

* This dues not iwdade sites Jowt in the ccoupation and use of Camp AP, Hill by the United Sutas Army.
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in order to aveid continued loss of the county’s historic resources, and encourage rehabilitation
of existing resources which are deteriorating or in disuse, the county should develop a
comprehensive preservation program which is tailored o the concerns of the commumity. The
Yirginia Department of Historic Resources promotes and supports the development of a
Preservation Plan for communities in need of a broad approach toward preservation. Such a plan
involves the identification and integration of comununity preservation issues, goals, and strategies
mto the policy making process of the local government. This can be accomplished through the
development of a separate component of the County’s Comprehensive Plan or as an independent
study which can later be integrated into the County’s public policy. A Preservation Plan should
accomplish the following objectives:

Complete the Swrvey of Historic Respurces within the county

Development of the Historic Comtexts of the county

Definition of community preservation issues and goals

Imegrativn of preservation goals with other goals of the county Comprehensive Plan.
Identification of strategies and actions necessary to achieve the preservation objectives
including updating the Zoning Ordinance

# [stablish a plan for implementation

2 & & & &

Onge these objectives are accomplished, the county should adopt the preservation policies needed
o meet the concerns and needs of the community. This will establish the basis and criteria
which is needed under Virginia state law for the effective use of waditional growth management
tools, such as designation of historic districts, amendments 1o the historic zoning regulations, and
establishment of guidelines for development.

Developing the Preservation Plan

Completion of the survey is the first step toward establishing a Preservation Plan. The survey
ientifies the significant historic architectural resources and evaluates the significance of these
resources within the Aistorical conrext of Caroline County and the State of Virginia. The survey
findings provide a foundation of information and analysis upon which subsequent steps of the
planning process can build,

The next step in developing the Preservation Plan should focus on identifving preservation issues
and goals at the community level and integrating these into the local planning process.
Preservation issues should be developed through community discussions, workshops, and
meetings involving citizens, owners of historic properties, the Caroline Historical Society, the
county planning staff, the county Planming Commission, and professional consuliants, when
necessary, Onee these issues and concerns are identified, they should be translated into specific
goals toward which the community can strive. A goal is a comypunity statement indicating to
what extent the government intends 1o deal with a specific issue. Goals should represent the
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community consensus on given issues, and if sdopted into the Comprehensive Plan, these can
become the official policy of the county,

Preservation goals should then be translated into specific strategies which address ‘how 1o
proceed’ in achieving the cited goal. A strategy is, in itself, a plan for dealing with some
specific aspect of the community. Such strategies may involve designation of historic districts,
amendments 1o the zoning ordinance for specific purposes, development of register nominations,
and other measures which will address preservation concerns. Preservation strategies should be
developed in coordination with other aspects of the county's Comprehensive Plan so that
priorities can be established for competing interests and a balance can be achieved between the
need for preservation and other needs of the community,

These strategies will form the framework of an action plan which can be implemented through
acts by the county government, the historical society, other community groups, and individual
citizens. The preservation planning process should not end once strategies are identified and
implemented. Rather, the commumnity should use the process to continue the remaining survey
work, research, and documentation work, as well as respond to changing conditions in the county
and surrounding areas,

Observations and Concerns

Caroline County will need a broader approach toward planning for the preservation of its historic
architecture in order to address some of the current conditions which threaten it historic
resources.  The following concerns have been identified by PMA and Traceries based on
observations during the field sarvey, analysis of the data collected, and research into other areas
of county policy and current regulations. They are not intended as a complete or comprehensive
statement of preservation issues, but rather as starting points for identifying the actual concerns
of the community:

Concern #1_ Deterioration of Historic Structures; Deterioration from abandonment and neglec
is a problem which has contributed to the greatest loss of structures in the county. Currently
there are 10 properties which are eligible for nomination to the State and National Register which
arg in various states of deterioration. Some of these properties require immediate action to
stabilize and conserve the existing structures if they are to be preserved for the futwre. In
addition to these, there are numerous other propertios which are severely deteriorated and will be
lost in the near future if efforts are not made o preserve them soon.

Congern #2  Demolition of Historic Structures: Over the course of the survey, it was observed
that several historic structures had been demolished to make way for new houses, or to clear
agricultural fields, or had been demolished for thelr building materials, Although the rights of
property owners should be respecied, it is important that significant historic buildings be retained
and preserved when possible.
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Concern #3  Incompatible Alterations; Incompatible or poorly-designed alterations and additions
can severely compromise the historic character of a historic property and diminish its significance
as a landmark. Several historic houses and churches in the county have been substantially altered
in recent vears, which has compromised their historic character and significance. Establishing
design guidelines for use by the pwners of historic properties is imporiant in ensuring that future
alterations, additions, and renovation work are compatible with the character and style of the
original architecture.

Concern #4 Reuse of Existing Historic Buildings: Many historic buildings have been abandoned
and are no longer in use. Reuse of these buildings, where practical and feasible, in many cases,
could improve the character and setting of the surrounding community and should be encouraged.
Examples of these ars Blatt's Store in Milford, the RF&P freight depots in Milford and
Woodford, and other mechantile buildings scattered throughout the county.  Consideration
should be given to how these buildings could be preserved and used as focal elements in their
settings, rather than allowing them to deteriorate and detract from their surroundings. It is
suggested that ideas or proposals involving the RF&P Railroad buildings be coordinated through
the RE&P Railroad, Property Management Division or the RE&P Railroad, Operations Division
who own and control these properties,

{ : : 256 n Crowth Areas: With future growth being focused into the
pmﬁaﬁf ami &%canéary gmwth areas af i%:ze county, it is important to establish a growth

management program 1o ensure that new higher density development will be compatible with
existing adiacent historic properties, and that alterations and additions to historic buildings arg
sympathetic to the original bulldings. This is especially of concern in the secondary growth
areas, where concentrations of historic buildings and structures remain (o define the character of
each community. The county should consider adopting and designating appropriate historic
overlay zoning districts and regulations in order to preserve the character of these resources and
communities.

: £Serva As mentioned previously, many
gwmi;f::am hmarzz,, buzimngs and thcwm» lie cmt%xdef: Qf the identified growth arcas. Some of
these were identified over the course of this project; however, since much of the outlying area
was not surveyed, it is assumed that other significant properties exist which have not been
identified. Several factors should be considered in relation to these cutlying areas.  First, threats
to historic buildings and structures may be different in these areas than those which occur in the
growth areas, For example, deterioration of historic buildings seems 1o be mwuch more chronic in
the outlying aveas than in growth areas, Second, a substantial number of significant properties
which are in need of stabilization, conservation, and preservation remain in these outlying areas
and merit attention in future preservation planning.  Also, some of the county’s most spectacular
historic resources, such as Blenhiem, Moss Neck Manor, Spring Grove, and Newmarket
Plantation are located owtside of these areas and should be considered in future preservation
efforts,
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Concern #7  Coordination with other County Policies/Programy;  Existing county policies,
programs, and regulations should be reviewed and updated to ensure that they are not
counterproductive 1o the preservation concerns of the community.  This should include a review
of the Zoning Ordinance, Building Code Requirements, and other regulations which may conflict
with the community’s goals for preservation. Tax assessment of historic propertizs should be
examined relative to the county’s goals for preservation to ensure that the impact of higher tax
assessments for rehabilitated properties does not discourage improvements for which there i3
mutual community interest and benefit,

Recommendations for Future Preservation Planning

In planning for future growth, the county should begin the process of developing a
comprehensive approach toward historic preservation which can guide the development of a
county preservation policy and an appropriate degree of regulation to preserve the county’s
significant historic architectural heritage. In addition, the county can help to focus and guide the
activities of individuals and community organizations to make the most of other preservation
opportunities and programs. The following recommendations outling some specific tasks which
should be undertaken to protect these historic resources from a planning perspective.

a) Complete the Preservation Plan: The county should proceed to identify community
preservation issues, goals, and strategies, and integrate these into governmental policy. This
can be accomplished in the next revision of the county Comprehensive Plan, The
development of Issues and goals should be done in collaboration with county citizens and
other groups or organizations having an interest in preservation.

mpleie & 2y of Ren 3 Argass Further survey work should be done in the
ﬁm‘z}ymg areas of thzz cmnty which have not been surveyed, so that the preservation plan can
later be extended 10 cover the entire county.

¢} Update the Zoning Qrdinance: Once preservation policies are established, the county
should proceed to update the Zoning Ordinance to include provisions for Historic Overlay
Zoning and make adjustments to other provisions of the ordinance which compete with
preservation objectives. In reviewing and revising the Zoning Ordinance, the county should
consider the following:

& Establishment of Design Guidelines for design, review and approval of alterations 1o
historic structures and new construction within historic zoning districts and individual
Historic Landmarks. Carefully drafted design guidelines are an important gaide for
the commumity 1o use in designing new construction or alterations within these
districts, and for the design review body o use in determining whether the proposed
change is appropriate or not.  Design guidelines are essential 1o ensure that the
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criteria used in approving or denying requests is objective, rather than arbitrary or
capricious.

# LEsiablishment of an architectural review board and/or administrative review procedure
for design review of projects within or adjacent to designated historic zoning districts
or landmarks 1o ensure that the proposed changes or new construction are in
compliance with established design guidelines,

# Recognition of all contributing resources within the envelope of historic zoning
districts,

# Review procedures for granting variances and special use permits and building code
exceptions when historic preservation goals are in conflict with other zoning
provisions.,

dy Nominate properties to the state and national repisters; Registey of significant historic
properties at the state and national registers provides for broad recognition of the county's
historic resources. Additionally, it affords some degree of protection from state and
federally-funded projects which may severely impact the significant historical resources of the
county. Theretore, the county should help to organize a procedure 1 ensure that eligible
properties are nominated to the Virginia Landmarks Register and the National Register of
Higtoric Places. Mational Register standing is aleo important for participation in some
national-level preservation programs.

e} Designate Historic Zoning Districts and Landmarks, Designation of Historic Overlay
Zoning Districts and individual Historic Landmarks would provide protection for historic
properties against demolition or inappropriate alteration. Properties which have been placed
on the National and State Registers, those recommended for nomination, and other properties
deemed to be of local significance should be considered for designation as soon as possible.
in addition, the following small historic communities and areas, which consist of
concentrations of historic buildings and structures, should be considered for designation as
local historic districts, even though they may not be eligible for designation at the state and
national levels:

& Guinea ®  Milford

®  Woodford & Sparia

& Route 601 including Pencla  ®  Route 17 along the Rappahanock

f} Additional Programs; The county government, the Historical Society, other interested
civic organizations, and citizens should consider taking advantage of the following programs
or methods of further preserving the historic architecture of the community:

Kevised: 112792
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criteria used in approving or denying requests is objective, rather than arbilrary or
capricious.

# Establishment of an architectural review board and/or gdminigirative review procedure
for design review of projects within or adjacent 1o designated historic zoning districis
or landmarks to ensure that the proposed changes or new construction are in
compliance with established design guidelines.

& Recognition of all contributing resources within the envelope of historic zoning
districts,

# Review procedures for granting variances and special use permits and building code
exceptions when historic preservation goals are in conflict with other zoning
provisions.

¥ . ~ Registry of significant historic
g}r:}pmms at t}m state and national z‘ag;%wrs provides for broad recognition of the county’s
historic resources.  Additonally, it affords some degree of protection from state and
federally-funded projects which may severely impact the significant historical resources of the
county. Therefore, the county should help to organize a procedure 1o ensure that eligible
properties are nominated o the Virginia Landmarks Register and the National Register of
Historic Places. National Register standing is also important for participation in some
national-level preservation programs,

e} Besignate Historic Zoning Districs and Landmarks: Designation of Historic Qverlay
Zoning Districts and individual Historic Landmarks would provide protection for historic
properties against demolition or inappropriate alteration. Properties which have been placed
on the National and State Registers, those recommended for nomination, and other properties
deemed to be of local significance should be considered for designation ag soon a8 possible.
In addition, the following small historic communities and areas, which consist of
concentrations of historic buildings and structures, should be considered for designation as
local historic districts, even though they may not be eligible for designation at the state and
national levels:

®  (uinea 2 Milford

#  Woodford & Sparta

® Route 601 including Penola  #  Route 17 along the Rappahanack

£y Additional Programs: The county government, the Historical Soclety, other interested
civic organizations, and citizens should consider taking advantage of the following prozrams
or methods of further preserving the historic architecture of the community:

Revised: 1/2/83
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criteria used in approving or denying requests is objective, rather than arbitrary or
capricious.

# Establishment of an architectural review board and/or administrative review procedure
for design review of projects within or adjacent to designated historic zoning districts
or landmarks to ensure that the proposed changes or new construction are in
compliance with established design guidelines.

# Hecognition of all contributing resources within the envelope of historic zoning
districts,

® Review procedures for granting variances and special use permits and building code
gxceptions when historic preservation goals are in conflict with other zoning
provisions.

d} Nominate properties to the state and national registers; Registry of significant historic
properties at the state and national registers provides for broad recognition of the county’s

historic resources, Additionally, it affords some degree of protection from state and
federally-funded projects which may severely impact the significant historical resources of the
county. Therefore, the county should help to organize 3 procedure 1o ensure that eligible
properties are nominated to the Virginia Landmarks Register and the National Register of
Historic Places. National Register standing is also important for participation in some
national-level preservation programs,

¢} Desiznate Historic Zoning Districts and Landmarks; Designation of Historic Overlay
Zoning Districts and individual Historic Landmarks would provide protection for historic

properties against demolition or inappropriate alteration, Properties which have been placed
on the National and 5State Registers, those recommended for nomination, and other properties
deemed to be of local significance should be considered for designation as soon as possible.
In addition, the following small historic communities and areas, which consist of
concentrations of historic buildings and structures, should be considered for designation as
local historic districts, even though they may not be eligible for designation at the state and
national levels:

& (Guings & Milford

® Woodford ® Sparta

& Route 606 including Pencla € Route 17 along the Rappahanock

£y Additional Programs: The county government, the Historical Society, other interested
civic organizations, and citizens should consider taking advantage of the following programs
or methods of further preserving the historic architecture of the community:
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i} Securing historic and open-space easements for special historic properties which should
be protected in perpetuity. Easements of this sort can offer tax incentives which ease the
burden of maintaining and continued ownership of historic properties.

ity Development of an Historic Resources Awareness Program (o foster interest,
understanding, and cooperation for preservation among county residents.  This could
include g variety of programs such as:

® Historic property owner notification drive (e.g. County historic landmarks designation

program)

Local recognition of historic property status

Establish public education and awareness program for residents

Development of Historic Landmark markers

Local assistance resource group to assist in finding sources of grants, low-interest

loans, and techmical advice on other National and State programs for owners of

historic properties

# Encourage the publication of articles which can make the findings of the historical
research on the county and its resources more widely recognized

2 & & &

in summary, Caroline County should move as guickly as possible to develop a Preservation Plan
and update its Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance to meet the preservation concerns and
objectives of the community. Following this it will be important to proceed with the designation
of local historic districts to protect properties which are eligible to the National and State
Registers, other significant properties, properties which are threatened, and properties in danger
of loss.  Creation of design guidelines and an appropriate review procedure will provide for
design reviews for new projects, alterations, or demolitions within these overlay districts.  Other
programs, such as community education, owner recognition, public awareness campaigns, and
incentive programs should be started a3 soon as possible, especially the process of nominating
eligible properties to the National and Siate Registers,
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Section IV Architectural Analysis

Overview of County’s History

Formed in March 1727/28* from Essex, King & Queen and King William counties, Carcline
county today consists of the area bounded on the north by the Rappahannock River, on the south
by the Pamunkey and North Anna Rivers, on the east by Essex, King and Queen, and King
William Counties, and on the west by Spotsyivania county. The county is approximately thirty
miles long and twenty miles wide and encompasses 562 square miles.” The county is located
between Fredericksburg and Richmond and is bisected by the Mattaponi River and traversed by
what was originally built as the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad. The county
which was formed in the first year of the reign of George 11, fook its name from the King's wife,
Queen Caroline.

The county’s location with its many navigable rivers appealed to the early colonial settlers in
America. (aptain John Smith was the first White man known to have explored the territory of
what was to become Caroline County when he was exploring the Chickahominy River in 1607,
In 1608, Smith sailed up the Rappahannock River, and later that same year, visited the Indian
village, "Doguetown”, located near the present town of Milford on the Mattapont River.® At
that time, seven different Indian tribes occupied the area now forming Caroline County,

Less than a century after John Smith’s visit o Caroline County, the Rappahannock River became
a well-travelled shipping route and the natural harbor at Port Roval was established as an
important, early trading center. Simultanecus with the establishment of the town of Port Roval in
1744, several other commercial centers emerged in the early years of Caroline’s development.
Chesterfield (Ruther Glen) was an important trade center for $1. Margaret’s Parish, originally
part of King William County. When the parish became part of Caroline County, the settlement
remained the chief commercial center of the parish and attracted settlers from all sections of the
Parish district.  Similarly Caroline Courthouse, located near present Kidd’s Fork, was an
important trade center for Drysdale Parish.

¢ The enrliost writings on the bistory of Ceroline Coanty revord the county s founding dwie s March 1727, Howover, becauss of
the calendar change ook place that yrar, the mtual dite of founding s 1728, This repon therefors records the date as March
173%%8,

* Caroline Historical Socisty Newslettzr, July 1981,

¢ Caroline Historicsl Society Newsletter, July 1981,
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Figure 3 Historic Photograph of Edmundsbury (Caroline Historical Society,
Wertical Files)

Historically, Caroline County's commercial centers were supported by the agricultural industry of
the county. Farming in Caroline included the cultivation of a variety of crops, most importantly
tobaceo, a8 well as the raising of cattle and other livestock. Horse breeding farms have also been
traditionally associated with the county, as some of the country’s first thoroughbreds were
imported from England 0 Caroline. The county remains an important agricultural community
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today, as extensive flelds continue 10 be cultivated and characterize the general nature of the
county,

During the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, overland communication and transportation
between the commercial centers of the county and the rural outposts occurred on a complex
network of rolling roads which developed throughout the county. One of the most important
road developments was the establishment of the Stage Coach Road in 1742, Siage coaches
carrying matl and passengers travelled this route frequently to and from Richmond, Taverns and
ordinaries emerged along the road at intervals of five to ten miles and became important
commercial and social centers themselves. The Stage Coach Road was eventually replaced by the
Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad which was formed 33 a grand tunk line
connecting the North with the South and cut through the county.

Encouraged by the existence of the railroad, indusiry in Carolive expanded in the nineteenth
century bevond agricultural and commercial ventures. Several lumber mills, sumac mills and
excelsior factorics emerged in the small villages located around the ratlroad stops.

Caroline County is associated with several important men in our nation’s history,  John Penn,
one of the signers of the Declaration of Independence, was born in Carcline County as were John
Taylor and Bdmund Pendleton. John Taylor served as an officer in the army during the
Revolution and held many political positions.  Taylor is also known a3 the Father of modern
American agriculture and has written books on the subject. Edmund Pendleton, named
“Caroling’s most distinguished son”, was an important personality in the shaping of our country.
Most significantly, Pendleton was President of the Virginia Convention upon the death of Peyton
Randolph; Speaker of the House of Delegates under the new Constitution, called the first Virginia
Convention; head of the Judiciary Department of Virginia for 15 years; g member of the team to
revise the laws of Virginia, in collaboration with Wythe and Jefferson, when Independence was
declared; Judge of the United States District Court of Virginia, as sppointed by George
Washington; leader of the Federalist Party in Virginia until his death. Edmund Pendleton is also
associated with the architecture of Caroline County.  Edmundsbury (Figure 3), an intriguing
ong-and-one-half story frame house from the eighteenth century, was Edmund Pendleton’s home
in Caroline. The house burnt down in 1931,

Another important Carpline resident is George Rogers Clark who came o live in Caroling in
1757 and remained until 1784, Clark is known especially for having driven the British from the
Ohie Valley in 1778 and saved the midwest for the United States. Clark’s vounger brother,
William Clark, was born in Caroline in 1770 and lived in the county until 1784, In command
with Merriweather Lewis, Clark led the famous expedition in 1803-06 1 the mouth of the Ohio
River and back.
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Caroline was the first county in Virginia to cut her ties with Great Britain. Under Pendleton’s
leadership, the county officials renounced the Crown and swore allegiance to the Commonwealth
on July 11, 1776

The architecture of Carcline County is marked by a significant number of surviving eighieenth
and nineteenth century domestic buildings found in rural settings, and late nineteenth century
commercial and industrial structures in village settings and small cross-roads, Many of the early
dwellings exhibit an intriguing combination of vernacular tradition and formal, academic
detatling, and most are in a well-maintained state of preservation. Much of the ninsteenth
cenury commercial and industrial architecture which remains testifies to the commercial and
industrial character of the small villages of the county.

Carcling County has a rich history from the days of early settlement in America o the
industrialization of the nineteenth century, The county has important association with major
movements and people of our nation’s history and played a critical role in its development. This
history is well documented by county histories and written sources, as well as standing
architecture from various periods of development. In ity continuing evolution, Caroline County
should recognize the importance of ity architecture in the overall history of the county, and help
to preserve the remaining buildings for the years © come.
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THEME: Residential/Domestic

RESOURCE TYPES: Towns and Villages, Single-family dwellings, Secondary dwellings,
Outbuildings and Dependencies,

TOWNS AND VILLAGES

Although much of the early settlement in Caroline County occurred in isolated pockets as farms
and plantations, more concentrated developments emerged along the Rappahannock River and at
commercial crossroads. Planned towns such as Port Royal and Bowling Green were specifically
laid out in response to residents demands and legislative decree. Other villages in the county
began as stops on the railroad and eventually grew to include residential, comunercial, and
indusirial building types, A brief history of the rowns and villages follows.

Port Royal:

Located on a natural barbor on the south side of the Rappahannock River in Caroline County, the
wwn of Port Roval was conceived in 1744 by an Act of the House of Burgesses. The Act called
for the establishment of a town near Roy’s Warchouse in the County of Caroline, Roy’s
Wareghouse, a tobacco warghouse situated approximately 300 yards north of the present site of
Port Royal, was acquived by John Roy in 1714, In 1734 the Roy family also owned and
operated a ferry on the Rappahannock River as well as a tavern to accommodate river
passengers. By the early 1740s, significant numbers of ships were using the harbor at the Port
Roval site, seitlers were clystering around the tobacco warchouse, and the arca was becoming 3
small but thriving transportation and commercial center, 7

The Act establishing the wwn of Port Royal emerged not only in response to the increased
activity and population at the site, bul in answer to a petition entered to the House of Burgesses
on September 21, 1744, The petition was entered by Elizabeth Emith whose deceased husband’s
will had ordered sixty acres of his land, lving near Roy’s Warchouse, to be laid off for a town,

Robert Smith’s will empowered Richard Taliaferro to lay off sixty acres of his 500-acre tract of
land imio lots adipining the Rappahannock River in "the most convenient manner, for a town; and
o sell the lots 1o raise the money 1o pay for the mortgage™.® In 1743, in preparation for the
establishment of the town, Richard Taliaferro suthorized Robert Brooke, a well-known surveyor

T Ralph BEmmett Fall, Hiddon Yitlage, Pro Roval, Yirginia 174-1981 . p. 26,

* Fall, o, 33,
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and map maker in Virginia, to survey the sixty acres of land, Brooke’s survey resulied in a town
plan consisting of B4 one-half acre lots organized into eighteen groups of four lots and six groups
of two lots on the east side of the rolling road (Route 301). A strip of land remained as 2 buffer
zone west of the road. The groups of lots run parallel to the river {seven lots actually front the
rivery and are divided by streets running orthogonally to create a grid plan (Figure 4).

Throughout the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries Port Roval enjoyed a large tobacco
trade with England and survived as a flourishing river port. With the introduction of the railroad
in Caroline County in the mid-nineteenth century, Port Roval's importance as a commercial town
diminished. Today, Port Royal and its remaining eighteenth century architecture is suffering
from development pressure.

Bowling Green:

Centrally located within the county at the intersection of Route 301 and Route 207, Bowling
Green was settled soon after the county was established in 1727, This community was originally
called "New Hope", but was soon referred to as "the Bowling Green”, because of its association
with the plantation house built by Major Thomas Hoomes. This house, known as "0Old
Mansion”, was built on a tract of land which Hoomes had acquired in 1667-70 upon his
departure from England for Virginia. The mansion and its land became quite a social center,
offering a bowling green, and hosting a number of horse races and other equestrian activities,

in the period 1793-1803 Bowling Green wazs established as the county seat, and in 1803-04 a
frame courthouse building was erected across the street from the present courthouse building,
built ¢. 1833-35. Shortly after Bowling Green’s establishment as the county seat, the Richmond
Fredericksburg & Potomac Railroad was built and a station erected in Milford, two miles west of
Bowling Green. Two bus lines connected the railroad station to Bowling Green.

Bowling Green expanded in the nineteenth century o include not only the public buildings, but
several blocks of residences, commercial structures, hotels, offices, schools, churches, a bank,
and some industrial developments.

Milford:

Located vwo miles west of Bowling Green, just north of the Mattaponi River and situated on the
Fredericksburg, Richmond and Potomac Railroad, Milford became an important transportation
center during the nineteenth century. The town was established in 1792, when an Act was passed
by the Virginia Assembly "To establish a town and inspection of tobacco on the lands of John
Hoomes in the county of Caroline”.® Almost two centuries prior to the establishment of this

* bnrshall Wingfield, & Hisory of Coroline Soeniy, Yirginis, p 284,
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wbacco inspection station, the area around Milford was known as Dogustown to the first colonial
settlers of Virginia, Dogustown was the upper head of navigation on the Mattaponi River and
was controlled by the Dogue Indians. In 1608 Capt. John Smith sailed in a shallop in his
explorations from Jamestown, up the Mattaponi River, and visited Dogustown,

In 1655, Major William Lewis patented 2,000 acres in the upper part of the river area, near
where the village of Milford is now located, and by 1678-80 a fort was erected there, Settlement
in that area continued 10 include many "private forts” erected as protection from raids by
nomadic Indians, The last known reference to indians in Doguetown appears in 1720 when the
Virginia Council granted 1,000 acres of land on May's Run, about three miles from the Indians
"Hving in Dogue Indian Town” M

In 1731 Robert Woolfolk laid out the course of a new road from Chesterfield, now Ruther Glen
to the Mattaponi River at Doguetown, while two other Carcline County entrepreneurs built a
causeway and bridge over the Mattaponi flats at Doguetown.? Anocther tobacco road leading
from Doguetown to Roy’s Warchouse on the Rappahannock River was completed in 1736, The
laying of these roads led to the early establishment of Milford as an important transportation
center which was further enhanced in the mid-nincteenth century by the Richmond,
Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad.

Although much of its late nineteenth and early twentieth century commmercial and railroad
architecture lays abandoned, Milford stands today as an important intersection in the county’s
network of roads,

Guinea:

Situated on the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad towards the eastern edge of the
county, Guinea i today a small residential enclave near the intersection of Route 606 and Route
607. The recent reconfiguration of the roads resulted in placing the village on a dead-end
streteh, cutting it off from the main road and isolating it somewhat from the traffic,

The community has been called various names throughout its history, including, but not Hmited
to, Guinney's, Guinneys Bridge, and Guinea Station. Despite the variations, all of the village

“ Fall, People. Post Difices snd Communitics, p. 185,

2 Fall, People, Pos Offices and Comumunitics, p. 188,

® Fall, Poople, Post Offioes sod Communities, p. 186,
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names undoubtedly originated from the individual named Michsel Guinney who, in 1704,
homesteaded 210 acres on the upper branches of Goldenvale Creek, "

As a small village with a stop on the railroad line, Guinea was home during the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries to several stores, a church, a grist mill, a blacksmith forge, saw
mills, a lumber company and many single-family dwellings, Currently, only one commercial
structure, presently abandoned and overgrown, remaing intact, while some of the residential
buildings and the church survive as remnants of a past era.

Woodslane (Woodford):

Located between Guinea and Milford on the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad,
Woodford was one of five early railroad stations to serve the county, and was known from the
gartiest times of the railroad as Woodslane. By 1874 the post office was known as Woodford
and this designation was given (o the station. The name Woodford was given to the village in
honor of the Woodford family from "Windsor”, a house located on the Rappahannock River
about ten miles below Fredericksburg, The Woodford family alse owned White Hall, a house
located in proximity 1o Woodford. General Woodford, the son of Major William Woodford who
came to Caroline County from England toward the end of the seventeenth century, gained fame
in the county for his services rendered during the American Revolution.

Woodford consists today of a series of vacant commercial and railread-related buildings clustered
around the railroad tracks, as well as a handful of presently occupied residential buildings.

Penola

Also situated along the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad, Pencla is 2 small
cross-roads community at one time consisting of several stores, flour and excelsior mills, as well
as private residences. Originally called "Polecat” for Polecat Creek which runs nearby, the
station and village had became known as Penola by 1864, according to its name label on the 1864
Gilmer map of Caroline County,

Much of the domestic architecture in Caroline County reflects a vernacular tradition in building
that iz found throughout rural Virginia. The vernacular tradition of the sightzenth and nineteenth
cemuries relies on simple, but evolving house forms with simple ornamentation that cannot be
attributed to any pure or academic style of architecture. At the same time. however, many of

* Fall, People, Post Dffices snd Communitiss, p. 136,
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these vernacular dwellings allude to certain academic styles in their architectural detailing, their
building forms and massing. These references 0 3 more formal type of architecture distinguish
some Caroline residences from their strictly local counterparts,  Local traditions in architecture
continued into the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries as represented by the many farmhouses
decorated with Victorian embellishments and ornamentation.

Beyvond the eighteenth and nineteenth century vernacular traditions in the architecture found in
Caroline County, other more formal, or academic examples of architecture are also present
throughout the county. This more formal type of architecture is represented by & number of
architect or master builder-designed residential buildings, and buildings reflecting the Georgian,
Federal, Classical Revival, Gothic Revival and Victorian styles of architecture.

Yernacular Plan Types

The earliest houses in the county range from modest hall-parior or side-passage-plan buildings to
the larger threg-and five-bay I-house plans. In general, hall-parlor houses are one or one-and-a-
half-story houses based on 2 traditional British house type. Hall-parior houses consist of two
rooms; the principal room, known as the hall, is entered divectly from the outside, while the
parior, the small inner room, is entered from the hall™® (Figure 5). The single-pile, side-
passage plan house is usually one or one-and-a-half stories tall and consists, in plan, of a narrow
passage, entered from the exterior and a larger, principal room (Figure 6},

Hall-Parlor and 5ide-Passage Plans:

Although seldom surviving in unaltered form, several examples of the hall-parior and side-
passage-plan houses were identified in Caroline County. These include Hillford (16-43), Elson
Green (16-9), Carter’s Place (16-80), the Wright House (16-194), Rock Spring (16-21), and
Marmaduke (16-128). The oldest example can be seen at Hillford, where the small, eighteenth
century hall-parior house was enlarged by a two-story, two-room deep addition in the mid-
nineteenth century (Figure 7). The hall-parior portion of the house is located at the building's
rear and is identified by its dormer windows and its large brick end chimney. A one-story pent-
roof addition from the eighteenth or early nineteenth century originally extended the small house
along one end, but was subsequently moved to abut the original front of the hall-parlor house, A
more recent twentieth century enclosed porch abuts one $ide of the original rear elevation.
Despite these extensive additions, Hillford remains an excellent example of this early houss type
in Caroline.

¥ Dell Upton, "Vernsoular Domestic Architerture in Bightoonth-Uemury Virginia®, Sommon Flares, p. 316.
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Figure § Side-Passage Plan {VDHR, Survey of Historic
Resources, Hanover County, Virginia.)

Figure 6 Hall-Parlor Plan (VDHR, Survey of Historic
Resources, Hanover County, Virginia.)
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Another example of an ecighteenth-or-early-nineteenth century hall-parior house which was later
added onto can be found at the Wright house {16-194). This house, in deteriorating condition,
consists of a three-bayed facade with a central entry door flanked by rectangular window
openings. A large brick end chimney anchors the house on one of its end elevations,

A more common type of addition to a modest hall-parlor house can be seen at Rock Spring,

Rock Spring, erected in the early nineteenth century, originally consisted of the two-bayed central
portion with two brick end chimmneys. The plan was extended in a linear fashion and elongated
along both ends. The first wing towards the south was added in the nineteenth century, while the
north end wing probably dates 1o the 1940s when the house was restored. The south end wing

post-dates the 1958 photograph found in the Carpline County Historical Guide Book (Figure 8).

Figure 7 Photograph of Hillford (16-43), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991)



Historic Architectural Survey of Caroline County 50
October 1591

Marmaduke represents an early nineteenth century side-passage plan house in a relatively pure
state. The house is set upon a high brick foundation and has a large brick end chimney. A shed-
roofed porch and a one-story rear room have been added to this otherwise unaltered house.

Figure 8 Historic Photograph of Rock Spring (Caroline
County Historical Guidebook, The Carcline
County Jamestown Festival Observance
Committee, p. 45).

Single-Pile Central Passage Plans:

Although these modest hall-parior and side-passage plan houses continued from early colonial
times until the nineteenth century, they eventually gave way to larger, more finear-type houses,
such as the house. The progression from the single-story, single-pile house o the two-story I-
house was not automatic, however, and several transitional-type house forms have been
identified. The transitional forms include, most notably, the incorporation of a central passage
into the hall-parlor-plan houses.

Several one-and-one-half-story central-passage-plan houses remain intact in Caroline County and
were identified as part of this survey. These include Stanhope (16-26), White Plains {(16-273, and
Mount Gideon (16-20).  Although all of these central passage plan houses are generally one-and-
one-half-story houses with dormer windows and large brick end chimneys, each one displays
individual and distinguishing characteristics worth noting, Stanhope is a five-bay building from
the late eighteenth century. It has five narrow shed dormers on one side of the roof and three on
the other (Figure 9). Mount Gideon originally consisted of a three-bay side-passage house from
the mid-eighteenth century which was extended at the end of the eighteenth century to a five-bay
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house transforming it into the central-passage form. The original three-bay portion with its
central entry has a pair of Jarge brick end chimneys with glazed headers, double shoulders. and
corbelled caps. White Plains, constructed around 1763, is one of three houses constructed by
Edmund Pendieton for his nephew, Edmund Pendleton, Jr. The house has a steeply pitched
gable roof and a massive, brick end chimney placed off-center. The chimney I8 constructed of
Flemish bond brick with glazed headers and tiled shoulders. An intriguing Greek Revival porch
is a later addition.

Figure 9 Photograph of Stanhope (16-26), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991 )
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Double-Pile, Central-Passage Plans:

At least two of the central-passage plan houses surveyed in the county have a two-room deep
plan. Thompson’s Hill (16-164) is an early-nineteenth-century five-bay, central-passage-plan
house with a salt-box roof and stone end chimney. The chimney, set off-center, has a massive
base of fieldstone with g shaft of brick (probably rebuilt).

Camnon House (16-100), built in the pre-Revolutionary eighteenth century (Figure 10) has a
double-pile plan and a massive end chimney. The chimney, approximately ten fest wide, is built
of brick laid in Flemish bond. The headers are glazed in a decorative fashion, producing 2
triangular pattern in the shaft. On the interior, the chimney serves corner fireplaces in both
rooms of the twe-room-deep house. The other end chimney, added after the house was erected,
is also of brick with a date of 1850 inscribed in a brick near the top of the shaft.

Houses:

The term I-house is generally attributed to the two-story, three-bay, one-room deep vernacular
houses with brick end chimneys, but may also be used to describe five-bay, one and two-reom-
deep houses. The larger Fhouses of Caroline tend towards a more formal, academic expression
inspired by pattern books which circulated throughout the colonies during the eighteenth and
early-nineteenth century., While the smaller, single-passage FFhouses dot the Caroline County
countryside and can be scen evolving with subtle changes from the early nineteenth to the
twentieth century, the larger I-houses are less prevalent and do not appear to have been
constructed after the mid-nineteenth century.

The eartiest IFhouses of the county are the larger, more formal expressions of architecture as
found at Auburn Hill (16-1), at the Poplar Grove (16-154) property located on the north side of
Route 634, and st Hill View {16-157). Known locally as one of three houses built by Edmund
Pendleton for his nephews, Auburn Hill was probably constructed around 1800 (Pigure 113, The
house is a large two-story house with a steeply pitched roof and large brick end chimneys. It is
characterized by its imposing size and its Renaissance-derived detailing such a3 the five window
openings grouped into three bays, and the shorter second floor windows,

Poplar Grove and Hill View have a similar formality. As at Auburn Hill, Poplar Grove and Hill
View have five window openings grouped into three distinet bays. At Poplar Grove the firgt
floor window openings are longer than those found at the second floor level. Instead of having g
one-room-deep plan like those at Auburn Hill and Hill View, Poplar Grove has a two-room-deep
plan covered by a rear salt-box roof (Figure 12}, Auburn Hill, Poplar Grove and Hill View are
examples of how academic ideas from England directly influenced the indigenous architectural
forms of the colonies, and more specifically, Caroline County.
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Figure 1§ Photograph of Cannon House Showing Chinney
with Decorative Brickwork (16-100); {Jeff
Stodghill, PMA, 1991)

The smaller, single-pile-plan -houses are located throughout the county and range in date from
the carly-nineteenth century to the early Twentieth century. Identical in form and shape, houses
differ by thelr cornice treatments, chimney location, and other details,
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One of the earliest small Ihouses in the county 15 known as Cobb House and dates from the early
nineteenth century. It is a three-bay, single-pile house raised upon a brick foundation (Figure

13). Although, IFhouses are not generally set upon raised foundations as at Cobb Place, they
retain the end chimneys and box cornice. Towards the end of the nineteenth century and into the
twentieth century the -house form evolved to include return cornices and inside end chimneys.
An example of this can be seen at the I-house in Guinea (16-210), which dates to the late
nineteenth or garly twentieth century.

Figure 11 Photograph of Auburn Hill {16-1), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991

By the late nincteenth and early twentieth centuries the -house had evolved into what has been
called the Victorian Farmhouse, This house type is the most common house in the county and
can be recognized by its two-story elevation with limited ornamentation and its L-shaped plan.
At least twenty Victorian farmhouses, in both rural and in-town settings, were surveyed as part
of this project.  Examples include, Site 16225, 18218, 16-202, 16-192, 16-188, and 1A-238.
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Fipure 12 Photograph of Poplar Grove showing Rear Elevation and Salt Boof (16-154)
(Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991
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Figure 13 Photograph of Cobb Place (16-134), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Craftsman Coltage:

Although the I-house and the Victorian Farmhouse did continue into the early part of this
century, another pervasive vernacular form began to emerge by the garly 1910s. The bungalow,
or craftsman cottage, is used to describe this house type that can be generally characterized by
the following: horizontal emphasis; low, all-encompassing roof lnes with overhanging rafiers and
dormer windows; wrap-arcund or generous porches with squat, tapered or stylized columns set
upon brick or concrete piers; and double-hung windows with multi-light upper sash and single-
light lower sash, Excellent examples of the crafisman cottage are found most prominently near
or in the villages and crossroads of the county, including Sparta, Milford, Guinea and Wooedford.
The bungalow in Sparta (16-44) is 3 one-and-one-half-story frame house with a hipped roof and
large hipped dormer projecting from its front facade (Figure 14). The overhanging roof encloses
a front porch supported by tapered wood columns.
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Figure 14 Photograph of Bungalow in Sparta (16-44), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991

In Guines a small frame bungalow (16-208) fronting the main road in town displays an
overhanging hipped roof with gabled dormers on all four elevations, A front porch supported by
wood Doric colamns set upon concrete plers extends across the front of the house,

Diverging somewhat from these two examples of craftsman bungalows is Shildroth’s Station (16-
268} located in Milford (Figure 15). This house is actually a ong-and-one-half-story brick
strycture built in 1922, Its jerkin-head roofed front porch and dormer windows are framed with
wood showing exposed rafters and brackets. A side porch has an overhanging hipped roof with
exposed rafiers typical of the crafisman style.
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Figure 15 Photograph of Shildroth’s Station {16-268), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991)

Academic Stvies

While the majority of the houses in Caroline County reflect a vernacular building wadition,
excellent examples of formal, academic architecture can be found scattered throughowt the
county. Seven individual properties in Caroline County, reflecting a variety of these academic
styles, have already been named Virginia Landmarks and listed on the National Register of
Historic Places. However, many more examples of architecture in the Georglan, Federal,
Classical Revival, Gothic Revival, and High Victorian styles have been identified as part of this
project and deserve specitic mention.
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(zeorgian:

Based on the English house plan, the Georgian style of architecture was the predominant building
style in eighteenth-century America. The Georgian house in Virginia is generally characterized
by its simple box-like structure designed in strict symmetry in both plan and elevation. It is
psually a two-story structure, two rooms deep with five or seven window bays placed in a
symmetrical fashion. A central doorway opening onto a through-passage is often embellished
with an entablature and architrave, or an engaged pediment.

Figure 16 Photograph of Bleinheia (16-2), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1591.)

The quintessential Georgian residence in the county is Blenheim (16-2). Located on 2 land grant
to the famous Taliaferro family, Blenheim sits majestically upon an eminence overlooking the
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Mattaponi River valley below {Figure 16). Constructed by Richard Taliaferro in ca. 1745%,
Blenheim is an austere two-story, seven-bay brick structure with a low-pitched hipped roof and
interior end chimneys, Flemish bond brickwork with elegant glazed headers provides
proamentation for all four elpvations, as do the beltcourse, molded water table and denticulated
corpice. (O particular note is the beltcourse which is interrupted at the corners of the building,
ondy to resume self on all four elevations. This particular detail, perhaps implemented for
optical reasons, is similarly seen at other Georgian houses, including Carter’s Grove near
Williamsburg and the Wythe house in the town of Willlamsburg., The Wythe house, erected ca.
1750 was designed by and built for Richard Taliaferro, architect and uncle of the Richard
Taliaferro of Blenheim,

Mow devoid of porches, Blenhetm has had a series of different porches throughout its existence,
In ca, 1903, classical style porches were added on three of its elevations. These porches were
said o have replaced porches of much smaller dimensions, and were probably added after the
building’s construction.

Although Blenheim has undergone at least two renovations and been stripped of its interior
woodwork, the house retains its integrity of design and materials. The house, ideally sited above
the Mattaponi River valley and commanding spectacular views, is an excellent example of #8

style.

Federal:

Popular in the late eighteenth 1o early nineteenth centuries, the Federal style of architecture did
not represent an extreme bregk from its Georglan predecessor. The Federal house is most
commonly a two-story structure, rectangular in plan with doors and windows arranged in strict
symmetry. It differs primarily from the Georgian style in its architectural flexibility; polygonal
projections, semi-circular bayvs or rectangular wings are common additions 1o the standard box
form of the Georglan house.  Architectural details such as projecting cornices with dentils,
molded lintels over window openings, fanlights and decorative transoms above doors are common
embellishments o the exterior, while classical moldings, mantles and stair banisters adorn the
elegant interiors.

Besides the examples already listed on the National Register (Prospect Hill, Santee, and Edge
Hill}, the Federal architecture of Careline County is limited 1o the following noteworthy
examples: Mulberry Place (16-33), Broad Plains (16-292) and Old Brick House {16-247}.

¥ Wir, Jumes Patton vecalls that when Blenhelm was being restored by John Barke, Jr. 25-30 veurs ago, & brick or timber with a
Jats demoribed on B owas locatad i the e, The nsoribed dute was alther In the 1730n v 4, indicating that the bullder would
bave been Zuchary Taliaferro s son, Richard Talinferro,
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Constructed in the early nineteenth century, Mulberry Place represents an excellent and elegant
example of the Federal style (Figure 17). It is a two-story brick house with a hipped-roof and
pairs of inside chimneys on each end. The five-bay front elevation hag elegant proportions and
detailing, including a dog-tooth brick cornice and a one-story front porch with a balustrade. The
house is surrounding by an impressive grouping of outbuildings.

Figure 17 Photograph of Mulberry Place (16-35), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Old Brick House (16-247), located off of Route 603 near Blanton, and built ca. 1840, is a two-
story {with raised basement), three-bay brick house with a hipped roof. The front elevation
consists of a central entry door flanked by windows with flat timber Hntels. The entry door, with
side-fights and transom, is approached through a one bay porch supported by paired wood
columns. The porch is set upon a raised foundation, probably relating in plan to a pantry at the
basement level. A two-story frame addition placed upon a raised brick foundation ocours at the
rear of the house,
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Classical Bevival:

The Classical Revival style in Virginia was greatly influenced by Thomas Jefferson and had great
popular appeal.  Classical Revival buildings ranged from single-family dwellings to religious
buildings to public architecture. Several important dwellings in Caroling County were ¢ither
conceived and designed in the Classical Revival style, or were alteved during this period and
modified o incorporate many of the features associated with this style. Classical Revival styles
in the county range from Roman Classical Revival 1o Greek Revival and include, most
prominently, Hampton Manor (16-13), Moss Neck Manor (16-18 3, Hayfield (16-14), and Belle
Hill {16-8) and Glamorgan (16-14),

Hampton Manor i3 an imposing two-story brick house with a large tetra-style portico located on
its front elevation. In conirast, Moss Neck Manor is a thres-part plantation house having a two-
story central block with end wings connected by hyphens (Figure 20). Built in the mid-
ningteenth century, this Palladian villa-type house recalls the somewhat zarlier houses in Virginig
having this form such as Bremo in Fluvanna County and Brandon in Prince George County.
Hayfield is an example of a house built in the eighteenth century which was later modified to
reflect Classical Revival trends. This large two-story brick plantation house, with projecting
water table and belt course. received a projecting tetra-style portico addition on the front
elevation and a double-story Tuscan portico at its rear.

Belle Hill (16-8) is an example of the Greek Revival style which had great popular appeal
throughout America during the mid-nineteenth century (Figure 18). This plantation house
originally consisted of a single two-story structure which later received two, one-story wings and
is currently undergoing further additions, Typical of the Greek Revival style, the central block
has a front gable which has been enclosed to form a pediment reminiscent of the Greek temple
form. The central door with its side lights and long transom are similarly features associated
with the Greek Revival style.

Less illustrative of Greek Revival architecture on the exterior, but 2 prime example on the
interior is Glamorgan, built in 1851, Built by Dr. Barton Morris, this house was named
Glamorgan for the ancestral seat of the Morris family in Wales, The two-story, three-bay frame
house with paired brick end chimneys opens onto an interior of elegant door surrounds, mantles,
and other moldings. The central door with its side lights and ransom leads into an expansive
central passage off of which open the dining and living rooms to the left and right and the stair
hall at the rear. All of the doors leading 1o these spaces are surrounded by wooed moldings

designed in a shape reminiscent of an Egyptian pylon (Figure 19} and a common Greek Revival
form. Tapered pilasters growing out of a prominent base board molding support a fricze and a



Historic Architectural Burvey of Carcline County 63
October 1991

Figure 18 Photograph of Belle Hill {16-8), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991}

slightly peaked pediment projecting above it. Wood mantles in both the living and dining rooms
add a classical elegance 1o the otherwise restrained ornamentation. The interior of Glamorgan is
of exceptional quality and is an important example of Greek Revival architecture of Caroline
County.
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Figare 19 Photograph of the Interior of Glamorgan (16-10), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Gothic Revival

The Gothic Revival style emerged in America in the early 1840s as a reaction {0 the symmetry
and balance of the "regular” or classical styles of architecture. The Gothic Revival actually
emerged in England in 1749 with Sir Horace Walpole's remodeling of his house, Strawberry Hill
in a Medieval style. Over the next century architects and landscape architects promoted the
“picturesque” style of architecture in manuals, books and other treatises. In America the
picturesque style was promulpated by architect Alexander Jackson Davis, and landscape architect,
Andrew Jackson Downing, The first documented example of the Gothic Revival in domestic
architecture in America was designed by AL, Davis in 1832, Rural Besidences by Davis, and
ey Houses by Downing were illustrated publications replete with

country Gothic houses referred to by the authors as Gothic cottages. Although this style became
quite popular in America and can be found up and down the entire east coast, it was not widely
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Figure 20 Photograph of Moss Neck Manor (16-18), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

used in Virginia. Important examples of the Gothic Revival style in Virginia are located in
Powhatan County, where A.J. Davis designed, or had an influence on at least three private
residences and one church, all designed in the Gothic Revival style. In Caroline county the
Gothic Revival influence is limited 10 a select few examples.

The Gothic Revival style is characterized by its irregularity in plan and elevations, its exuberant
use of projecting towers, gables, and porches, and its ormamental treatment of windows, doors
amd gables, The Old Baylor home at New Market Plantation {16-281) is representative of this
style (Figure 21). Constructed in the mid-nineteenth century, the Baylor home originally had a
cross-shaped plan which has been enclosed by later additions. The original portion consists of a
central block with two intersecting gable-roofed wings with Gothic detailing, including pointed-
arch windows in the attic level and scalloped bargeboard detailing. In close proximity to the
house is a mid-nineteenth century brick kitchen also designed in a Gothic Revival style.

Other examples of this style can be found in the county most notably at Spring Hill (16-116) and
at the Old Chandler’s Residence (16-203), as well as at abandoned farm house She 16-260,
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Figure 21 Photograph of the Old Baylor Home at New Market Plantation {16-281), (Jeff
Stodghtll, PMA, 19581)

High Victorian Styles:

At least two of the most prominent examples of domestic architecture in the county represent a
Victorian style of architecture. Camden in Port Roval and Spring Grove in the Qak Corner
vicinity are both important examples of the ltalianate style; Camden illustrates the work of a
nationally known architect, Outside of these well-documented examples of Victorian architecture
are more vernacular examples of the Italianate style, as well as several Queen Anne style houses.
These houses, whose architects are not known, are scattered throughout the county in both rural
argas and in villages. Examples of the Talianate style include Prospect Hill (16-156) located on
the west side of Route 633 and south of Route 626, Rose Hill (16-289) located southeast of
Penola along Route 601, Site 16-290, similarly located along Route 601, southeast of Penola.
Italianate details on these houses include bracketed eaves on the main house and porches, heavy
wooden hood molds arcund the windows, and long, vertical window openings with two-over-two-
light sash,
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Houses representative of the Queen Anne style are generally of irregular shape with projections
and recessions of bays and porches articulating the various elevations. Typical featres include
steeply pitched and irregular roofs, wrap-around porches with spindle columns, textured wall
surfaces and other ornamental details.

Fine examples of the Queen Amne style include Carolina Mansion (16-220), the farm house Site
16-240, Sites 16-267 and 16-274 in Milford, and Fellaway Farm (16-204). Of particular note
here is the similarity in design between the two examples located in Milford, at opposite ends of
wwn from one another {Figures 22 and 23},

Figure 22 Photograph of Site 16-267, (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991)

Both of these houses have the same Irregular shaped plans with 3 prominent projecting front
elevation and wrap-around porches, On both houses the prominent side consists of a two-story
pedimented elevation projecting in front of a three-bay wing. In both cases the first floor of the
projecting bay has g polygonal form supporting an overhanging square bay on top. Three
windows placed above recessed panels plerce each wall of the polygonal bay. The proximity and
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Figure 23 Photograph of Site 16-274, (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

similarity of these two houses indicates that the same architect/builder was most likely
responsible for the design and construction of both,

Caroling Mansion (16-220) in Woodford is an example of a Queen Anne style house on the verge
of wransition. The asymmetrical plan, irregular roof shape, wrap-around porch and projecting
gables all recall the Queen Anne style, while the Scammozzi lonic columms supporting the porch
roof, end wall pilasters, enclosed gables in a pediment form, and the frieze are more classically
inspired motifs,

Colonial Revival Style:

While the vernacular tradition of building continued into the twentieth century with the craftsman
cottage and bungalow, the more formal architecture of the late nineteenth and twentieth century
tended towards the Colonial Revival style. This style, popular from 1880 to as late as the 1950s,
reflects a return to the American architecture of the colonial period.  As this archifecture ranged



Historic Architectural Survey of Caroline County 69
October 1991

Figure 24 Photograph of Site 16-224, (Jeff Stodghill, PMA,
19913

from the Georglan and Federal styles to the Post Medieval English and Dutch styles, the colonial
revival styles also ranged in appearance. In Caroline County. the Colonial Revival stvle is not
heavily Hlustrated in rural areas and only 2 select number exist in the small towns or villages.
Two worth noting are Site 16-224 in Woodford and Site 16-258 located south of Ruther Glen.
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Figure 25 Photograph of Site 16-258, (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

The circa 1930s house in Woodford (16-224) consists of an intriguing two-and-one-half-story
brick block flanked by one-story brick wings. The central pavilion is divided into three vertical
bays with emphasis on the central bay provided by the clustered window treatment and the central
location of the two dormer windows. The brickwork is variegated with colors ranging from buff
yellow 1o deep brown. At the rear of the house is an elegantly designed carriage house reflecting
the same ideas and treatments found in the house itself,

Site 16-258 is a less fanciful example of the Colonial Revival style. Here, a two-and-one-half-
story, five-bay frame house similarly emphasizes the central bay by use of a one-bay pedimented
porch and a centrally placed dormer. A one-story enclosed wing and a one-story open porch
flank either side of the main structure.
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SECONDARY DWELLINGS

Although Careline County historically relied on a labor economy to work the tobacco and other
fields, few architectural reminders of this past era remain. Slave and servants quarters are
limited to those identified at Poplar Grove (16-153), Poplar Grove (16-154), Irene {16-2463, and
Site {16-205),

Poplar Grove (16-1534), located on the north side of Route 634, has two independent slave/servant
guarters, Located northeast of the house and on the edge of the woods, the slave/servant
quarters at Poplar Grove consist of two cottages of frame construction.  Both cottages, situated in
an axial relationship 1o one another, are small one-story buildings with large brick end chimneys
of stone and brick,

The Poplar Grove (16-153) property located on the west side of Route 207, just south of Athens,
has a two-story frame servant/slave quarters building sited immediately behind the main house.
This building sits upon brick plers and is covered with a low-pitched gable roof,

Site 16-246 comprises a modern, non-contributing dwelling with an early nineteenth century
slave/servant quarters set away from the house. This secondary dwelling is a one-and-one-half-
story wood frame building with a brick end chimney and a steeply-piiched gable roof coversd
with standing-seam metal. A single, double-panel wood door is cut into one side of one end
elevation. A single 6/6 double-hung wood sash window pierces one long elevation wall.

hite 16-205 is actually a property located in the wwn of Guinea. Behind the large Colonial
Revival house is a small, one-story building which most likely served as servant quarters. Two
individual doors opening off of a porch extending across the front of the building enter into two
separate reoms. A wood flue chimney projects from the roof towards one end.

OUTBUILDINGS AND DEPENDENCIES

Detached Kitchem

Detached kitchens are often associated with early single-family dwellings on both farms and
residential fots. Detached kitchens are generally one-story structures set in proximity to, but
away from the house for fire safety reasons. Most commonly of frame construction in Virginia,
the kitchens identified in Caroline County are of brick, frame and log construction.  The interiors



Historic Architectural Survey of Careline County 72
October 1991

generally consist of one large room where the food was prepared and cooked, Beginning in the
mid-nineteenth century, the detached kitchen tended to be replaced by the incorporated kitchen-—a
kitchen incorporated into the main house at the basement level, with a separate entrance from the
exterior.

Notable defached kitchens identified during the survey include those found at Mulberry Grove
{16-35), Spring Grove (16-94), Fontaine Hill (16-137), Prospect Hill (16-156), Freeman’s House
{16-138) and the Old Baylor Home at New Market Plantation (16-281).

The kitchen at Mulberry Grove (16-35) is g substantial one-and-one-half-story brick structure
with 2 massive chimney also of brick on one end. The entrance to the kitchen iz located on the
opposite end wall, while windows pierce the long side elevations and a corbelled cornice
decorates the roofline. ‘

Spring Grove is a mid-nineteenth century farm with a brick kitchen and brick smokehouse also
dating 1o the ningteenth century. Several more modern agricultural buildings are located on the
property. The kitchen, currently used for storage, has 5-course American bond walls and a gable
roof covered with of standing with standing-seam metal. Scalloped barge boards appear on the
raking cornice in the gable ends.

Fontaine Hill (16-137), located on Route 652 south of Paterson’s Corner, iz a working farm
which inchudes an historic kitchen. The kitchen, erected of logs, sits upon a brick pier
foundation and has a massive brick end chimney. An ice house, also part of the property, was
demolished last year, according 1o the present owner.

The kitchen at Prospect Hill (16-156), located on the west side of Route 633, south of Route 626,
is a small, one-story frame building from the mid-nineteenth century with board and batten walls.
The gable roof has barge board detailing at the gable ends giving the outbuilding a Gothic
Cottage Revival style appearance. The end chimney has been removed.

The one-story frame kitchen at Freeman’s House (16-138) is located on line with the house and
attached to it by a small hyphen addition. The steep pitch of the kitchen roof indicates a date of
consiruction {early to mid-nineteenth century) which may precede that of the main houss.

The Gothic Revival Old Baylor House (16-281) has a brick kitchen building similarly designed in
the Gothic Revival style. The one-and-one-half-story building has an overhanging roof with
barge boards in the end gable and a central brick chimmey with a corbelled cap.

Smockehouses

Smokehouses are found at both single-family dwellings and large farm complexes and are
probably the most prevalent type of early surviving outbuilding in the county. Ag the name
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indicates, smokehouses were used in the process of smoking meat which was done to preserve,
rather than enhance the flavor of it. These buildings are generally simple structures with nothing
more than dirt floors, airtight walls, and roofs often of pyramidal form. Smokehouse structures
are often built with wood posts placed closely together to safeguard the meat against thieves, '

The survey identified a mumber of smokehouses throughout the county, including those at Auburn
Hill (16-1}, Braynefield (16-3), the Grove (16-12), Rock Spring (16-21), Green Falls (16-343,
Mulberry Grove (16-33), Mount Zion (16-47), Yew Spring (16-72), Spring Grove (16-94),
Hamptonsville (16-103}, Spring Hill (16-116}, and Needwood Farm (16-232). In general, all of
the smokehouses identified were one-story frame buildings with pyramidal or gable roofs. The
only divergences from this form can be found at Needwood Farm, where the smokehouse is built
of brick, but covered with a pyramidal roof.

Several carriage houses were located in Caroline County in both rural village residences. The
two most prominent carriage houses were identified at Mulberry Place (16-35) and at the house
in Woodford (16-224). The carriage house at Mulberry Grove is a late nineteenth century frame
structure raised on a brick foundation and covered with a gable roof. The carriage entrance is
located at one end elevation, while the pedestrian entrance can be found at the opposite end. In
Woodford, the carriage house associate with house 16-224, is located directly behind it. The
carriage house is designed in the same Colonial Revival style as the house and uses the same
materials. It is a one-and-one-half-story brick building with two carriage rooms flanking a
central pedestrian entrance. 'This entry leads to the attic level living quarters, articulated on the
exterior by dormer windows,

Other and Unidentified Outbuildings

Oither types of domestic outbuildings include spring houses, ice houses, privies, wood sheds,
storage sheds and other types of unidentified outbuildings. Although these outbuildings were
identified and recorded during this study, only two unidentified outbuildings of particular note are
being mentioned. A one-story frame outbuilding which dates from the early nineteenth century
can be found on the property at White Plains (16-27), This frame building is set upon a concrete
pier foundation, has windows and doors on three of its four elevations and is topped by a steeply-
pitched gable roof. The lack of chimney eliminates dwelling and kitchen as a potential building-
type, while the size and amount of fenestration similarly guestion the building as a smokehouse.

“ Erie Stoan, &gz of Barns.
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The unidentified frame cutbuilding at Mount Clear (16-84) has similar problems with attributing a
building type to it. The ong-and-one-half-story frame building with its gable roof may well have
been a smokehouse, but interior stairs leading to a loft level and large size make this
guestionable. Similarly the lack of chimney and fenestration, besides one central door, make the
building uninhabitable.
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THEME: Subsistence/Agriculture

RESQURCE TYPE: Farms, Barns, Kitchens, Smokehouses

Drained by the many rivers and tributaries which run through the county, Caroline County has
much bottom land ideal for the production of various crops. According to the 1888 Handbook of
Caroline County. the soil of the county is "easily cultivated, readily improved, and when ireated
in a farmer-like way, very productive™.” Although historically the county was particularly
well-known and adapted for its tobacco crop, fields were also planted with winter wheat, corn,
rye, oats, clover, hay, peas, and potatoes. Many of the cereal crops were particularly abundant
in the wide Rappahannock valley, while tobaceo lands spread across the southern and middle
portions of the county. Other crops in the county included many types of fruits, especially

apples, and a variety of berries,

In general in Virginia in the eighteenth century, tobacco cultivation relied heavily upon the
development of large plantations, since the crop’s cultivation exhausted the soil and large
plantations offered extensive land for tobacco rotation.  The sbundance of land and water in
Carpline County, and Virginia in general, was ideal for the cultivation of all kinds of tobacco,
and thersfore continued 1o be the main source of income throughout the nineteenth century.
Following the Civil War, however, small farms where no hired-hands were required to work the
tand became more profitable for growing tobacco than the large plantations of ante-bellum
Virginia. Small mid-to late nineteenth century farms are located throughout Caroline County and
represent an important aspect of the agricultural industry of the county.

Although no longer the principal crop in the late ningteenth and twentieth centuries, tobacco
continued to be cultivated. The 1880 Handbook of Carcline County indicates that nearly all
classes of tobacco were grown in Caroline, and that it was especially famed for its chewing
tobacco. The 1900 Census records of Caroline County indicate that in 1889, wobaceo covered
2,668 acres of land in Carcline and resulted in the production of 1,891,930 pounds of tobacco.

The 1900 census provided information on other crops also grown in Carcline County. The
records include a list of the acreage of land under cultivation in 1899 and the products resulting
from the caltivation. In numbers of acres of land under cultivation, tobacco ranked third on the
Hst. Corn was the most heavily planted crop with fields covering 40,758 acres, and wheat,

¥ Heandbook oo Sandine Sounty . p3.
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which covered 6,625 acres of land in the county, ranked second. Other crops listed include
beans, peas, peanuts, buckwheat, oats. rye, potatoes, sweet potatoes, onions, and miscellangous
CIOps.

By the mid-nineteenth century stock farms emerged in the county. According to the Handbook,
native stock were being "improved” to include Jersey, Guernsey, Red Polled and Short-horned
cattle; Seuthdown, Cotswold and Hampshire sheep; Berkshire and Duree Jersey Red Swine, and
improved poultry, The Handbook further states that the stock farms were increasing "and more
attention is being paid to this industry each vear with satisfactory results.”® The 1900 Census
records indicate that in 1899 the county was home to 96 cattle (77 dairy cows), 61 horses, 2
mles, 184 swine, and 1 goat.

Farms in Caroline County varied in size from large plantations to small farms, but fow were of
the same scale or importance a5 those found along the James and in lower Tidewater.” The
most substantial plantation houses located in the county are generally no longer operated as
farms. This includes, most notably, those properties found between Fredericksburg and Bowling
Green, on roads off of Route 2; and those located off of Route 17 near the Rappahannock River,
These properties include Mount Zion (16-47) and Belle Hill (16-48) off of Route 2 and Moss
MNeck Manor (16-18) and Hayfield (16-14) off of Route 17, Other notable plantations no longer
plaving an active agricultural role are Blenheim (16-2), Mulberry Place (16-35), Rock Spring
{16-21}, and Hampton Manor {16-13).

Other historic farms are still operating as such and can be found throughout the county. Some of
these agricultural complexes still in operation include, North Garden (16-111), Spring Grove (16-
94}, Fontaing Hill (16-137), and Hamptonsville (16-103).  All of these farms consist of 2
combination of historic and modern buildings, where mid-Twentieth century agricultural
buildings, such as barns, silos and storage sheds have supplanted or supplemented sarlier
versions of the same building type.

AGRICULTURAL BUILDINGS

The number of historic agricultural buildings associated with historic rural properties in Caroline
County is surprisingly limited, given the fact that agriculture has historically been the primary
industry of the county. This trend is not inconsistent with the rest of Virginia, however, where
pre-1880 farm buildings throughout the state are uncommon.  The types of farmerelated

% The Handbook on Caroline Couniy, p. &

¥ Campbelt, p. 379
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structures sxamined in Caroline County include barns, stables, farm offices, cornoribs and 2 wide
variety of storage sheds. When possible barn buildings are further classified as granaries,
tobacco barns, hay barns, livestock barns, or barns of unidentified uses, but of an identified

IYpes,

Barns

{iranaries:

Granaries, used for the storage of grain, emerged as separate agricultural buildings distingt from
the earliest English threshing barns. This development from the threshing bamn 1o the separate
granary building occurred simply as a Iabor-saving and more profitable solution to the storage of
grain. The grain was sometimes threshed in the granary, then dumped directly into storage bins
in the same buillding. Notes from Thomas Jefferson’s farm book (1774-1826) indicate how
granaries were used in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries in Virginia;

Preliminary observation, my farms are divided Into 7, field of 40, acres and in the center
of each field is a granary of 2. reoms of 12, £, sq. sach and an open passage between
them of 12, {. when there iz wheat in the field, it is brought as fast as it is cut (o this
granary & stacked round it. the threshing machine is fixed in the passage, and as the
wheat is got out, it i3 put with its chaff into one room and there kept till the winter. the
threshing machine being removed, the fan takes its place, the wheat is passed thro” i, and
the clean grain thrown over into the other room.”

Two developments ocourred In rural America causing the granary as a building type to disappear
by the end of the 1880s.  First and most importantly, barns tended to become larger and served
a greater variety of functions between the mid-to-late-nineteenth century, replacing the granary
altogether. Second, the development of the railroad and the perfection of portable threshing
machines, as well as a heavy demand for grain in the growing population centers of the
northwest, encouraged the movement of grain from the American farm immediately afier it was
harvested, rendering the building for the storage of grain unnecessary.” This siuation is
described by Byron Halsted, author of the 1881 publication Barns and Ouibuildings;

® Edwin Morris Betts, od. Thomas Jefferson’s Farm Book. p. 315,

* MNoble, p. 104-5,
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There is a saving of time and labor in drawing the sheaves from the field directly 1o the
thrashing machine, and mowing away the straw in the barn at once. The thrashing may
be done in the field, and the straw stacked there, especially now that steam-thrashers are
coming into more frequent use.”

Because of the bullding type's disappearance by the twentieth century, the surviving granaries can
generally be dated from the mid-nineteenth century to the late nineteenth century. In general,
granaries are one-and-one-half-story frame buildings, covered with gable roofs and supporting
one-story shed roof wings or additions.

In addition to a granary at Camden which has been identified by the VDHR, but not surveyed as
part of this survey, granaries were clearly identified at Mount Gideon and Auburn Hill, while
twa other bulldings in the county were tentatively identified as granaries. The granary at
Camden, located to the east of the main house, near the edge of 2 low bluff beside the
Rappahannock River, is a one-story frame building set upon rock piers. The granary which dates
from the 1850s, is divided into three more or less equal-sized compartments for grain storage and
measures approximately 40° x 207, The exterior is divided into three symmetrical bays with
small ventilator windows plercing the wall surface.”

The granary located at Mount Gideon (16-20), is an early nineteenth century frame building with
a steeply pitched gable roof and one-story shed roof wings., It has a mortise-and-tenon post
structure with L-shaped corner timbers (Figure 26).

The granary at Auburn Hill (16-1) is a small, two-story grain barn or storehouse from the early
nineteenth century. The frame building has vertical emphasis with batten doors located on center
at both the first and second floors. A shed-roof porch was added 1o the barn when it was
remodelied as g guest house,

Anpther building that probably served as g granary is located at Hillford {16-43), This barn
building, probably from the mid-nineteenth century, has a steeply-pitched central roof and a shed-
roof porch and wing surrounding the enclosed interior space.

* Halstud, g, 177,

# Information gleaned from notes tken by Jeff ' Dell, Architecturs] Hisorian, VIDHR, May 2, 1991, sud forwanded o Traceries.
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Figure 26 Photograph of Barn at Mt Gideon (16-20), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 19910

Tobacco Barng:

Although tobacco was one of the county’s most important cash crops during the nineteenth
century, few reminders of the tobacco industry from this period remain. Tobacco barns vary in
form based on the three distinet methods of drying the crop: fire-curing. air-curing and flue-
curing. In the fire-cured methad of tobaceo drying, an open fire is laid on the earth floor of the
barn. The dense smoke from the burning wood partially smothered with damp sawdust generates
smoke which comes in direct contact with the tobacco leaves, The smoke turns the leaves a dark
hrown and results in a distinctive groma and taste.  Fire-cured twobacco barns, therefore, are
distingnished by thelr air-tight construction and absence of any type of ventilation.® No fire-
cured tobacco barns were identified during the Caroline County survey.

* Wohde, pl 4%
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The second type of twbacco barn is the flue-cured barn, These structures consist of a tall
building usually flanked by open sheds. The shed additions provide shelter for workers as well
as the furnace and fuel supply. The shed, the most distinctive feature of the flue-cured tobacco
barn, appeared in a variety of sizes and designs.®

The flue-curing process has several advantages over the fire-curing method, particularly the fact
that the fire is comtained in a furnace, thereby reducing the danger of fire. The flue-curing
method also consumes less fuel by using a closed heating system. The heat is conducted through
the barn in a series of flues and is maintained uniform throughout the space.™ In the flue-
curing process, B0 percent of the whacco leaf's weight is water when it s first put in the bamn
and after it is cured, only 20 to 25 percent of its weight is water. The flue-curing process is
basically a two-step process in which the leaf is first vellowed at 2 moderate temperature and
high relative humidity, The web of the leaf and the steam are then dried by gradually increasing
the temperature to 160 to 180 degrees and lowering the humidity.”” No flue-cured tobacco

barns were located during the swrvey of Caroline County.

Alr-cured tobacco barns, which rely solely on natural alr to dry the crop, do not necessarily
mandate a particular barn form and many varieties can be found dispersed throughout the
country. In rural Virginia, however, air-curing tobacco barns tend to be tall frame structures,
often with openings under the eaves, Eave opening, or roof ventilators provided maximum air
circulation, in order to aid the drying process, The interior of air-cured tobacco barns is
distinguished by a series of poles, extending transversely across the barn building, and in several
vertical rows 1o the building’s gabled ceiling. Fxterior features of an air-cured tobacco barn
include exterior sheds. These sheds, or shed-roofed wings, are generally attached to the barn
building. Historically, the sheds provided an area where the tobacco was graded and sorted
before being put up for sale.

Of the three types of tobacco barns identified above, only the air-cured twbacco barns were
identified during the study in Caroline County,  Alr-cured tobacco barng were found at Plum
Grove {16-180), Green House (16-301), Stanhope {(16-26), Elm Grove (16-8) and Poplar Grove
(16-159). Each of these barns is distinguished by #ts tall frame structure, often with shed roof
wings attached to the sides, and vertical board-and-batten window openings on the side walls of
the barns.

¥ favra Suism, po 1200
Hobis, p. S1.

¥ Lavsea Scism, po 124,
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Hay Barns and Dairy Barns:

Generally identified by their relatively large size and distinctive shapes, early twenticth century
dairy barns and hay barns are often long, two-story frame buildings with gambrel roofs and hay
hoods. Rows of small window openings providing natural interior lighting, can be found along
the long elevations at the first floor level. The interior spaces of the dairy barns are arranged to
accommodate rows of cattle on the first floor, and a hay storage area above. The large loft,
created by the gambrel roof, provides maximum storage area for hay and feed for the dairy
herds. Hay barns are often identical in exterior form, but may not provide the interior
partitioning for the dairy cattle on the first floor. Other hay barns are smaller frame buildings
constructed with less detail and in an inferipr fashion.

Although several hay and dairy barns were identified in the county, they were not generally
surveyed because of their relatively modern construction dates.  One dairy barn, located at
Locust Hill (16-15) is particularly vepresentative of #s type and is in good condition.  This two-
and-one-half-story barn from the early to mid-twentieth century has a large gambrel roof covering
a relatively long structure. The side elevations are plerced with small window openings at the
first floor, while the front elevation is equipped with a central pulley door, and two superimposed
hay doors above. A peaked hay hood projects bevond the hay door 1o provide protection from
the weather.

Hay barms were recorded at Rock Stop (16-22), North Garden (16-111), and a farm in Woodford
{(16-221). North Garden (16-111) is an historic property surrounded by a large complex of
modern agricultural buildings and structures. The hay barn and s silo, from the mid-twentieth
ceptury, 18 the largest and most visible of the agricultural buildings. An expansive gambrel roof
with two ventilators on top covers the long, rectangular frame structure,  Small window openings
aceur at the fivst floor level, while hay doors and windows are located on the second floor,

A farm near Woodford (16-2213, has a frame hay barn that appears somewhat older. This barn
is constructed in 2 less substantial manner and is in deteriorating and ruinous condition.

Other barn types:

Many other barns were identified during the survey and range in size and scale from small,
single-room barns o larger, drive-through orib barns. The function of these types of barns varies
according 1o region and was not always readily apparent. In general in Caroling County, these
barns appeared to be mid-twentieth century buildings, and were therefore only noted, and were
not surveyed.
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Small, frame barns with little architectural distinction were noted at many of the farm complexes
throughout the county.  Although most of these barns date from the mid-twentieth century, at
least two appear somewhat older and deserve mention,

A small, single-room barn at Sallie Young's House (16-167) appears to date from the late
nineteenth century. The barn consists of a central orib with a gable roof and flanking shed
wings, These wings, common additions on single-crib barns, were used for the storage of
equipment, grain, or animals, This barn probably dates o the late nineteenth century.

A two-and-one-half-story drive-in crib barp with a hay hood above the hay loft was identified at
the farm on Route 728 (16-2533, 'This peaked hay hood with its truss system is ong of the most
elaborate ones identified in the county,

Corneribs:

Although the precise origin of the corncrib as a separate structure has not been clearly
established, one theory is that the building type was developed by the American Indians.®™ This
theory is quite probable given the main function of a cornerib--storage of Indian corn. As a
storage bin for corn, the cornerib can be further classified as a specialized form of granary.

Corneribs in early Virginia were often built at a distance from the main house and located next to
the fields where the corn was cultivated, Corncribs were also built in the farmyard complex near
other farm buildings, such as barns, granaries, and stables in some cases they were attached to
other corneribs, sheds or other agricultural building. Typically, corncribs were sited in line with
or at right angles to the other buildings.”

Although the form of the cornerib in eastern Virginia may vary somewhat, it is based primarily
on function and includes certain basic design features. Cornoribs may consist of a single-room,
two-room, or three-room plan, but most often than not, they are of the single-room plan-type. In
general, single-room corneribs are relatively small structures of either log, plank. or frame
construction and range in dimension from about 10" x 127 and 14” x 18", In both the single and
two-room plan types, the entry door is Iocated in the gable end.  In the three-room plan type, the
door is generally placed on center of the long or axial side elevation.

In almost all cases corneribs can be distinguished by certain design features, First, the walls
include a high proportion of open space, usually accomplished by using widely spaced slatg,

¥ Allen G. Moble, Wood, Brick, & Stone: The Morth Amortvan Setfoment Landsoaps, Yol 1, p. 105,

*This information on the siing of corncribs in YVirginia was supplied by M. Jeid ©'Dell, in his lotter to Mr, Chris Gregonn,
Assistant Suparviser, History and Histerle Preservation, Dopartment of Farks sl Beoreativn, County of Henrlos, September 18, 1991,
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This allowed for adequate ventilation to aid in the drying the ear corn and prevent mildew,
hecond, corncribs are narrow structures, again 1o ensure for adequate circulation of air.

Although not considered necessary components, other distinguishing features may be found on
corncribs,  For instance, the walls of some corncribs are constructed to slant outward toward the
top. This provided the maximum protection from the weather and assisted in the unloading of
the corn.  Some corncrib designs include an overhanging skirt or other device located on the
foundation for reducing the pillaging of rodents. The deterrent typically used in Caroling was
slevating the structure on plers which were covered in metal.™

In general, corncribs are small log or frame buildings used for the drying of corn ears,
Corneribs vary in plan and have different wall shapes, but are always built to provide as much
air circulation as possible o help dry the car corn,

Stables

Following the first "course racing” event which was run in Hanover County, Virginia in 1747,
Virginia emerged as an important area for horse breeding farms, Because course-racing required
a horse greater endurance than a horse for "quarter-racing”, breeding farms were introduced
whereby sportsmen could improve their stock by breeding from "course-racing” stock. This
breeding was made possible by importing new stock into the colonies from which horses were
then bred. Horse breeding in Caroline County emerged as early as 1764 when John Baylor of
Mew Market Plantation imported the English sire Fearnaught to head his stables at New Market
Plantation (see the Commerce/Trade theme of this report). John Hoomes of "(d Mansion” is
also said to have imported 3 famous thoroughbred named "Sterling”, from which many winning
racers were bred, John Hoomes was engaged not only in breeding race horses, but in selling
saddle horses as well. A letter from John Hoomes to Thomas Jefferson on January §, 1801,
verifies the significance of the horse breeding and selling industry in Caroline County during this
thme period;

1 saw Mr. Eppes a few days ago who informed be you were In want of an elegant saddle
horse, | have one to dispose of...1 think him the finest horse 1 know in the State, he 18 7

vears old, near 16 hands high, a very fine presence, gay, but perfectly gentle, & his color
KX

¥ Moble, p. 107,

B Letter froam Joly Himsmes tie Thomes lefforspn. Jusary &, 1301, Thomes Jalferson’s Fozm Bock, p. 95 16
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Themas Jefferson responded to John Hoomes letter on January 12, 1801, accepting the offer to
buy his horse for "300 Doll", and allowing a payment of 30 days.*

Architectural remains of the horse-breeding industry in the county are Hmited o a single stable
tuilding and a brick barn located behind the Old Baylor House at New Market Plantation (16~
281). Both the stable and barn at New Market Plantation are long and low-lying brick buildings
which date from the period 1830-1860 (Figure 27). The stable building has brick walls laid in a
random bond, and eight narrow openings in the walls of its long side and a large door opening
on its short end wall, The six-to-gight inch wide openings are placed approximately five feet

Figure 27 Photograph of Stable at New Market (16-28), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991 )

ghove the ground and most likely corvesponded 1o the placement of the former interior horse
stalls, A new metal roof covers the building which is now used for storage.

% epter from Theenas fefforson to John Hoomss, fsnuary 12, 1801, Thomes Jefferson’s Fanm Book, p. 10
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The brick barn is a ene-and-one-half-story building with S-course American bond brick walls
pierced by rectangular openings with wood architraves. The barn is covered with an overhanging
gable roof with exposed rafters. The interior is divided into two structural bays with a central
beamn supported by hewn timber posts.

{onclusion

Despite the historical importance of the agricultural industry in the county, a relatively few early
farm buildings remain intact. Of the farm complexes surveyed, Morth Garden and Mulberry Hill
are two examples of the diverging ways in which the Caroline County farm evolved., North
Garden s an excellent example of an historic farm which continues in the same capacity today,
with modern equipment and new agricultural buildings. Inclusive of the twenticth century farm
structures, North Garden represents an impressive and intact complex of buildings.

Of the individual agricultural buildings surveyed, the carlicst and most significant in terms of date
and form are the granary at Mount Gideon {16-20), Auburn Hill {16-1) and the siable and barn at
New Market Plamation (16-281),
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THEME: Government/Law/Political
RESOURCE TYPE: Courthouse, jail

The exact location of the first courthouse of Careline County is not known, but local research has
determined that it was located in the triangular area formed by the crossroads of Ideal, Kidds
Fork, and Shumansville. The courthouse was ordered built by the Roval Crown around 1731-2
after a debtor escaped from the basement of the sheriff's manor, which the county was then using
as a jail.”  Because construction of this first courthouse was completed before the first entry in
the court order books, little is known about the construction of the building. However, later
information which has been gleaned from the records indicates that in 1736 the courthouse and
related buildings received extensive alterations including a brick chimney for the jail and iron
bars to be placed across the courthouse windows.* In 1739, Charles Bridges, a celebrated
English artist, was commissioned to paint a mural of the king's arms on the courthouse walls.
The painting, any representation of which has been lost, was considersd one of the finest murals
in British America.®”

Following a conflagration of 1742 which engulfed the jail building and damaged the courthouse,
a new jail was ordered erected, and the courthouse was repaired. The cost of repair and
restoration prevented the magistrates from actually purchasing the land on which the county
buildings stood until 1745, At that point, the magistrates sought to buy the two acres
surrounding the court and jail, and directed the area o be laid out by metes and bounds.

Despite the fact that the area around the courthouse grew with the erection of taverns and stores,
the location of the courthouse in the Ideal-Kidds Fork-Shumansville wiangle proved 1o be
inconvenient to 2 large portion of the growing population. In 1748, the Carcline Court requested
permission from the government to move the county seat. Despite this formal request, no action
was taken 1o move the courthouse location. In fact, ten vears later, in 1759 when internal
improvements were taking place in the county, the magistrates decided to rebuild the courthouse
on its existing site, despite the reguest of a majority of the residents. The committee responsible
for supervising the construction of the courthouse chose the "style and dimensions” of the King
and Queen County courthouse as a model, and hired John Wiley to erect the building.*®

The construction of the courthouse was never actually completed, and the court was required o
hold sessions in its unfinished state, This, coupled with the fact that the courthouse was erected

* Caroline Covnty Historios! Guide Book. p. 5.

“ Campbell, p. 124,
¥ Campbell, p. 125,

* Campbell, p. 169,
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on its same site despite the wishes of residents, was of great irritation to much of the Caroline
county populace. At the same time, however, residents of Upper King and Queen county were
pleased with the convenience to them of the courthouse in Caroline County, and therefore in
1762 petitioned the House of Burgesses to join the upper end of King and Queen county with
Caroline County. The Burgesses acquiesced, making Caroline County the size it is today.

The eventual establishment of the county seat at Bowling Green followed an unlikely series of
events: a local merchant who originally had his store established near the first courthouse site
chose to move his store to a site northeast of Bowling Green following an ownership quarrel
about the busingss. Shortly before the outbreak of the Revolutionary War, this same merchant
convinced the magistrates to hold some sessions of the county court in a building on hig
property’s premises. Al of the sessions of the court came 1o be held there, so that this rented
building acally became the courthouse of Caroling County until the present county seat was
established in 1793-1803.%7

In 1803 John Hoomes presented a petition to the Virginia Assembly to erect a new courthouse at
Bowling Green and to provide a deed for the land 1o be taken from his own property. ™ A
temporary frame courthouse erected ¢, 1803, preceded the present courthouse structure., The
present building, a temple-form structure with an arcaded ground floor was constructed ca. 1833-
35%, Its design has been attributed to master builders William B. Phillips and Malcolm
Crawiord, who were responsible for both the Madison and Page county courthouses, and who
served as workmen to Thomas Jefferson at the University of Virginia.™ The courthouse is

listed on the National Register of Historic Places (VDHR File 171-3).

Set back from the courthouse building and on the courthouse green is the old jail building,
constructed ¢, 1900. This two-story brick building with #s corbelled cornice currently serves as
home 1o the Caroline Historical Society.

Because these government buildings are located within the town of Bowling Green which has
been previously surveyed, and because of the limited scope of this survey project, neither the
courthouse nor jail were included in the present survey.

# Campbelt, p. 399,

# Ralpk Falt, Hisurical Rovords of Bowding Green, ¥irgiuis, p. 3.

* Jim Patsen gives & ¢, 1833-35 completion date of construstion for the sourthouse based upna 2 Virgiie Herald sccount
{September 1833} of the dewth of 3 voung workmmn who fell from G roof "of the new courthouss”.

* Cnlder Loth, ed., The Yirgints Landrearks Begivter, p. 76,
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THEME: Education
RESOURCE TYPE: Academy, School

According to Campbell’s history of the county, primary education was a much neglected function
of the Church in colonial Carcline. Although the duties of the reciors included teaching as well
as preaching, many of the ministers hired assistants 10 teach for them or abandoned the task
altogether.” One of the county’s most distinguished teachers in colonial times was Joseph De
Jarnette, who was “hired” as a teacher by the rector of St Margaret’s Parish, but was not actually
paid by him. In order to continue teaching for a living, De Jarnette charged fees to his students
who could pay, while at the same time taking in “apprentices” who were unable to pay, but could
till his land when not in the classroom. In this manner, many of the less well-fo-do country boys
were provided a good education and the literacy rate in the county continued 1o increase.

Many of the plantations of the county have small one- or two-rpom schoo! houses, such as those
found at Belle Hill (16-48), Glamorgan (16-10), Southbrook {(16-243, and Mulberry Place (16-
35). There is little evidence to indicate that these buildings were used by anyone other than the
children of the well-to-do owners of the plantation. However, at least one school house for the
workers” children is documented as early a8 1787, This school house, located on the land of
"King" Carter’s heirs between Port Royal and Bowling Green, was, according to Campbell’s
research, a free school for children of the overseer and nearby frecholders. ™

Edge Hill, located on Route 632 near Guinea and listed on the National Register of Historic
Places, consists of a house and academy building, The academy, called Edge Hill Academy was
founded by Samuel Schooler in 1851-52, and the school building was erected In 1857, Schooler,
a graduate of the University of Virginia in 1846 became a famous Caroline County educator.
The academy building stands in a field west of the house. Because it is lsted on the National
Register, Edge Hill Academy was not actually surveyed as part of this project.

The Rappahannock Academy, originally located on a large tract of land around the present day
Rappahannock Academy intersection, was founded as a boys school in the early Nineteenth
century. Although portions of the large tract of land were sold over the vears, the boys school
survived into the twentieth century. At least me sahwi bm émg mciadmg a one~-room frame
schoolhouse built in 1870 and pictured in Carpline £ ! vy, were historically
associated with the Academy. However, because Ra;};:séézwmck Mdé@my was outside the survey
area, no historic resources were surveyed,

* Cwropbell, p. 441-2.

# Campbell, p. 442,
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The education of Caroline County’s residents relied heavily upon these private academies and
one-room schoothouses throughout the nincteenth century when few funds were available for
public education. In the period around the Civil War any money allotted to public education was
diverted for military use, and few able-bodied people were available o teach. This trend of
insufficient school financing continued to plague the county until the twenticth century.

By the early twentieth century, dissatisfied Caroline County residents began to build their own
high schools o serve the local communities. These high schools include, Lee-Maury High
School in Bowling Green, Edmund Pendleton High School at Doggetts Fork, Mica High School
in Port Royal, Sparta High School in Sparta, and Chesterfield Junior High School in the Ruther
Glen and McDufl communities,  Of these scheols Edmund Pendleton High School and the Sparta
High School were surveyed. The Lee-Maury High School, built in 1913, has been demolished.

Figure 28 Historic View of Sparta High School, (Caroline County: A Pictorial History.
Mary Tod Haley, p. 54

The original Mica High School building burned in the 1920s,
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Known as the oldest high school in the county, Sparta High School (16-90) was planned in 1908
when a group of rural residents met at Salem Church to consider establishing a commumity high
school® The residents actually erected the building itself, furnished the inside, and presented it
as a gift to the school board in 1909, In 1913, the school enrollment had grown so significantly
from its opening four years previously, that the school board added two rooms to the rear of the
structure. The building, a two-story square-shaped structure with a central cupola and bell tower
burned in 1917 (Figure 28). A new twelve-room school building. erected on s site and
completed in 1919, functions today as an apartment complex,

Originally named Doggetts Fork, Edmund Pendleton High School (16-136) was established at
Doggett’s Fork in 1914, The name was changed to Reedy Church High School, and then o
Edmund Pendleton High School in honor of one of Caroline County’s most distinguished
natives.™  Upon its opening, the schoo! had four teachers and a small envollment, but within
seven years the number of faculty had doubled and the enrollment increased 1o 200

Two vacant school buildings, both long and narrow structures, make up the property today. The
first structure is 3 one-story, hipped roof schoo! building with a concrete foundation. Long,
narrow window openings pierce the front and rear elevation. A covered entry is slightly off-
center. The second structure 15 a smaller, one-story building with a gable roof. A central
recessed entryway holds two single doors. Both doors open into separate one-room classrooms.
Smaller school structures serving small communities were also surveyed. One such school,
located on the east side of Route 664 about one mile from Wrights Corner, is now a private
residence.  This school building (16-235} is a one-story frame structure with a hipped roof. A
recessed porch shelters two individual entryways--each one presumably opened onto separate
classroom spaces.

“ Msry Tod Haley, Camdine Conty

* Camphell, p. 1660
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THEME: Military/Defense
RESOURCE TYPE: Military facilities, military headquarters, military shrine
The Civil War

Although no major battle was actually fought in Caroline County during the Civil War, the area
was in close proximity to some of the war’s most important battles, including the Battle of
Fredericksburg and the Battle of Chanceliorsville, and was the scene of many related military
activities. Bowling Green and Sparta were training grounds for the county’s more than 1,000
resident troops, while plamtations such as Moss Neck {16-18) served as headguarters for
Stonewall Jackson, and Chestnut Valley provided quarters for officers of the Confederate Army,
Only sporadic raids inland and random shelling from northern vessels on the Rappahannock River
plagued Caroline County in the early years of the war, Following the Battle of the Wilderness in
May 1864, however, Caroline County saw an increase in military activity as General Grant, on
his move to Richmond, tried o outflank General Lee. In response to Grant’s movements into the
county, General Lee initially thought of making a stand along the Mattaponi. Caroline residents
immediately began to build earthworks and fortifications along the high banks of the river.
According to Campbell, "Lee abandoned his plan and decided to fall back on the North Anna and
try to hold the Charlottesville Railroad (now Chesapeake and Chio) vital to the Confederate cause
since it brought food to the Confederate Army from the Shenandosh Valley”. The execution of
this latter plan saved Caroline County from the ravages of war, as it primarily became a holding
operation. Grant was compelled to use force only when clearing lines of communication,
advance and supply. At this point, Port Royal was seized by Northern troops so that the United
States Government could send supplies to Grant’s forces by ship.

On May 21, 22, and 23 Northern troops pushed the Confederates south along Telegraph Road,
and on the night of May 23, seized the North Anna Railroad bridge. This final push forced
General Lee out of Caroline County entirely and left Grant’s Army in command of the region.
General Grant’s control of the county was carried out from his headquarters at Bethel Church
{16-74} in Paige.

Extant buildings most directly associated with the Civil War in Caroline County include the
Stonewall Jackson Shrine, Moss Neck Plantation, and the Garrett Farm. The Stonewall Jackson
Shrine at Fairfield (16-92), located on the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Rallroad
northeast of Route 606 near Guinea, is the most notable property associated with the Civil War,
This one-story frame building, once part of Fairfield Plantation, is now a National Park Service
Site commemorating the death of General Stonewall Jackson. Jackson was wounded following
one of his "most brilliant maneuvers” during the Battle of Chancellorsville on May 2, 1863 when
he was mistakenly shot by his own men. Confederate Army General Lee decided o place
Jackson well behind friendly lines so that he could recuperate. Lee selecied Fairficld plantation
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at Guinea Station because of its proximity to the railroad to Richmond and its familiarity to
Jackson (Jackson’s headquarters had formerly been at Moss Neck Plantation),

The Stonewall Jackson shrine is the plantation office bullding chosen for Jackson’s recuperation,
and the building where Jackson spent the last six days of his life (Figure 29). The office was one
of several outhuildings at Thomas Chandler’s Fairfield, and it is the only remaining building
today. The office is a one-story frame structure with a gable roof. The interior space is divided
inte four small rooms: an entrance hall and small room or vestibule off of the front porch; the
“waiting room” where Jackson’s doctors and staff officers worked and relaxed during Jackson's
stay: and the "death room.” The death room, unfurnished prior to Jackson's arrival, was
equipped with a bed and clock by the Chandlers who were hoping to make the room cheerful for
the General. It was in this bed on Sunday May 10, 1863 that Jackson spoke his last words as

noted by Dr. McGuire:

"& few moments before he died he cried out in his delirium,
*‘Order AP, Hill to prepare for action! pass the infantry

to the front rapidly! tell Major Hawks’--then stopped, leaving
the sentence unfinished. Presently a smile of ineffable
sweetness spread itself over his pale face, and he said quietly,
and with an expression, as if of relief, “Let us cross over

the river, and rest under the shade of trees.”"®

Jackson died of preumonia at 3:15 Sunday morning.

Moss Neck Plantation (16-18) discussed in the domestic theme of this ext, is also related 1o
Stonewall Jackson and the Civil War, In the winter of 1863 when Jackson decided o go info
winter quarters, Colonel Corbin offered the General his mansion at Moss Neck. Jackson
apparently declined the offer, being unwilling o lnxuriate in the comforts of a house while his
men were tattered and living in tents. Because of the cold weather, however, Jackson tock i,
and was forced by his doctor, Dr. McGuire, to take shelter in an office building which stood in
the yard of the mansion.*® Neither this office building, or any other owtbuildings 1w the mansion
were identified as part of this survey.

Tangentially related to the Civil War is the Garrett farm where John Wilkes Booth was shot
following his assassination of Abraham Lincoln. The story goes that on April 24th, ten days
after Booth's assassination of Lincoln, Booth and his accomplice Davie Herold entered Carnline
County. Having traversed the Rappahannock River by ferry to Port Royal, Booth was then left

# Srsnewall Jackson Shrine”, brochues, Mations! Park Service, 1.8, Departisnt of the Tnterior.

* Winglicld, p. 264,
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at the residence of Richard H. Garrett, claiming to be a wounded Confederate soldier. The
following day Herold came to join Booth at the farm as did a troop of Federal cavalry in search
of the assassing. Becoming suspicious, Garrett sent the two away. They sought shelter in the
woods behind the house, but at nightfall approached the house and pleaded for shelter. One of
Garrett’s sons consented 1o let them use a tobacco barn on the farm. The U.S. cavalrymen
learned the whereabouts of Booth that same evening, and arrived at Garrett’s home at 2:00 in the
morning. They surrounded the barn and warned the assassins to surrender. Herold surrendered
himself just before the calvarymen set fire to the barn. The conflagration started to engulf the
barn with Booth inside. Upon his attempted cscape from the flames, he was shot through the
neck., The Garrett house is no longer standing, and therefore was not surveyed as part of this
project,

Figure 29 Rendering of Stonewall Jackson’s Arrival in Guinea in a
Confederate Ambulance, painted by Sidney E. King.

Camp Fort AP, Hill

In March 1941 the United States War Department announced its intention of securing a tract of
approximately 110,000 acres in Caroline County for use as a mancuvering and training area.
The commanding general in charge of the take-over indicated that residents and landowners
would be fairly compensated for thelr property. First estimates determined that 846 families, or
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3,566 people, including 500 farms, as well g5 scheols, churches, and cemeteries were inchuded in
the area desired by the Army. In April, the War Department announced that a smaller tract of
70,000 acres would be immediately acquired with the remainder to be taken by September. The
short notice given to landowners by the Army made it necessary (o set-up a temporary facility in
Bowling Green to accommeodate the displaced residents, Pre-fabricated houses were built in
Milford to house the "evicted” land owners.

Camp AP, Hill continues to be used for {raining today by the Army, the Army Reserve, the
National Guard units and by Navy, Marine and Special Forces personnel. The area has basically
been stripped of its historic resources. Only one resource, Liberty Church, was identified and
recorded in the Camp AP, Hill boundaries as part of this survey.
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THEME; Religion
RESOURCE TYPE: Church, Meetinghouse

Prior to the organization of Carcline County in 1727, the land within the county had been divided
into three official parishes of the Church of England (Figure 30). Each parish was governed by a
vestry consisting of twelve men appointed by the governor. These men were usually the leading

planters and landowners in the county, and were impassioned in their allegiance o the established

church, The "leading planters not only served on, and indeed all but controlied the vesiries, but
they built the churches. ¥
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Figure 30 Map of the "Churches of Colonial Period, Carcline County. (Colonial
Carcline: A History of Caroling County, Virginia, T.E. Campbell, p. 430).

“ Louis D. Rubin, Jr., ¥irginia A History, p. 36,
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St. Mary's Parish was organized before 1700, and encompassed the avea between the Mattapony-
Rappahanock watershed and the Rappahannock River. This area was originally part of, and
remained completely, in Caroline County. The congregations of St. Mary’s Parish consisted of
the most powerful landholders and planters in the county who had received their land grants and
political appointments from the Crown. Consequently, dissention in St. Mary’s Parish was
limited, as the landowners maintained their allegiance 1o the Church of England. The carliest
church in the county was constructed in St. Mary’s Parish prior to 1700, Anocther church,
erecied ca. 1748-50 was known as the "the venerable Mount Church on Mount Hill overlooking
the Rappahannock.**

MNear Rappshannock Academy post office may be seen the beautiful site of old
Mount church, which was one of the largest and most beautiful churches in
Wirginia in that day, and which contained a fine organ imported from England, an
unusual thing in Virginia at that time. Just when Mount church was erected, or
what churches preceded it cannot be definitely ascertained, but it is guite certain
that it was one of the first, if not the first church established in 8t, Mary’s Parish
and it was undoubtedly intended to serve the whole of 5t. Mary’s since It stood
near the center of the parish. After the Revolutionary War, with the social,
political, and religious revolution which followed it, Mount church fell into disuse
and was afterward appropriated by the State and given over {0 school purposes,
becoming the Rappahannock Academy .

Drysdale Parish was established in 1722, and extended from Spotsyivania County in the north ©
the central portion of King William County to the south, The parish was originally a "long, #ll-
shaped parish® known for poor roadways and difficult transportation.® In 1780, this parish was
split and a new parish, St. Asaph’s, was formed which was completely within the bounds of
Caroline County. Drysdale Parish continued to be divided between Caroline, and King and
Queen counties, Three early churches appear 1o have been built in Drysdale Parish: Joy or Joy
Creek Church built prior to 1727; Ivy Church located near Sparta, built in the late 1740s; and
Creek Church northeast of Bowling Green was built in the early 1760s. Creek Church became
the principal church in 8. Asaph’s Parish when it was established. The community in Drysdale
Parish was ambivalent towards the established church and towards the "new faiths” in general.
Robert Beverley, the historian, lived in Drysdale Parish and had a strong influence on persuading

# Camapheil, p. 431,
# Wingfield, p. 293,

¥ Wingfiald, p. 222,
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people to move to the parish. He fiercely maintained that “a strong church was an agency of the
rich to oppress the poor.”™

In 1720, 5t. Margaret’s Parish was established; it included the area from the tip of King William
to the Caroling-Spotsylvania line, In 1742, the King William portion formed a new parish and
the remainder of the 5t. Margarets parish was located in Caroline County, Chesterfield Church
constructed in 1720, was the first known church in St Margarets Parish, located between Carmel
and Ruther Glen. By 1740, two other churches were constructed in the parish: Bull Church and
Reedy Church. Campbell notes that the ruins of Bull Church are located on the north side of the
read leading eastward from Ladysmith.™ St Margarets Parish was the seat of religious unrest

in the county. The majority of Quakers who moved to Caroling County lived in §t. Margarets
Parish, and their first meeting house was located near Golansville.

Only foundations remain from the eighieenth-century churches in Carpline County. Local
histories describe the properties of several church ruins scattered throughout the county.
Different road names and new roads make these very difficult to locate today. Mount Church in
St. Mary’s Parish certainly was one of the county’s most significant structures, as several good
descriptions remain “of the largest and most beautiful church in Virginia, *®

Prior to the Revolutionary War religious doctrines in Caroline County were established by the
Church of England. While the religious practices of the earlicst settlers were based on the
principles of the Anglican matriarch church, attitudes towards religion were considerably more
wolerant and localized in Caroline County. Not only did the early settlers resent any attempts o
restrain their personal freedoms and choices, but they were guided by the English Act of
Toleration which strengthened their resolve to accept other religious practices. Consequently, the
strict established laws governing worship and religious practices were contimually broken, and the
fist of violations in Caroline County was long.

Few religious structures of the established church remain in Caroline County. After the
Revolutionary War and the social, political, and religious uprising which followed the war many
of the Episcopal church structures were abandoned and pillaged.  According 1o historian W. W,
Scott: "Churches were actually and literally destroyed, the very bricks carried off and the altar
pieces torn from the altar and attached o pleces of household furniture . . . MNor did the

% Campbell, p. 102,
% Carpbell, p. 100

* Winglheld, p. 293,
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despoilers overlook the churchyards when the work of destruction began, Tombstones were
broken down and carried off to be appropriated to unhallowed uses.”™

Grace Episcopal Church (16-11) is one of the oldest surviving Episcopal churches in the county
{Figure 31}. Located at the intersection of Route 2 and Route 610 the brick, Greck Revival
church dates to the 1830s. The church was built by three important Carcline County families:
William 1. Dickensen of "Chestrt Valley”, Samuel Gordon of "Santee” and Willlam Penn
Taylor of "Hayfleld."™ The strong front gable pediment with lunette window, plain fascia
board with molding, and a boxed cornice tops the flat brick facades. The central, double-leaf
paneled door is slightly recessed, and topped by a 6/6 sash balcony window with sidelights.
During the Civil War the church served as g hospital, and reportedly at one time as the
headguarters of General Robert Rodes of Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia.™ Although
presently vacant, the church retaing much of its original character and charm,

Originally known as St. Margaret's Episcopal Church {(16-256) the frame structure is now used
as the Cardinal Baptist Church {(Figure 32). St. Margaret's is a unique, undisturbed example of a
frame parish church, nestled along Route 652 in Ruther Glen. The interior detailing and wood
moldings are superior. Interior trusses, support the slate roof, and form central Gothic crosses
above the main aisle of the church, The altar is framed by wood, molded panels with three
crosses carved in the panels. The gable roof of the projecting vestibule echoes the gable in the
main struciure.  Pointed gothic windows and transom lend a picturesque quality to the design,

When Thomas Jefferson became governor in 1779, he quickly proposed 2 "Statute for Religious
Freedom," which declared that no person should be required 1o support or attend a church or be
punished or fined for his religious beliefs. He declared that:

“all men shall be free to profess, and by argument to maintain, their opinions in
matters of religion, without their civil capacities being in any way affected.”™

Thomas Jefferson and James Madison encouraged legislature to repeal the laws requiring
attenlance at the established church, and forbidding different religious practices,

The Quakers, Presbyterians, Methodists and Baptists were the first organized dissenters in
Caroline County. Each group appeared during the mid-io-late Eighteenth century, and exerted a

* Wingfield, p. 194,
# “Cyrace Episeopal Church.” from the Rappabsnnock Librry Vertival Filos, ¥Virginian Room.
* “Crace Eplacopal Church.” from the Rappabsnnock Library Yertical Files, Virginian Room,

¥ Rubin, p. 59,
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Figure 31 Photograph of Grace Episcopal Church (16-11), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

strong and solid influence on the religious composition of the county. The appointment of
Willlam Gooch, an ardent Presbyterian, as governor of the county in 1727, had a strong impact
on the county’s tlerance of other religious groups, The landowners and ruling class continued
their strong allegiance 10 the established church and continually petitioned the governor to stem
the tide of religivus dissent in the county.

The Quakers were attracted o the area because Governor Gooch, having no strong allegiance for
the established church agreed w waive payments of parish levies for the Quakers. For the most
part, the early Quaker settlers lived in 5t. Margarets Parish and worshipped at 2 meeting house g
Golansville constructed by 18353, By the 1850s, most of the Quakers had left the area because of
their opposition to slavery, No remains of the Quakers’ early meeting houses in the county were
located during the survey,

The Presbyterians were not only tolerated but welcomed to the county during Gooch's tenure,
Rather than punish Presbyterian dissenters for conducting services in their own homes, and
interpreting the Bible, Gooch allowed them o establish their own assemblies. Gooch granted a
request in 1748 by Samuel Davies o form a congregation, which was established "near the Reeds
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Figure 32 Photograph of 8t Margaret’s Episcopal Church {Cardinal Baptist Church), (16-
2563; (Jeff Brodghill, PMA, 1991.)

somewhere west of the site of Point Eastern.”® The Manual of the East Hanover Presbytery
recorded that "an organization was effected at Bowling Green and the congregation so formed
called Caroling Presbyterian Church in 1855,°%

The Baptists appeared as early as 1744, and became the largest group of dissenters in the county,
County court records Hst Danisl Stover as the first Baptist in the county.  Stover came o court (o
reclaim a stolen horse and vefused to take an oath on religious grounds. The court upon review
of the case decided that he had the same rights as a Quaker, whose religious principles they had
accommaodated in court previously,

* Campbel, p. 95,

* Wingheld, p. 302,
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The Salem Baptist Church was organized as an outgrowth of the Great Baptist Revival which
swept across Virginia in 1788, This throng of Baptists met locally between Tuckahoe, Upper
King and Queen counties. Caroline County residents found the distances too great to regularly
attend these meetings. Consequently, the Salem Baptist Church {16-91) was organized in 1802,
and the present church was erected in the early 1820s. The brick church has had several
additions, inchuding the pedimented porch. The Roman Revival porch with four brick, Doric
columns covered with stucco are raised on large bases. The tympanum consists of vertical
beaded boards with the painted inscription "Salem Baptist Church.”

Dating from the 1820s, Grace Baptist Church (16-159) is a modestly detailed frame church with
later Gothic pointed-arched windows (Figure 33), Two single entry doors flank a central arched
window. The projecting portico appears to have been added as the steep pitch of the main
structure does not match that of the portico.

The present Carmel Baptist Church building (16-187) dates to 1876. The church burned in 1836
and 1874, and was rebuilt in 1876 around the original foundations and walls. A steeply pitched,
gabled pediment marks the entry to the church. Adjacent to Polecat Creek, the church was
founded in 1773 by 5. Harris and J. Reed and was known as Polecat Church. A Baptist
memorial on the property was erected in 1922, to "Bartholemew Chewning, Lewis Craig,
Edward Herndon, John Young, John Burrus and James Goodrich who by order of the court, 151
years ago were imprisoned in the Caroline County jail near this spot, on the charge of teaching
and preaching the gospel without having Episcopal ordination or lHeense from the general

court, "% ‘

® Wingfield, p. 324,

® From the Memorial Marker at Carmel Baptist Church, dated 1771-1922.
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Figure 33 Photograph of Grace Baptist Church (16-159), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991

The Liberty Baptist Church, {16-69) organized in 1796, was one of the earliest Baptist churches
organized in the county (Figure 34). The church currently serves as the Post Chapel for Camp
A.P. Hill, and sits in a sylvan, undisturbed quadrant of the army base. Constructed in 1850, the
brick church has been preserved with much of its interior intact. The exterior bricks are
unusually large, and the mortar is struck with an incline which allows for a very distinct reading
of the brick. Exterior detail is limited on the main southern elevation to paired, double-leaf Brtry
doors with transoms, and two /8 sash windows. Three, large symmetrically placed windows
pierce the side elevations. The first-story 12/12 sash windows and the second-story 8/8 sash
windows are separated by wooden recessed panels.
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Figure 34 Photograph of Liberty Baptist Church {16-69), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Concord Baptist Church (16-233) is located near Dawn in the southern portion of the county.
Organized in 1841, the present Greek Revival Church was built in 1857, and has scored stucco
surfaces, and a three-bay, pedimented porch with brick, stuccoed columns. When the church was
organized it had a predominantly white congregation, but by 1859 the church had 262 black
members and 86 white members.®

The present Bethel Baptist Church (16-74) was constructed in 1858, in the village of Paige
(Figure 35). Organized as early as 1800, and re-organized in 1841, the church’s history is well
documented through church records and personal accounts. The diary of Edwin Ruthven
Coghill, a sergeant in the Civil War states that: "During our stay at or near Taylorsville, T went
home on a short leave of absence, and while there attended the funeral of General Thomas 1.
(Stonewally Jackson, preached by the Reverend Thomas Moore at Bethel Church.®

® Wingfield, p. 322,

# Rappabannock Library, Virginian Koom, Yertical Files.
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According o church records “nearly $4,000 was raised and expended in the erection of the new
church."® Bethel Church is similar in scale, materials and detailing to both Liberty Church and
Grace Episcopal Church. The elegantly and symmetrically proportioned main elevation is
centered by a double-leaf door and a 6/6 sash window with sash side-lights on the second floor.
The gable on the north end is enframed to form a pediment. Louvered shutters cover the large
9/9 sash windows on the side elevations. The brickwork suggests a diagonal pattern on all the

# Clary, Amos. "Buthel Baptist Church, Caroline Cownty, Yirginia,” from the Yertios] Files of the Caroline County Hisorical
Bociety.
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glevations. A twentieth-century, one-story gabled addition sits to the west of the main structure.

The picturesgue Mount Hermon Church (16-181) was constructed in 1872, and remains an active
Baptist church in the county {Figure 36). Many local histories explain the selection of the name
for the church. Mount Hermon was organized at the same time a nearby black congregation was
forming, and the name of the church originates from Psalm 89:12, which reads: “The north and
South thou hast created them; Tabor and Hermon shall rejoice in thy name.” Consequently, the
black church chose the name Tabor and the white congregation became known as Hermon® A
projecting, steeply pitched gable roof forms the porch. The porch is supported by four attenuated
wooden Doric columns with segmental arches between the colummns, Two pointed-arched
windows flank a central, double-leaf entry door with a pointed-arch transom. To the rear of the
original structure is a one-story, gabled wing, added sometime in the twentieth century.

Figure 36 Photograph of Mount Hermon Church (16-181), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Although Mount Horeb Baptist Church has been abandoned, and is presently threatened by the
elements, it has an important history as one of the earliest Baptist churches organized in the

* Winglield, p. 318,
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county., Organized as Reed’s Church in 1773, the congregation met in several structures until the
present church was built in 1890, The frame church is modest in scale and the exterior
ornamentation is Hmited. A one-story projecting gable vestibule with a segmental-arched

church. A gabled roof with tin shingles is topped by a wedged-shaped bell tower. Although, the
interior is exposed, and much of the ornamentation has been removed, an interesting detall has
survived intact: the apse end of the church has been angled creating a sense of depth perspective.

The County Line Baptist Church (16-63) was organized in 1874, and sits near the county lines of
Spotsylvania and Caroline. The County Line congregation sold its original church in the 1840s
and rebuilt the present church in the 1850s. A two-story entry porch with massive stuccoed
columns marks the entry to the church,

The original congregation of Mount Tabor Baptist Church (16-300) was part of Mount Horeb
Church. The history of Mount Tabor dates to 1872, when the colored members were "given
letters and constituted themselves into a church known as Mount Tabor, "™ Mount Tabor’s
history s also closely associated with Mount Hermon’s as the two churches jointly selected their
names from the Psalm 8912 (see Mount Hermon Baptist Church.) The present Mount Tabor
Church was constructed in 1899, The entry vestibule of the church is square in plan with a gable
roof, surmounied by a tower with conical roof. The roof of the tower is pressed tin topped by a
finial, with round vents in the tower walls, Pointed arched, 4/4 sash windows puncluate the side
glevations. A pointed arched transom sits above the double paneled wood entry. Two smaller,
pointed arch windows flank the central doorway.

Three twentieth-century Baptist churches; 5t. Luke’s Church (16-193), Zion Grove Church (16
216} and Oxford Mount Zion Baptist Church {16-235) are similar in detall and massing. Each
church has pointed-arched windows and a square bell tower.

The names of the early Methodists in Caroline County is a prestigious list of leading residents.
The Methodists first organized in the county during the Iate eighteenth century, and constructed a
meeting house on the property of William Wright by the end of the eighteenth century, In 1870,
the Methodists organized a circuit of seven churches which were serviced by one pastor twice a
month. The Rev. D.G.C. Butts gave his first service as a Methodist in Caroline County and
recalls in his autoblography:

The fathers who laid the foundations of Methodism in Caroline, laid them broad
and deep and strong. Notwithstanding the Baptists had been in the county for
vears before the pioneers of Methodism arrived and had their congregations
comiortably housed in commodious brick buildings at central points, yet these
earty circuit riders succeeded in reaching some of the finest material in all that

“ Wingfidd, p. 331,
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region, and brought into the Methodist fold as fine a band of converts, socially,
intellectually, and spiritually as could be found anywhere in the commonweslth of
Virginia.” Three Methodist churches were surveyed in Caroline County.

Mount Vernon Methodist Church (16-175) was constructed in the early 18803, and
was part of the original Methodist circuit in Caroline County. The name
"Wernon” apparently came from James Thomas, a Caroline County resident,
whose plantation was named Vernon.® The front gable and return cornice
anchors the austere brick facade. The double-leaf entry door with semi-circular
transom, and the semi-circular recessed panel within the front gable provide the
modest ornamentation on the church. Large, 12/12 sash windows are paired on
the side elevations. In 1986, 3 one-story wing was added 1o the rear of the
church,

The Bethel United Methodist Church (16-231) was constructed in 1834, in the vicinity of Dawn.
Two 6/6 sash windows on the second floor are placed directly above two first-floor entries each
with double-leaf doors. The pedimented porch has two interior Doric columns and two massive
end rectangular piers. The tympanum is finished with stucco, and holds a triangular wood panel
with "Bethel, 1854 emblazoned on the panel. Wood brackets support the pediment rather than
pilasters. Two large additions have been added to the rear of the church.

Sited at the intersection of Routes 606 and 607, the Hopewell United Methodist Church was
constructed in the 1860s, The front gable elevation is detailed with 2 single, round-arched
stained-glass window. A sguare tower and steeple project (o one side of the main elevation, and
dominate the facade. A projecting, gabled porch shiclds the main double-eniry.  An engaged
portico with trisngular pediment supported by fluted pilasters surrounds the doorway. The
windows along the side elevation are 1/1 sash with Crafismen panes framing each sash. The
Hopewell Methodist Parsonage is located in Old Guinea on Route 755, Built in the early 19203,
the Craftsmen Cottage style dwelling is surrounded by large maple trees.

{Catholics began to migrate to Caroline County in the early twentieth century. They first settled
in the areas around Guinea, Woodford and Milford, and were industrious, hard-working and
respected members of the community. 81, Mary’s Catholic Church (16-217) is located near
Woodford, and is the only Catholic Church in the survey. Constructed in 1913, the church was
dedicated in honor of the "Annunciation of Mary the Mother of cur Savior."® The small,
frame church has an over-hanging roof with exposed rafters with scalloped ends. A one-story

¥ Wingfield, p. 297,
# Yirginia Histocie Lamtmarks Commission Survey Foro,

*® Wingfield, p. 303.
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porch with gable roof is supported by square, fluted columns, Rectangular, 1/1 sash windows
flank the main entrance, and run the length of the side elevations,

Nineteen churches were surveyed as part of this Caroline County survey. The churches were
constructed between 1820 and 1922, and represent all religious denominations in Caroline
County. The dominant religious affiliation in the county by far is the Baptist church. During the
twentieth century many institutions originally housing another religion have been converted to
Baptist churches.
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THEME: Transportation/Communication
RESQURCE TYPE: Ferries, Roads, Railroad stations, Engincer houses

Rivers, Ferries and Roads

Blessed with navigable rivers and fertile soil, Caroline County emerged early on as a profitable
agricultural area with important trading centers located at Port Roval on the Rappahannock, and
inland at varions crossroads. Most of the early colonial planters of the county concentrated their
farming around the Rappahannock River in order to trade directly with England or the West
Indies. 5ingle-masted sloops carrving lumber and tobacco were not a rare sight on the river in
the mid-Seventeenth century, and by 1670 several saw mills were being built along the river’s
edge. Taking advantage of the increased number of ships using the Rappahamneck for trade,
early entreprencurs opened chartered™ tobacco warehouses. Roy’s Warchouse and Conway's
Warehouse, both located on the south bank of the Rappahannock River, opened in the early
Eighteenth century. These developments further encouraged trade and ship traffic, so that the
harbor around Roy’s Warchouse soon became the most important one along the length of the
Rappahannock in the area comprising Caroline County .

Although most of the river trade was direct with England or the West Indies, trade with
neighboring counties was also important to the growth of Caroline. Ferry crossings over the
Rappahanmock were a vital link with the land on the north side of the river. The first known
documented ferry was established in 1732, between Moss Neck and a plantation north of the
river. This ferry was shortlived, however; a Caroline land owner between Moss Neck and the
river blocked the road leading 1o Moss Neck because he was opposed to the expansion of
commerce and trade in the area. The next ferry, set up in 1734, linked Roy’s Warchouse with
Gibson’s landing across the river, while two vears later another ferry was set up between
Conway's Warehouse in Carcline with Berry’s Plantation in King George,

Transporting goods and people across the river was only one aspect of the transportation
network, however., In order for the goods to reach the ferries and other ferminus, roads had o
be built linking the trade centers with the plantations which were moving further and further
inland. In an effort to accomplish the daunting task, Caroline magistrates undertook a road
building program in the carly 1730s. This program involved constructing three types of public
roads: bridle paths for riders on horseback; cart roads for horse-drawn vehicles; and rolling roads

* 4 chartered warehouse was & wirehouse where tohscon wag graded and taxeid befiore it was shippad shroad.
* Campbell, p. 106,

* Cosrpall, p. 107,
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for rolling hogsheads packed with tobacco and usually propelled by oxen hitched to an axle
driven through the center. ™

The first major undertaking, completed in 1732, was a rolling road which began at the
Spotsylvania line and continued across the Mattaponi at Guinney's Bridge to Conway’s
Warehouse on the Rappahannock., This road greatly facilitated the transport of tobacco which
had previously been accomplished by floating the goods down the serpenting Mattapony. The
Three Notch Road, built in 1730, caused political rumblings and merchant rivalries since the road
actually bypassed Roy’s Warchouse in order to channel goods directly o the competing
Conway’s Warchouse. Shortly after this, however, Chesterficld (Ruther Glen) residents
petitioned the county to provide another rolling road leading from their trading center to the
Rappahannock., The course for this important road was established from Chesterfield 1o the
Mattapony at Doguetown {(Milford) 1o Roy’s Warchouse on the Rappabannock.™ Merchant
rivalries did not end there, however, as Francis Conway began to map out an elaborate system of
roads leading inland to his warehouse on the Rappshannock. On paper, the road was © run from
Cook’s ford across the Morth Anna River o the Spotsyivania line 10 Woodford Bridge and along
the north bank of the stream to Guinney’s Bridge where ¥t joined the existing road leading to his
warehouse. Although approved by the magistrates, only a portion of the road was built before it
was sbandoned at the death of Francis Conway in 17337

Another important road development in the colonial period was the Stage Coach Road which
passed through the entire county from north 1o south. The stagecoach enterprise began in the
county in 1742 when an English immigrant, Head Lynch, secured the right to establish such a
fine and to carry mail throughout the county. The road, Iater called the Bowling Green-Hanover
Highway, had stage coaches travelling it on a fixed schedule and was dotted with taverns at
intervals of five to ten miles.”™ The stagecoaches travelling the line were four-wheeled carriages
drawn by four horses and accommodated as many as fifteen persons. The road which ran stages
from Bowling Green to Petersburg and Portsmouth was an important corridor linking north to
south and was used by many prominent men including George Washington, John Penn, General
LaFayette and many others. The stage road continued to be serviced by coaches a5 late as 1846,
until the extension of the railroad through Caroline County effectively rendered it obsolete.”

 Campbel], p. 78
* Camphell, p 77,
* Campbedl, p 78,
* Wingfisld, p. 31.
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Figure 37 Map of the “Trade Routes 1730-1781 in Caroline County.”, (Colonial
Caroline: A History of Caroline County, Virginia, T.E. Campbell, p. 430).

According to Campbell’s research into court records, the building of mumerous cart roads
throughout the county took place simultaneously with the construction of rolling roads. In 1736
the court ordered road supervisors to put up markers at intersections to indicate distances and
divections. This development, concludes Campbell, indicates “that all sections of the county were
well knit by a network of public thoroughfares™” (Figure 37).

The many rivers and their tributaries, the merchant rivalries, and the geographically dispersed
commercial centers of the county, undoubtedly contributed to the complex organization of roads
still existing in Caroline County today. Although bisected today by the major traffic arteries of

* Camphadl, p. 79,
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Route 301 and Route 207, many of the smaller roads still wind throughout the county, connecting
the various historic points of trade and contact.

Mo ferries, tobacco warchouses or roads were surveyed as part of this project.
Railroad

Organized in 1834, the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Ratlroad was formed as a "grand
trunk” line connecting the transportation lines of the North with the South.™ The railroad.

which evenually passed through Caroline County, opened its first line in the county on February
5, 1836, This first twenty mile segment of the railroad was called the North Anna line and
offered train service from Richmond to the North Anna River. Five other segments of the
railroad were opened in Careline County by the end of 1836, and by January 1837 the line had
reached Fredericksburg ®

Although the railroad line had as many as thirteen station stops in Caroling County in the 1920s,
only five stations originally served the area. These stations, listed from south to north, include
Chesterficld Station {Ruther Glen), Polecat Station (Penola), Milford, Woodslane (Woodiord),
and Guinea., Examination of current and historic maps indicates that the railroad line did not ke
the most direct route from Fredericksburg to Richmond, but instead cut back and forth across the
county, almost in an effort to reach the stations named above. This is particularly apparent in the
case of Penola where the wacks definitely deviate from 4 straight line between Milford and
Chesterfield, in order to attain Penola,

in 1971 AMTRAK became responsible for all of the rail passenger service throughout the
country.  Although no station stops survive in the county some of the station buildings remain
alongside the wracks, and traing still pass through carrving passengers and freight cars through the
county (o points north and south. Architectural remnants of the railroad were identified and
surveyed in three of the five railroad towns, The passenger depots at Guinea, Penola and Ruther
Glen have been demolished, and only the freight depots remain in Woodford and Milford, Two
dwellings owned by the railroad still survive on either side of the tracks in Penola.

The freight depots in Woodford (16-222) and Milford (16-306) are similar in size and shape
{Figures 38 and 33). They are both late nineteenth-century structures located adjacent w the
raifroad in the heart of town. Both are long, rectangular-shaped buildings with wide overhanging
gable roofs providing protection to the service bays of the building. The depot in Woodford is
covered with board and batten siding and pierced by rectangular openings, now boarded up. The

® Winglicld, p. 34,

® Union Bank & T Company, The Fies Seventy Yoars, p. 6%,
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Figure 38 Photograph of Woodford Freight Depot (16-222), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991)

depot in Milford has small 6/6 sash window openings along one side and freight bay doors along
the other. Both depots stand vacant and neglected,

While the freight and passenger stations al Penola no longer exist, two dwellings owned by the
railroad flank the tracks today. These dwellings, properties 16-297 and 16-298, probably
inhabited at one time by R F & P engineers, are now rented to individuals not associated with the
raifroad. Originally identical structures, one of the houses retaing s original materials while the
other has been modified. The structures, from the mid-nineteenth-century, are ong-and-one-half-
stories with a side gable roof and porch extending across the entire front clevation. The walls of
the one are covered with board-and-batten siding. The modified house has vinyl siding and
asbestos shingles. Segmental arched lintels of wood add intriguing ornamentation to the window
openings found on the side slevations of the houses. A small outbuilding facing the tracks from
the east side has similar detailing including board-and-batten walling and segmental-arched lintels
of wood.



Historic Architectural Survey of Caroline County 14
October 1991

Figure 39 Photograph of Milford Freight Depot (16-3068), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991
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THEME: Commerce/Trade
RESOURCE TYPE: Stores, Tavern, Breeding Farm, Financial institution (bank)

The most important commercial enterprises throughout the county historically include merchant
and trade establishments, small retall stores, taverns, and horse breeding and racing farms.
Today all of the tavern buildings have been demolished, vacated or converted into private
dwellings, and the small retail stores have been superseded by larger supermarkets. Breeding
tarms, however, continue to be a vital element of the economy.

As in most rural areas of Virginia, banking activities in Caroline County were carried on through

merchants and tavern-keepers until the late-nineteenth-century. The turn of the century saw the
emergence of the county’s first official bank operation.

Merchant/Trade Establishments and Retail Stores

Most of the early to mid-sighteenth-century commercial establishments in the county were located
along the Rappahannock River in proximity to either Roy's or Conway's Warchouse, These
early businesses, outlined in Campbell’s chapter on *The People of Caroline County”, were
generally associated with either the tobacco or shipping industry, Other merchants, located
inland, operated trading posts on important trade routes, or had importing/exporting businesses,
some with offices in Fredericksburg and Caroline County.

Although most of the trade-related businesses were relegated to the more bustling centers of
commerce, many small retail stores emerged in all areas of the county in the eighteenth-century,
The most successful stores were located around the first and second courthouse buildings.
Economic stability for these small stores was not assured, however, and many failed by the mid-
o late-eighteenth-century. By the mid-to-late nineteenth-century, small stores reemerged along
with the railroad and the new found mode of transport for both goods and people. Extant
Nineteenth and early Twentieth century store buildings were found most prominently in the
railroad towns of Guinea, Woodford, Penola, and Milford as well as at small crossroads such a3
Lorne. The advent of the automobile brought in even more stores scattered along important
roads, such as those around Dawn and &t Frog Level on Route 301 and the old Esso Station/Store
at Carmel Church.

Most of the surviving nineteenth-century stores focated in the railroad towns of Guinea,
Woodford and Penola are abandoned structures. In Guinea, only one of the four stores which
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existed at one time still survives. This store building, the E.C. Allen Store {16-211), is almost
completely overgrown by brush, but still displays its original form with front gable roof and
details such as double wood panelled and glass entry door. In Penola a two-story frame store
immediately adjacent to the railroad tracks {16-286) is currently an antique store, Another store
building (16-288) just on the other side of the tracks is sbandoned. In Dawn a mid-nineteenth-
century store (16-200) is located at the south angle of the intersection of Route 30 and Route 694,
The store is a one-and-one-half story structure with a steeply pitched gable roof. Sited directly
on the road the store is connected on the south to a late-nineteenth-century residence by a
hyphen,

Milford is home to at least three late-nineteenth and early-twentieth-century stores including,
Blaud’s Store (16-272), Clark’s Store (16-271), and Schall’s Furniture Store (16-263). Blaud's
Store, constructed in the late-nincteenth-century, s a two-story frame structure with a double-
story porch fronting Route 628 in the middle of town {Figure 40). Two-story wings at both the
side and rear were added as living quarters for the merchant’s family, and for additional storage
room. The long, two-story wing towards the east has a wide overhanging roof supported by
sizeable wood brackets. The original portion of the store remains much the same as it appears in
a photograph taken arcund 1890,

Clark’s Store building, located just east of Route 722 and adiacent 1o the railroad tracks, sits
abandoned and neglected. Constructed in the early years of this century, the two-story frame
structure is covered with asbestos siding and has a front gable roof with overhanging eaves and
exposed rafters. A central entrance door is flanked by long, narrow window openings with two-
over-two sash.  The second-floor windows and attic-level opening are now boarded up.

The abandoned Schalls Furniture store in Milford, with its glass-paned store front, appears today
as a more urban-type store building. This store front, consisting of & one-story frame structure
with large show windows on either side of a recessed central entry, and a parapet above a sloped
roof, has actually been appended to a larger two-story resr wing. The two-story rear wing was
originally constructed as the Gray-Campbell nn and was a stop for passengers riding on the
Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad. The nineteenth-century inn with a double-
story porch similar to that found at Blaud’s store, was modernized in this century by the addition
of the store front described above. Following its use a5 an inn, the building became a grocery
store for a while, and then Schall's Furniture store.® Both the store front and rear wing are
abandoned and overgrown with vegetation today.

Other small stores located in the county at intersections and along roads include Young's Store
{16-234) in Lorne; Allen’s Store (16-60), store site 16-228 on Route 652; the store and dwelling
combined (16-155) on Route 600; Reedy Mill store (16-295); the Frog Level Market (16-186) on

¥ Mary Tod Haley, & Plctorisl History of Caroline County, p. 43,
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Figure 40 Historic View of Blatt’s Store, (Caroline County; A Pictorial History, Mary Tod
Haley, p. 35).

Route 301; and the old Esso Station (16-257) at Carmel Church.  The store buildings in Lore
and site 16-228 are both two-story frame structures with front gable roofs and porches extending
across the front. The front elevations consist of a central door with windows 1o either side on the
first floor and windows on the second floor, The second floor may well have served as living
guarters for the merchant family. In the combined store/dwelling example (16-195), the store



Historic Architectural Survey of Caroline County 118
October 1991

building is 2 one-story structure, similarly configured with a central door flanked by windows,
while a wing serving as the dwelling extends perpendicular to it

Aller’s Store (16-60), also known as Blanton’s Store was built in 1916 in Blanton at the
intersection of Routes 603 and 604, called Blanton. The store building is a two-story frame
structure with a central pediment on the facade and a two-story rear wing. The front part of the
store, rectangular in plan, was originally designed as a merchandise room, running the length of
the front; the rear wing, running perpendicular to it, was used as a storage area. Allen’s Store
retaing ifs unaltered interior of hard wood floors, tongue and groove wood panelled walls and
ceiting and storage shelves aligned along the side walls. Allen’s Store is currently undergoing
restoration.

Frog Level Market (16-186), located on the important Route 301, is a somewhat later example of
local commercial architecture (Figure 41). This store/gas station was erected in the 19205 and
was meant to appeal to the molorists travelling the north-south corridor.  The most characteristic
aspect of this Twentieth cenfury store/gas station is the porte-cochere, meant to provide motorists
protection from the weather when filling their car with gas.

Figure 41 Photograph of Frog Level (16-186), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991 )
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Constructed in 1941, the Old Esso Station, now called Elsies This & That, is located on Route 1,
Just south of Carmel Church (Figure 42). This building, like Frog Level is a low-lying brick
building with a hipped roof covered with pantiles. A porte-cochere, originally meant to
accommodate the automobile seeking gasoline, is now used as a display area for the store goods.
The soffit of the porte-cochere is the original pressed tin. A central door with transom is flanked
by large plate glass show windows with pressed glass transoms. The interior has pressed tin
ceilings identical to that of the porte-cochere soffit,

Figure 42 Photograph of Old Esso Gas Station (16-257), (Jeff Stodghill, PMA, 1991.)

Taverns

Located at intervals of five to ten miles on the Stage Coach Road and interspersed along other
transportation corridors throughout the county, taverns were a common building type frequented
by residents and travelers alike during the Eighteenth and early Nineteenth centuries. These
commercial ventures, generally established o provide room and board for people travelling
through the area, also served as social meeting centers where planters, traders, professionals and
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1781 were granted by the Caroline Court.™ Wingfield claims that these carly buildings were
generally constructed of log, but soon gave way to "commodious brick or frame buildings which
gave to the traveler many comforts.” He continues by stating, "As a rule the main door opened
into a large room corresponding to the lobby or fover of our modern hotels.. " Of the
countless colonial taverns in the county, four remained completely or partially standing in
1953 % Hubbard’s Tavern (16-122), the Grove (16-12), and Tod’s Tavern (16-215) at Villboro
were identified and surveyed as part of this survey project.

Hubbard’s Tavern {(16-122), 3 onc-and-one-half-story frame structure with shed dormers and a
massive brick end chimney, was opened a5 a tavern by Benjamin Hubbard in 1756, According
to George Washington's diary, the first President of the United States staved at Hubbard's Tavern
for "lodging or dining” at least once between the vears of 1756 and 1791.% This well-known
Carcline County landmark is now completely overgrown by trees and brush to be almost
indistinguishable from nature o the passerby. Hubbard’s Tavern is one of the most imminently
threatened properties found in the county.

The Grove (16-12), located on the east side of Route 651, south of Route 30, is a wood frame
dwelling consisting of various Eighteenth, Nineteenth and Twentieth century additions.

According o an article in the Richmond News Leader, The Grove began a3 a private home in
1740.% 1 1790 the first addition was made when the house became a Stage Road Tavern. The
oldest portion of the house was a small one-room structure which was incorporated into the larger
2-story addition from the late Eighteenth century. This late Eighteenth century portion forms the
main block of the house and consists of a three-baved elevation covered with beaded weather
boards. A central entry is preceded by 3 one-story porch supported by square wood columns.
The mid-Nineteenth century addition extends across the rear of the Eighteenth century portion,
while a Twentieth century wing encompasses the Nineteenth century portion.

® Campbell, p. 410,
¥ Wingfiedd, p. 31,
“ Campbell, p. 414,
¥ Caroling Hixtorical Society, Volume ¥, 1973, p. 6.

¥ Corndyn Welton, "Farmbowses Open to Past.” Richmond Nows Leader, September 17, 1970,
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Figure 43 Photograph of Tavern at Villboro (16-215), (Jeff
Stodghill, PMA, 1991
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Located along the Stagecoach road at Villboro is a tavern originally owned by Dr. George Tod.
This tavern, built in 1749 was designed similarly to Raleigh’s Tavern in Willlamsburg.V
Originally L-shaped in plan, Tod’s tavern, more commonly called Villbore, today consists of
only one of its wings (Figure 43}, The building is a tall, two-and-one-half-story frame structure
now covered with asbestos siding. Left abandoned, the tavern still sits prominently upon its
raised brick foundation on Route 2 at Villboro,

Breeding Farms

New Market Plantation (16-281), located off of Route 301 south of Bowling Green, originally
consisted of an 11,760-acre land grant awarded to John Baylor in 1726, An avid horse racing
fan, Baylor named his newly acquired land in Virginia "New Market" after the famous racing
center in England and established the land as a horse breeding farm.  Bavior imported the
English sire Fearnaught in 1764 to head his stables at New Market, The importation of this
renowned stallion established Baylor as a horse breeding rival o John Tayloe of Mount Airy and
provided him a reputation still remembered today. A 1922 New York Herald article reads,
“Until the days of Fearnaught no other than quarter races were run in Virginia. Speed had been
the only quality sought for. But his progeny were remarkable for thelr fine figure and lasting
bottom and introduced a taste (in imitation of the English) for course racing, which led the
Virginians 1o seek for race horses of size and bottom™®

Baylor's stud at New Market included nearly one hundred horses upon his death.  John's son
George Baylor inherited the farm and attempted to build a large mansion on the plantation.
Dubbed "Baylor’s Folly” by neighbors, the mansion building itself was never completed beyond
the erection of a basement and some walls. Today the reduced plantation of approximately 1,800
acres consists of the old Baylor family home, a brick barn and a brick stable building.

Also associated with the horse industry was "Old Mansion”, located just outside of Bowling
Green. Here, a race track circled the lawn and attracted spectators from all over. The owner of
Old Mansion. John Hoomes, is said to have imported a famous thoroughbred named "Sterling”
from which many winning racers were bred,®

Although not necessarily associated with historic farms, the horse breeding industry remains as
an important industry in the county. At least one such breeding farm is well known as the home
of Secretariat, one-time winner of the Kentucky Derby.

€ Caroline Progross. May 13, 1987
® Wingfield, p. 373,

¥ Ralph Fall, Histrieal Rovord of Bowling Groen, Yirginds, p. 3.
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Banks

in order to operate their plantations and farms, large landowners in early Caroline County
borrowed money from either British bankers or British merchants. Small landowners borrowed
money from the local tavern-keepers and merchants. This financial arrangement endured until
the Nineteenth century when many Caroline residents took their banking concerns to Richmond.
The first bank in Caroline, Union Trust and Bank Company, was organized in 1902 and the bank
building in Bowling Green was erected in 1912, This bank is an elegant brick building designed
in a classical revival style. It is three bays wide with the bays separated by pilasters. A central
projecting pediment crowns the already pedimented entry door,

The same year that the bank building was erected in Bowling Green, the Milford State Bank was
organized. This building, strategically located on the railroad line, is a two-story brick building
divided into five distinct bays and capped by a projecting cornice and a parapet. The five bays of
the main elevation are divided into two slightly projecting end bays and three central bays
separated by brick pilasters, Doors on the first floor and windows above fenestrate the two end
bays, while windows on both the first and second floors appear on the three central bays. Jack-
arched lintels with keystones and a well-pronounced cornice with dentils add to the classical
vocabulary of this bank building. The Milford Bank Building, currently used as apartments, is
the only bank building surveyed as part of this project.
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THEME: Industry/Processing/Extraction
RESQURCE TYPE: Gristmills, Lumber mills, Sumac mills
Mills

Owing to the fact that Caroling County was a predominately agricultural county, little industry
existed prior to the Nineteenth century. The one exception to this is grist mills, Grist mills
abounded on the various rivers and their tributaries which provided excellent properties for water
power. Campbells research into the early grist mills of the county revealed them to be too
numerous o list. However, according 1o his records, at least ten and probably many more are
listed in the Order Books before 1732.% Despite their omnipresence in the county through the
Ningteenth century, relatively few grist mills remain in the areas surveyed. Five mills were
surveyed as part of this project and one of them, Moore’s Mill (16-123) near Sparta, has greatly
deteriorated since last surveyed in 1973, The other mills surveyed include Cook’s Mill (16-56)
in Smoots, Boler’s Mill (16-244), Reedy Mill {16-54), and Temples Mill (16-248).

Moore's Mill (16-123), also known locally as Jones Mill or Rolph Mill, is located on the north
side of Route 630, just south of the Jiles Millpond, between the pond, creek and the road. This
mill, constructed in the late Nineteenth century, is a two-story frame structure set upon a raised
brick foundation. The front elevation of the mill, and the only one accessible due o overgrown
trees and brush, consists of a batten door on the first floor and three narrow window openings on
the second floor. A metal water wheel still remaing at the north end of the mill structure.

Boler’s Mill (16-244) and Temple's Mill (16-248) are both frame mill structures set upon raised
stone foundations and covered with gable roofs of corrugated tin. Nestled within wooded
properties and located next to millponds, both Bolers and Temples are becoming overgrown by
vegetation. A millstone and mill equipment still remains inside Boler’s Mill.  Adjacent to
Temple’s Mill is the one story, one bay frame miller’s house, now vacant.

Cook’s Mill located on the Maracossic Creek in Smoots is the most well-preserved and
maintained of the mills identified in the county. Built in 1868 by B.F. Smoot, the mill became
known as Cook’s Mill when it was acquired by Smoots’ son-in-law, D.L. Cook, at Smoot’s
death. The mill which ground wheat for flour was the last operating mill in the county until it
too closed in 1965 Although owned by a Richmonder, the grounds around the mill building
are well-maintained by Mr. Cook who still lives next door in the miller’s house, The mill is a

® Campbell, p. 404,

# Caroline Historival Sockety, Yoduus 2, 1969, p. 22,
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tall two-and-one-half-story frame structure set into 3 sieep hill above the creek. The interior of
the mill is furnished with mostly original mill equipment.

Lumber Factories

in the Nineteenth century other areas of industry began to compete with farming. This includes,
excelsior mamufacturing, lomber manufacturing, and the manufacture of sumac extract. The
excelsior industry, the first industry of its kind in the South, was founded in Woodford in 1896,
by George P. Lyon. Here, Lyon established a mill for the manufacture of excelsior using pine
wood, instead of poplar which was typically used in this industry. The returns from Lyon's first
mill were 0 successful that a series of other excelsior mills followed soon afier. Evenmally, the
pine product became the leading excelsior on the market and, according to Wingfield who wrote
in 1924, “is now in demand not only for packing, but for all purposes for which any other type
of excelsior may be used. "™

Enhanced by the success of the excelsior industry which required the timbering of pine, lumber
mmumamm in Caroline improved in the late Ningteenth century.  According to the Handbook on

oy, "Pine, oak, hickory, walnut, besch, and other timber is in abundance, and o
be purchasad in merchantable condition at the saw mills, of which there are 38 in the
county...”™ Generally, lumber was milled in the Nineteenth century in Caroline County for use
in the construction of houses. During the Civil War, a Caroline resident who had established a
saw mill on his farm known as "Thornberry” was detailed o saw timbers and lumber for the
Confederate Government 0 use in building the fortifications around Richmond., Afier the war,
this same resident continued in his business in the manufacturing of lumber. Another early
lumber business (o be established in the county was founded in 1879 by L. D, George. In 1911
George incorporated his business as the LI, George Lumber Company, and in 1915,
incorporated another called the Rose Hill Lumber Co., Inc, In the early 1880s only about 10
lumber mills operated in the county™, and by 1888, as mentioned above, this mumber had
grown 1o thirty-eight.

The manufacture of sumac came to Carcline County in 1913 when 2 Fredericksburg sumac plant
run by the Knox Brothers was moved to Milford. Suwmac is indigenous to Virginia, and grows
abundantly in the Eastern part of the state. It i3 used in the tanning of leather and as a mordant

* Wingfield, p. 27,

* The Handbook on Caroling County, p. 4.

® Wingticld, p.2%.
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to fasten colors in all textile fabrics. In 1924 the plant in Milford was claimed (0 be the largest
of its kind in the United Siates.®

Mo structures associated with the lumber industry were located in the survey area.

¥ Wingheld, p. 31.
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THEME: Funerary
RESOURCE TYPE: Cemeteries, Graves

Cemeteries in Caroline County can be found at almost all of the churches located throughout the
county, as well as at private farms and residences. The church graveyards tend to be well-
maintained and are easily accessible to visitors, Private family plots are often sited at a distance
from the main dwelling associated with them and are overgrown and not easily visible. Many of
the early family plots and slave cemeteries had unmarked graves and can no longer be
specifically located.

Cemeteries have been a source of interest amongst the county dwellers, as well as the Caroling
Historical Society members, and several attempts at compiling cemetery data over the vears has
resulted in lists of cemeteries located throughout the county. Two such lists can be found in the
appendix of this report. The first list, compiled by Mr. James Patton, in 1985 and given to PMA
and Traceries to include in this report, rogisters burials in private cemeteries as recorded in the
Register of St. Mary’s (Episcopal) Parish (1889-1937). The second list, located in the Caroline
Historical Society Vertical Files, is similarly a list of private cemeteries throughout the county.
This list indicates the location of the cemetery and records the inscriptions on the tombstones. It
is not known who compiled this information and when it was done.

Cemeteries associated with the surveyed churches were always noted, Those associated with
private residences were noted whenever identified. A computerized list of all of the cemeteries
surveyed is located in the appendix.

One cemetery, not actually surveved, but identified through local documentation and oral
histories is the old Motley plot at Old Salem (the original site of Salem Church, now located in
Sparta). Located in proximity to the foundations of the old church structure are several
tombstones, some with thelr inscriptions still Jegible. An iron fence encloses a small, gray stone
marker to Thomas Motley with the date of April 6, 1868 inscribed on it.  Another headstone,
outside the enclosure, is inscribed with several names. Set away from the enclosure is another
small plot marking the resting place of 2nd Lisutenant Richard Broaddus, Co. H., 30th Virginia
Infantry, Confederate States of America,™

Many of the oldest and most intact grave properties in the county are located on the large
plantations and farm estates, These family cemeteries were usually situated at some distance
from the main house and were not threatened by expansion and additions. On private property,
early family cemeteries escaped the pillaging of grave markers and memorials which occurred

* Dorothy Terry, “Sie of Old Balem Baptist Churck Hidden in Dieeply Wooded Ares.® The Caroline Prograss, Thtober 15,
1554,
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after the Revolutionary War. A low brick wall encloses the gravestone of the original owner of
Braynefield, George Buckner. Relatively intact, this stone slab monument dates to 1828,
Surrounded by a decorative cast iron fence, the family plot at Fontaine Hill bas markers dating to
the early Nineteenth century. Several of the markers have broken off and the inscriptions
cbscured by time. Adjacent to the drive leading 1o Hill View is the family cemetery of the
Massey and Farish clan.  Six grave stones are still visible, the earliest dating to 1845, for
Malinda 1. Massey. The carliest grave stone at Mulberry Place dates from 1851, and belongs to
Mary Winston Woolford, an ancestor of the original owner Jourdan Woolford,



Appendix A

COMPUTER GENERATED REPORTS
Historie Resource Inventory by Alphabetical Listing
Historic Resource Inventory by Resource Number
Historic Resource Inventory with Tax Number
Inventory of Properties Potentially Eligible for the National Register
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Yew Springs Farm
pehel Baptlist Church
Hampsiead

Ivy Hill

Tarter’s House
Frogen Hill

Eay House

Hoore House

Mount Clear

Mount Bolus archasclogical Site

Bowling Green
Pencla

rRubther Glen
Bowling Green

Bowling Green

Guinea
Ladysmith
Ladysmith
Hewleth

Ladysmith

Sparta

Rappahannock acsdemy
Rappahannock Academy
woadford

woodford

woodford

Bupply

Gparta

supply

Eparta

Sparta



Page No. 4 TRACERIES ENGINE T¢ TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 10/22/18%1

CABOLINE COUNTY RESOURCE INVENTORY BY REBQURCE NUMBER

YOER FILE §

KAME OF PROPERTY/RESCURCE

USGE QUAD MaP WNAME

DLlE-0086-001 Murray House Gparta
GLlE~0086-002 Murray Gusst Houss Sparta
0180087001 House, Rt 755 Guinea
0lE~-0088-001 Rolph House Bparts
0180080001 gparta High school Sparta
$1lE6-~-0091-001 salem Baptist Church Sparta
0lE~-00%2-001 Jackson Shrine Suinsea
016=00%4=001 Spring Grove Suinesa
GLE~0084-002 spring Grove Kitchen Guinea
GIE~00%4~003 Spring Grove Smokehouse Guines

016~0087-001

416-0100-001

Athens

cannon Bouse

ruther Slen

Ruther Glan

016-0103-001 Hamptonville Ruther Glen
DI6-0105.001 Irene Slave Quarters Ladysmith
$16=-0105-002 irsne House Ladysmith
G16~-0106-001 rey Cliff woodford
Q160107001 Laursl Springs Guinea
016-0111~001 North Garden Guinea
G16~0112~001 Sakton Hewleih
D16-0116-001 Spring Hill Buines
D16~0116~003 Spring #ill Smokehouss Guines
Gle~D117-001 Whits Hall woodford
$16-0122-001 Hubbard’s Tavern Sparta
G16-0123.001 HMoores Mill sparta

G16~0124-001

Rl6-0128-001

DI6-0131~

Clarenmont

Harmaduke

Campbell’s Home drchasclogical Site

Rappahannock academy

Sparta



Pagse No.

CARDLINE COUNTY RESQURCE INVENTORY BY RESOQURCE NIMBER

VDHR FILE 4

NAME OF PRUPERTY/RESCURCE

TRACERIES ENGINE T0 TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 16722/1891

HEGE QUAD MAPY WAME

$l6~-0133-001

G16-05134-001

G16-0136~001

G16-0137-001

G16~0137-002

016-0138-001

D16-0138-0G02

016-0140-001

016-0141-001

G16-0142~001

§16-0143-001

$16-014%-001

G16~0150~-001

0160151001

0160152001

416~01583-001

016-015%4-001

016~0154-002

016-0156~001

016~D156-002

G16-0187 =001

¢16~0158~001

B1l6~0158-001

0160162001

0le~0163~001

Q160164001

D16-0167-001

2lifton

Cobb Houszs

Edmund Pendlsiton Bigh School

Fontaine Hill

fontaine Hill Smokehouss
Fresman'’s House
Preeman’s House Smokebouse
Garrett House

Gresn Hill

Sreenwood

Henderson’s Mill

Lucks Old Place
Magnolia Inn

¥ontpelisy

Mulberry Grovs

Poplar Grove

Poplar Srove

roplar Grove Worth Cottage
Prospect HiIll

Prospect HLll Kitchen
Hillview

Frovidence

Grace Baptist Church
Sunny South

Sycamore Hill

Thompaons HALL

Ballie ¥Young Houss

Woodford

woodford

Penola

futher Glen

ruther Glan

Hanover

Hanovey

Ruther Slen

Hanover

Ruther Glen

woodford

woodford

woodford

wWendford

Guinea

Peacla

Hewlsit

woodford

Buther Glen

Hanovey



ragse No.

CARGLINE OOUNTY

VHRHE FILE §

TRACERIES ENGINE €0 TRACK AND TRAIL EBEVERYTHING

RESOURCE INVENTCORY BY RESOURCE NUMBER

NAME OF PROPERTY /RESDURCE

1042271881

UBGE QUAL MAP WAHE

o v o

0160168~

016-0169-001
016~0170~001
016~-0171-001
016~-0172-001
D16-0173-0D1
016~-0174-001
(16-0175~001
016-0176-001
0160177001
G16~0178-001
016-0179~001
016~0180~001
D16-0181-001
B16-0186-001
016-0187-001
016~D188-001
016-0189-001
516-0190-001
516~0191-001
016~D181-D02
016~0192-001
G16-0193-001
016-0194-001
H16~-0195-001
G16-0196~003

016~0197-001

refuse Deposit Archasclogical Site
Jerichoe Baptist Church

Ht oni Baptist Churoh

First Mt. Zion Bapbist Church
8t Margarei’s Episcopal Church
Rouss, Rb 3%

Elmwood

Ht Vernon Msthodist Church
Point Bastern

spy HiLL

Tayliorsville

shiloh United Methodist Church
Plum Grove

¥t. Herman Church

Frog Level Market and Gaz Station
carmel Baptist Church

Houge, RL 643

Farm, RL 8644

Parm, KL 5186

Farm, RL 61&

Farm, Bb 61&

Rellins House

8t. Luke’s Church

wWright House

Bhore & Dwelling, BRb &40
wWindy Bill Parm

Parm, BT 840

Ruther Glan
Ruther Glean
Hanover
Ruther Glen
Ladysmith
Penocla
Penola
Hanover
Bparis
Sparta
Sparta
Sparta
Penols

Hanovay

Sparta
Sparts
supply
supply
supply
supply
Hanowsy
woodford
Hanoway
Hanowvay

Hanovey



rage Ho.

TRACERIES ENGINE

CAROLINE COUNTY BESOURCE THVENTORY BY RBESCURCE NUMBER

VRHR FILE $

HARME OF PROPERTY/BRESOURCE

TOOTRACE AND TRAYL EVERYTHIBG

10f22/18%1

UBGE QUAD MAP HAME

016~0138-001

$16-01%8-001

G16~0200~001

$16-0200-002

016~0201-001

016-0202-001

016~0203-001

018-~-0204-001

Gl6-0205-001

416~02086~001

0160207001

Dle~0208-041

0LlE-02808-001

01l6-0210-001

0l6~-0211-~001

$le6-0212-001

G16-0213~-001

0160214001

0LlE-0215~

0Ll8~-0315~001

Gil8-0218-000

0160217001

G16~0218-001

016-021%-001

DL6-0220-0D1

01le~0321~-001

0l6~0222-001

Bower's Cliff

ﬁ%&%@,'xﬁ %1

Dawn House

Dawn gtore

Hopewell United Methodist Church
Hosige, RL &0F

chandler Bouse

Pell Family Parm

Bouse, Rt 755

Bouse, Bt 75%

Houss, RL 5%

Bouss, RL 7ES

Hopewsll Methodist Church Parsonnage
Houge, Rt 755

allisn, B.C. 8Store

Houss, Rt 755

House, Rb 758%

Farmer HBouse

Yillboro Tavern

Villbors Tavern

Zion Grove Church and Cenmetery
St HMary’s Catholic Church
House, RbL 609

Evans House

Carolina Mansion

woodford House

woodford Freight Station

Hanover
Hanovery
Banover
Hanover
Guinea
Guinsa
Guines
Guines
Guinea
Guinsa
Guinsa
Buinea
Guinea
Guines
Guinea
Suines
Suinea
Gulnes
Guinea
Guinea
Guinea
woodford
wWoodford
wWoodford
woodford
woodford

woosdford



Page Ho. g TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 10/23/18%1
CAROLINE COUNTY RESCURCE INVENTORY BY RESCGURUE NUMBER

VDER PILE % WAHE OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE UBGE QUAD MaP NAME

MORE RSN

$16-0223~001 HWoodénrd Bohonl woodEord
016-0224-001 Bouse, RL 60% woodford
GlE-0224-002 Bouse, BL 609, Garage wondford
BI6-0225-00]1 House, RL 828 Wondford
616-0226-001 House, Rt 626 woodford
GLE02237-001 Elliot’s House ashland
GlE-0327~002 Elliot’s Office aZezhiland
018-0228-001 store, Rt 652 ashland
G16-0228~001 Catalps Grove Hanover
G16-0230.001 Parm, kL &50 Hanover
G16=0231-001 Bethel United Methodist Church Hanover
Gl6-~-0332-001 Nesdwood Parm Hanover
$16-0233.001 shumansville Pencla
016-0234-001 Young's Btors ﬁ%nav&x
G16-0235-001 gchool, RbL 664 woodford
§16~-0236-001 House, Rt 767 wondford
B16-0237-001 House, RL 664 wondford
160238001 Farm, Rt €&4 woodford
Gle~023%-001 House, ki 500 Hanowey

016~0240-001

G16~0241~001

016~0242~001

Farm, Rt 714
Parm, RL 7ié

Bouse, kLt 716

ruther Glsn

Buther Glan

ruther Glen

016-0243-001 House, Rt 1 Ladysmith
D16-0244-000 ¥Mt. Horsbh Baptist church Hanovey
0160245001 Houge, Rt 1 Ladysmith
016~02346-001 pradley~shumanaville Store Punols

D16-0247-001

21ld Brick Bouse

Ladyzmith



Pags No.

CRROLINE COUNTY RESOURCE IRVERTORY BY RESQURCE NUMBER

VDHR FILE #

TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

WAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

10/32/71%8%1

UBGE QUAD MAP HAME

316-0248~001

016-0248-002

D16~024%-001

016~0250-001

G16~-0351~001

018-~0281~002

316-0252-001

0160253001

016~0254~001

016~0355-001

Q16~D25%6~001

01E-0257-001

G16~0258~001

§16-0258-002

$16~0253-001

G15~0260-001

G16~0281~001

016-0282~001

BLl6-0263-001

D16~0264-001

016~0265-001

3160256001

D16~-0267-001

0186-0368~001

Ql8-DRE5~001

GlE-0270-001

160271001

rewpples ¥Mill

Temples Mill Miller's House
Ladysmith Restaurant

Housne, RL 683

Farm House Bits 683

¥arm ¢ffice Rte €83

Houss, Rt 683

Farm, RL 738

Bouge, RL &89

ouford ML Sion Baptist Church
House, RL £3%

Elsists This or That

Dr. Cobb’s Hpuse on Rite 652
Dr. Cobb’s foica.an Rte 652
Farm, kL €57

House, Rb 801

House, Rt 658

2ld Milford Hotel

Gray Campbell Inn

#ilford Presbytesrian Church
regstaurant, Rt 722

¥ilford Freight Station
Houss, RL 722

shildroth’s gtation

House, RL 828

Milford State Bank

Clark s Biore

Ladysmith
Ladysmith
Ladysmith
Hewletl
Hawlelt
Hewlatt
Hewleth
Hewleltt
Hewleltt
Buther Glen
woodford
ruther Glen
rRuther Glen
Ruther Glen
Ruther Glen
Hewletl
Hewlell
Bowling Sreen
Bowling dgreen
Bowling Gresn
Bowling Gresn
Bowling Green
wondford
wWoodford
Bowling Sreen
Bowling Green

Bowling Green



Page Mo, 10

TRACERTES EHGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

CABOLINE {OUNTY RESOURCE INVENTORY BY RESOURCE HUMBER

YDHR FILE $

Gl6-0272~001
0160273001
0160274001
D16-0275-001
016-0276~001
0186~0277~001
B16~0278~001
$16~0279-001
0160280001
0le~0281-001
0le~-0281-002
0lE-0281-004
G1l6~02381~005
016-0282-001
D16-0283-00G1
016~0284~001
016~D285-001
0le~0R286-001
016~0287~001
416~0288-001
DI6~-0283-001
016-023%0-001
016~02%1~001
ﬁlém0292w081
016-02583~001
316-0294-001

3160285001

I aa— P

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

USGS QUALR MaP HAME

Blatt’s Btore
Houss, Rt &28

Farm, RL §28

Ashlawn

Farm, Rt 828

Bouss, RU 840

Cook House

Thandlers

Hiskory Grove

Wew Market Flantation House
¥ew Market Plantation Ritchen
New Market Plantation Stable
New Market Plantation Barn
Farm, RL 1%

Bears Houze

Cadar Craek

Oak Grove

Store, RL 801

Palestine Farm

Store, Rt §01

Roze Hill

House, Rt 501

House, RL 601

Broad Flains Farm

Burrus Houss

Burrus House

Resdy MLll Storse

10/232/1%%1

powling Green
Bowling Gresn
Bowling Gresn
Bowling Grasn
Bowling Green
Bpowling Green
Bowling Gresn
rRuther Glen
Ruther Glsn
Bowling Green
Bowling Green
Bowling Sreen
Bowling Gresn
Bowling Green
Bowling Gresen
Port Royal
rencla

Pencla

Fenala

Penola

Pencla

Panola
Penola

Pensla

pPancls

Panols

Pencla



Pagse Wo. 11 TRACERIES EHGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 10D/32/719%1

CAROLINE COURTY RESOURCE INVENITORY BY REBCURCE NUMBER

YDHR FILE 4 HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE UBGE QUAD MAP WAME
B1l6-0226~001 Houge, Rt 601 Pannla
160297001 R F & P Property East Pensia
G16-02%98-001 B F & P Property West Penocla
GlE~02%3-001 Riwver View Farm Panola
$16-0300-001 Mt Tabor Church Panola
GL6~-0301-001 Green Bouse Ponola
016-0302-001 Farﬁ, Rt 8627 Penola

27F TOTAL RESOURCES IN THIS REFORT



Page WNo. 1 TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 10/22719%1

CAROLINE COUNTY RESQURCE INVENTORY AND TAX NUMBERS

VDHR PILE % HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE BECTION/ PARCEL

Q16-0001-001 ruburn Hill T4 23

016~0002-001 Blenheim 41/42 23

016=-0003-00] Braynefield 28 335

D16-0004~ Camden

016~0005--001 Cconcord Baptist Church 161 59

Gle~B006~ Edgehill

D16~0008-001 Elm Grove ag 41&

016~0005~001 Elson Sreen 108 308/4%

0416~-00G10~-001 Glamorgan 107 41

D16=-0010-002 Qlaﬁazgan school Houss 107 41

4160011001 srace Eplscopal church 8 B2/R

016~-0012-001 Grove, The 108 31

D16~-0013~001 Hampton Manoy

DI6-0014~001 Hayfield 4 /s
Hays

Gl6-0015.001 Locust HiLL 1% 1527153

$16-0016~001 Meadow Farm

B16-0017-001 Mill Bill 16 154

016~0018~001 Mose Neck Manoy 4 i2a

016~0G19~ Prospect HiIll

QlE-0020-001 Mt Gideon 108 2%
Red Cliff

D16-~-G021~001 Rock Spring 163 5659

01l6~0022-001 Roock Stop i1 a2

016~0023~ Bantee

0160024000 socuthbrook 16 3% /A

316-0024~002 southbroock 1& 9% /5

B16-002%-

Spring Grove



Pagse NHO.

TRACERIES ENGINE T0 TRACE AND TRAIL

CAROLIBE COQUNTY BESCURCE INVENTORY AND TARYX NUMBERS

EVERYTEING

10/22/1881

VDHR FILE # HAME OF PROPERTY/BESOURCE BECTION / PRRCEL
016-0026~001 stanhops
016-0027~001 white Plains 74 5/h
0186~0027-0032 ¥hite Plainz Kitchen 14 5/a
016~-0028-Q01% woodpecker 28 iz
01600239 Port Boyal Trashpit Archaseclogical 8ite
01E~003 0 soldenvale Creek Archaeclogical Site
0LE-003 - camdsn Archaeclogical 8its
BLe~-0032~ Gay MHount
GLE~D034-001 Green Falls 85 5
0160035001 Malberry PFlace 72 2
GI8-0035.002 Mulbsrry Place Kitchen 72 A
R16-0035-003 Mulberry Placs Blacksmith shop 72 2
3160036001 Dak Ridge
016~0038~-001 Chenanlt 73 56 /R
Lake Holly ski club
D16-0039~00]1 High Pastures 74 $3/n
0ld soulden Place
old Campbell Plaocs
016-0040-001 aberfoyle Farm
G16-0041~001 shannon Mills
Prospect Hill
Carcline Pinss Clubhouse
GlE~0042~-001 ¥t Salem Baptist Church
Q16-0043-001 #Hillford 18 28
016-0043-002 Billford Barn 18 28
DLE-0044=001 House, BL 721 L 114
0180045~ Dugout Cance srchaecloglosl Sits
RLE~G047-000 Mt Zion & 14
¥L Sign
8l6-0047-002 ¥t zZion sémokehouse 2 14

Mt gion



rage No.

CARGLINE COUNTY REBCGURCE IRVENTORY AND ThAX HUMBERS

YDHER FILE §

TRACERIES ERGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL BEVERVIHING

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

1072371891

SECTION/PARCETL

0160048001
GLE~-0048-002

$16~0050-001

DLE-0051-0G01

016~0052~

0186~00533-001

016-00%4-001

G16~0055-001

G16~0086~001

G16~0058-002

BlE6~G058w

D16~00558-001

Cle~D060-001

DIS6-0060-002

0160081001

§l6-0083-001

$16-00865~

$16-0085~001

216~0068-001

$15-0087-001

G16-008%-001

J16~0073-001

DL6-0074-001

Belle HIll
#elle Hill school

Captaln Brook House
¥t Zephyr Farm

Hazelwood Sraves
#¥ount Church
shepherd’s BiLll
Reedy Mill
Boler's Mill
Cookis ML

Cookts ¥iLl Btore

Hazgelwood Dalry & Bouse drnhaeological Site

Srmesby

Allen’s Btors

21id Blanton’s S$tore
Blanton’s 8tore

pavis & Allen, Inc.
Barn ab Allsns Stors
214 Blanton®s Store
Blanton’s Btore

Tavig & Bllen, Ino.
Butler’s Bridgs
County Line Baptist Church
akinker’s ¥eck
Skinker’s Heck
windaoyr

Houge, Rt 630

Liberty church

Yew Springs Parm

Behel Baphtiat Church

23

9%

68

58

58

38

38

51

76

41

678
675

41

1875

3%

3%

ig

237

2/3

BO



Page No.

CARROLIVNE COURTY RESCURCE IHVENTORY AND TAX NUMBERS

VDHR FILE $

TRACERIBS ENGINE T0 TRACK AFD TRAIL EVERYTHING

HAKE OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

10/22/7198%1

0180076001

G156-00%7-001

G1lE~0080~001

016-0081-001

G16-0082~001

G16~-0083-001

G1lE-00B4-001

G16-0085~

8160086001

$16-0086~-002

B16~-008B7-001

DlE~008E-001

416~00%0-001

0le~0081-001

GlE-0032-001

D16-0084-001

01l6-00%4~0032

B16~0034-003

016-0087-001

ClB-0100-00]

416~0103~001

416~0105-001

Gle-~0105-002

Q160106001

X X

Hanpstead

Iwy BLLY
Carter's Houss
Frogen Hi1l
Kay Housze
Hoore House

Mount Clsar

Keunt EBolus archasslogical Bite

Hurray Houge

Ritts House

old william I. Murray House
Murray Guest House

Pitts House

©1ld william I. Murray House
House, BL 755

Rolph House
Rolphwood

Bparts High School
village apartments

Salem Baptlist Church

Jackson Shrins
Fairfisld Plantation office

gpring srove

S@ring Grove Kitchen
Spring Grove Smokehouss
sthens

Lannon House
Hamptonville

Irene &lave Quarters
Irene House

Ivy CLifE

SECTION/ PARCEL
27 3/873
3 3%4n
7% 38/n
74 13/a

74 2% & &%¢C

74 2% & 23cC

18 134
T4 1/F/L
74 45

74 In/a
ign 1725
15 2

1% 2

15 2

£9 52

82 2

58 104
53 &

52 &

27 5¥in



Page Ho. 5

CAROLINE COUNTY RESOQURCE THVENTORY AND TAX HUMBERS

VOHE FILE

TRACERIER ENGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EBVERYTHING

HaME OF PROPERTY/RESDURCE

1072271981

0160107001

416~0111~001

016-03112-001

R186-0116-001

$16-0116~-002

$516~-0117~-001

0le-~0122-001

016~0123~001

D16-0124~001

016~0128~001

0l6~0131~

0186-0133-001

016-0134~001

016-0136-~001

016-0137-001

DI6-0137~002

016~0138-001

0l8~D138~002

QlE-0140-001

016~0141~001

0160143001

0160143001

01860145001

016~01580G~001

Laurel Springs

north Garden

CGakton

spring Hill

Spring Bill smokehouss
wWhite Hall

Hubbard's Tavern
HMoore's ¥Mill

Jones Mill

Jiles Mill
Rolph-Jones-Jilez MiL1

Clarsmont

Harmaduks

campbell‘s Home Archaeclogical site

Clifton

Cobh House
Cobb’s Plaos

Edmund Pendleton High Schonl

poggett's Fork
Reedy Church High School

Fontaine #ill

Fontaing Hill Smokehouse
Freaeman s Houss

Presman’s House Smokehousge
Sarrett House

Sreen HL1L

Grasnwood

Hendergon’s MLill

Luck’s 0ld Place

Magnoelia Inn

BELCTION/ PARCEL
in 20

15 47 %

&7 53

17 75

17 75

28 1

74 4

74 16374

3 8

) S47A

54 73

343 1=Z=375
B2 118

B2 118

103 SR

103 9/5

832 1842/



Page Ho.

TRACERIES ENGIHE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYIRIWS

CARROLIBE COUNTY REBOURCE INVENTORY AND TAX HUMBERS

YDHR FILE #

102271981

BECTION/PARTEL

01e~0151-0401

016-0152-001

016~015%3-001

016~0154-D01

016-015%4~-002

D16~-0156-001

D16~0156~002

0l6~-D157-0D1

016~015%8-001

016-0159~001

016~-0162~001

016-0163~001

016-0164~001

0l6~0167~001

R1E-03168~

01601658001

O16~DL70-001

0l6-0171-001

$16~0172~001

016-0173-001

016~0174~001

016-0175-001

BLE-0176~001

G16-0177-001

$16~-0178-0D1

Mt Olyvmpus

Yontpelier

Hulberry Grova

Poplar GSrove

Poplar Grove

Poplar Srove North Cottags
Prospesct HLll

Prospect Hill Ritchen
Hillview

Providence

Srace Baptist Church
Providence Meetlng House

Sunny &puth

gycamors Hill

Thompsons Hill

gallie Young Houss

rRefugs Deposit drchaeological 8ite
Jericheo Baptist Church

¥t oni Raptizt Church

First Mt. Zion Raptist Church

gt Margasret’s Episcopal Church
Cardinal Baptist Church

Bouse, RL 8%
Blmwood
¥ME Vernon Methodist Church

Point Eastern
The Poinks

Spy Hill

Tayiorasville

102

£9

40

40

40

40

17

3

40

&8

103

B4

g3

3%

117/a

Lol 3830
B1

81

BB/A
58/h

47/ a

&0

58/a
61

44

RSN

38

21274

46 /A

475

218758

48/ 8



Page No. ?

TRACERIES BWGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

CARDLINE COUNTY REIOURCE INVENTORY AND TAX HUMEBERS

YOHR FILE #

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

1072271881

DI6-0179-001
016~0180-001
016~0181~001
G16-0188~000
$16~03187~001%
B1l6-01BE-001
D16-018%-001
B16-01%0-001
$16~-0191-001
$16-0191-003
$16~01%2-001
GI6~0153-001

D1e-0194-001

016~0185%~001
D1e~0136~001
$le-0187-001

G16-0158~001

016~019%-001
016~-0200-001
416~0200~-002
016~0201-001
D16-0203-001
DI6-0203-001

Gl6~D204-~-001

0le~-0205-001

shiloh United Methodist Church
Plum Grove

¥t . Hsmrman Church

Frog Level Market and Gaz Station
Carmpel Baptlist Church

HBouss, RL &43

Farm, RL 644

Farm, Rt &1&

Farm, Rt &1&

Farm, Rt &16

Rolline Houss

$t. Luke’s Church

Wright Houss
Liberty Srove

Storse & Dwelling, Rt 800
Windy Hill Farm
Parm, RL 600

Bowar s CLifF
Bock Liff

Houss, RL €51

Dawn Houge

Dawn Stovs

Hopswell United Methodist Church
Bouss, Rt £06

Chandlay Houss

¥Fell Pamily Farm
Fallaway Parm

Houss, RL 755

SECTION/ PARCEL
8 45 /A
9% 1i/a
a7 12
102 73
82 57
88 L
TEE0 6% 70/
3¢ &

65 k)
&4 75
&0 g
103 84
102 &
102 83
102 78
102 68
142 £56
168 52
io8 52
168 7
16 20
16 1

15 74
1% 13%



rage Moo

CARULINE COUNTY BESOURCE INVENTORY AND ThAX HUMBERS

VDHER FILE #

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOUBCE

TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

1072271921

416~-0206-001
01860207401
B16-0208-001
0160208001
016-0210-001
018~D211~0D1
D16~0212-001
$16-0213~001
D16-0214~001

01l6-0215~

$16~0215~001

G16~0316~001
$16-0217-001
$16-0218-001
$16~0213-001
0160220001
G16-02321~-001
016-0222-001
0160223001
016-D324~001
R16-0224-002
D16-0225~001
D16-0226~001
D1l6~0227-001
$16~-D237-002

GlE-0328-001

B

Houpe, RL 755

Hesage, RL 755

Houss, RU 755

Hopewsll Methodist Church Parsonnags
House, Rb 75%

Allen, E.C. Btors

Houss, RL 753

Houss, Rt 755

Farmer HoOuss

Yillboro Tavern
Tod’s Tavern

Yillboro Tavern
Tod s Tavern

zion Grove Church and Cemelbery
$t Mary’s Catholic Church
House, Bt 609

Bvang House

Carnlina Mansion
woodford Houss

woodford Freight station
woodford School

House, RU 503

House, Rt 60%, Garags
Houss, RL €28

HBouse, RL 628

£lliot’s HAouse

Elliot s Offine

Store, RL 8652

SECTION/PARCEL
ig BL
18 133
18 133
is B2
ign 1630
168 182 A
i3 34
17 115
17 108a
17 1¢8a
17 122
2% 31
% 25
28 24
2% 13
23 &

23 10
2% 7

28 iz
28 iz
2% 52
2% iGa
il 43
1¢l 43
107 A&



Page No.

TRACERIER ENGIHNE 70O TRACK AND TRALL EVERYITHING

CARROLINE COUNTY RESOQURCE INVENTORY AND TAX NUMBERS

VOHR FILE ¢

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

10/32719%1

QlE~0229-001

016-0230-001

0160231001

$16~0232-001

016-0233~001

016-0234-001

216-0235-001

016-0236-001

G16-0237-001

016~0238-001

DLe~-0233%-001

0160840001

01l6~0241-001

Gle-0242-001

G16-0243-001

G16~0244~001

0L6~0245-001

016~0346-001

0160247001

G1l6-0248-001

0160248002

Di6-0448~001

BL6-0250~00]

4160251001

$16~02%1-002

016-0352-001

Catalpa Grove
FParm, RL £5%0
Bethel United Methodist Church
¥eedwood Farm
shumansville
Young's Store
School, Rt €64
House, Rb 767
House, RL 664
Farm, Rt €64
Boupe, KL &00
Farm, Rt 718
Farm, Rt 716
House, Rt 7186
Bouse, RL 1

Mt. Horeb Baptist Church
Reed’s Church

House, RL 1
Bradley-Shumansville Store

ol Brick House
Mount Tea Rosge

Temples Mill

Taﬁpl&s Mill M¥illsr’s House
Ladysmith Restaurant

House, RL 683

Farm House Rbe 8B3

Farm Office Rte 683

House, RbL 683

SECTION/PARCEL
108 338
108 24
168 i
ig3 48
87 294
16z 11%3
54 i4
54 5

54 4
102 51
&3 42
&3 i

84 161a
53 &0
103 30
52 150
87 87
51 L

51 10
51 10
52 i41
87 i4
&7 2

&7 2

&5 345



Page Wo. 10

TRACERIES EHGINE 70 TRACK AND TRRIL EVERYIHING

CHROLINE COUNTY RESOURCE INVENTORY AND TRX NUMBERS

YDHR FILE $

HAME OF PROPERTY/REBOURLCE

10722718381

SECTION/PARCEL

$16-0853-001
$16-0254-001
016-02585-001
BlE-0256-001

2160257001

$16-0258-001
0160258002
418~0258~-001
016~-0260~-001
316-0261-001
DLE6-02823-001

DLE~0283-001

D16-0264~001

0160265001
0160266001
0L6E~0267~001
GlE-0268-001
G1E-0269-001
$16~0270~001
$Le~-027 1001
016-0272~001
016-0273~001
$16~0274~001
Dl6-~0275-001
8160276001

G18~0377-G01

Parm, Rt F38
Houss, Rt £8%
oxford ¥t Zion Baptist Church
Houge, Rb 6338

Zlaie’s This or That
¥aso Station

Dr. Cobb’s Housse on Rte £52
pr. cobb's Office on Rts 632
Yarm, RL £57

House, RL 601

Hauség RL 658

2ild Milford Hotel

Gray Campbsll Inn

Sohalls Purniture Refinishing and Repairs

¥ilford Prasbyterian Church
21ld Church

Restaurant, Rt 722
¥ilford Fraight station
House, RL 722
shildroth’s Station
House, RL 828
#ilford State Bank
Clark’s gtore
plati’z Store
Houss, Rt 638

Farm, RL 628
Ashlawn

Fayrm, RL &Z8

Houss, Rb 6440

59 %1
81 73N
82 85
53 g5
83 21
B3 21
80 11
&6 2
56¢ £33
56¢C 7
B&C g
56C 5/8
%6 10
25 2%
55 101
5&¢ 1378
56/ 279
56C 16/h
56 3/3
5 33
56 Bi



Page ¥o. 11

TRACERIES ENGINE 70 TRACE AND

CAROLINE COUNTY REBCURCE IRVENTCORY AND TAX NHUMBERS

YDHR FILE $

HAME OF PROPFERTY/BESCOURCE

TRALL EVERYTHING

1072371981

016-0278-001

B16~0278-001

Gle~0Q80~001

0lé~D2R1~001

0le~-0281-002

Bl6-0281~-004

G16-0281-005

$16~0283~-001

016-0283-001

G16~02384~-001

G16~0285~001

0le~D286~001

018~0287~001

016-0288-001

$16-0282-001

016-02%0-001

016-0331-001

0416~-0292~001

0l6~02%3-001

0le~02384~001

0lE~-0285-001

016~0296-001

DL6-0287~001

016-02%8-001

0l6~023%5-001

$le~0300~001

Cook Houss

Chandlers

Bickory Grove

New Market Plantaticon Houss
Wew Harket Plantaticn Kitchen
Bew Market Plantation Btable
Hew Market Plantastion Barnp
Farm, Rt 1%

Suars House

Cedar Creek

Cak Grove

Store, RU 601

Palestine Farm

Gtore, RL &01

Ross HILL

House, RY 801

House, RL 501

Broad Plaing Farm
Burrus Plats

Burrus House

Burrug Houss

Reedy Mill Store
House, RL &01

R F & P Propurty Essat
B ¥ & P Fropmyiy Wast
River Visw Farm

#t Tabor Church

SECTION/PRRCEL
58 21
70 20
70 2

56 33
56 38
1 a8
14 38
44 0
43 &

22 is
36 841
8% &1
4% [

85 58
35 5

85 37
& 7

9% 13
98 13
9% 1i/a
46 16/
71 iga
8% BB/ BB
85 S0/ A
86 34/a
87 13



Pags No. 12 TRACERIES EHGINE TO TRACK AND TRAILL EVERYTHING 10722/1%8%1

CAROLINE COUNTY RESOURCE INVENTORY AND Ta¥X NUMBERS

VDHR FILE # HANE OF PROPERTY/RESCURCE SEOTLON S PARCEL
160301001 Sreen Houss &7 24
Gle~0302~-001 Farw, Bt 627 ) 87 1%5-5

277 PTOTAL RESOURCES I¥ THIE REPORT



16/22/71851

Page Ho. 1 TRACERIES EBGINE 70 TRACK AND TRAIL BEVERYIHING

CARCLIVE COUNTY BESCURCE INVERTORY AILPHABETICAL LISTIHG

VDHR FILE $

NAME OF PROPERTY/RESOQURCE

UBGE QUAD MAPR HAME

o

016~0040~001

H15-0080-001

016~0211~001

$16-0278-001

D16-0087-001

416~0001~-001

G1le~D060~002

016~0048-001

016-0048-002

016-0074-001

$16~0231-001

BlE-0273-001

0160002001

016~0055~-001

016~0188-001

Gle-0246-001

G16-0003~-001

$16-02%23-001

D16-02%3-001

016~0334~001

G1e~0061-001

GLlE-003 -

G16-0131~

$16-0100-001

B16~0050-001

$16~-0187~-001

G16-~0220-001

aAberioyle Farm
Allen's Btors

Allen, E.C. 8tore
ashlawn

Athens

auburn #ill

Barn at Allen’s Store
Bells ®Hill

Belle Hill School
Bethel Baptist Church
Bethel United Methodist Church
Blatt’s Siors
Blanhein

Boler’s Mill

Bower’s C1lif£f
sradlasy-shupansvills Stors
Braynefield

Broad Plains Farm
Burrus Housea

Burruz House

Butler’s Bridge

Camdan drchasclogical Rite

Campbell’s Home Avchasological Site

Cannon House
Captain Brook Houss
Carmel Baptlst Church

Carslina Mansion

Fonnla

Ladysmith

Guines

Bowling Green

Rutheyr Glasn

Bparta

Ladysmith
rappahannock scademy
rappahannock Academy
Woodford

Hanover

Bowling Gresn
wondford

rRuther Slen

Hanovsy

rencla

wonsdford

Penola

Pancla

Pencla

Hewlett

Rutheyr Slen

woodford

Woodford



Pags No.

CAROLINE COUNTY RESQURCE INVENTORY ALPHABETICAL LISTING

YDHR FILE ¢

TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACE AND TRAILL EVERYTHING

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESQURUE

UEG8 QUAD MAF NAMNE

1072271881

D16-G0BO-00Y

016-0228-001

016~0284-001

018-0203-~D01

D16~-0278-001

016~0038-001

016~0134~001

018~0271~001

216-0133-001

0160134001

HL6-0005-001

016-D278-001

0160056001

D1E-00%E-002

G16-0083-001

416-0200~001

$16-0200-002

$16-~-D258-001

N16-0258-002

$16-0045-

016-0006-

G16~0136~001

016~0227-001

016~0227-002

016-0008-001

DI6-0174~001

G1E~0357-001

Cartsr's Houze

Catalpa Grove

Cedar Creek

chandler House

Chandlers

Chensult

Claremont

clark’s gtore

clifton

Coblb Houss

Concord Bapbist Church

Cook House

conk’s MIlL

Cocsk’s Mill Store

Ccounty Lins Baptist Church
Dawn House

Dawn Store

Dr. Cobb’s House on Rbe 652
pr. Cobh‘s Office on Rte 553
pugout Canos hrchasclogical Site
Edgehill

Bdmund Pendleton High School
Elliot s House

Elliot'g office

Blm Grove

Blmwood

Elsie’s This or That

supply
Hanover
Port Roval
Guinea
rutheyr Glen

Fenola

Rappahannock Academy

Bowling Gresn
woodford
Woodford
ashland
powling Sreen
Bowling Green
Bowling Grsen
Ladysmith
Hanover
Hanover
ruthsr Slen

Ruther Glen

pPancla
Ashland
aZahland
Gparta
Pennla

ruther Glan



Page No. 3 TRACERIES ENGIVE 70 TRACK AND TRAIL BEVERYTHING 10722719881

CARGLINE COUNTY RESOURCE IRVENTORY ALPHABETICAL LISTING

VDHR FILE $ WAME OF PROPERTY/RESCURCE USGE8 QUAD MAY HAME
216~0009-001 Blaon Grasn Hanovey
$16-0218-001 Evans Houss woodford
GlE-0251-001 ¥arm House Rie £83 Hewlelt
216~0251-0032 Parm Office Rie £83 Hewlett
016~0282-~001 Parm, Rt 1% powling Sreen
$16-01%7-001 Farm, RL €00 Banover
016=0150-001 Farm, Rt 615 supply
0160191001 Farm, Rt 81§ supply
016~0191~002 ?axm,‘%t £16 supply
0lE~0302~001 ?&rm,kﬁt 527 pPenclsa
D16-0274-001 Parm, Rt BIB BRowling Sraen
D16-0276-001 Farm, BL 638 Bowling Graen
$16~-0183~-0D1 Farm, Rt €44 Sparta
D1E-0230-001 Farm, Rt &30 Hanover
G16-0359-001 Parm, Rt 857 Buther Glesun
016~-0238-001 Farm, Rt 664 woosdford
R16~0240~-001 Farm, Rt 716 ruther Glen
D16~-0241-001 Farm, Rt 716 ruther Glen
$16~0253-001 Farm, Rb 738 Bewletl
0160214001 Farmer House Guinea
$lE-0204-001 Pell Pamily Parm Guinea
$16~0171-001 First ¥b. Zion Baptist Church Banovey
0160137001 Fontaine Hill Ruther Glen
0l6-0137-0032 Pontaine Hill Bmokshouss Ruther 4len
016-0138-001 Freeman’s House Banover
01lE6~D138.002 Freeman’s House Smokshouss Hanovar

016-0186-001 Prog Level Market and Gas Station Hanover



Page Ho.

TRACERIES ERGINE 0 TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

CAROLINE COUNTY RESOURCE IRVENTORY ALRHEABETICAL LISTING

YOHR FILE #

RAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

10/22/719%1

UEGE QUAD MAP NHAME

0160081001

016~3140~001

G18-0032~

$16-0010-001

416~0010~002

G16~0030~

$16~015%-001

$16-0011-001

416-0263-001

0160034001

B16-0141-001

Bl6-0301-001

D16-0142~001

016-0013-001

016~-0076~001

GL6-0013~0013

§16-0103-001

016~0014-001

016~00%8

$16-0051-001

016-0143-001

G16~0280~001

D16-0038-001

0160043001

016-0043-002

OLl6~DLRT~001

GlE-0209-001

SRR R Eo4 e

Frogen Hill

Garretl House

Gay Hount

Glamorgan

slamorgan Schwol Houss
Goldenvale Creek Archascological site
Grace Baptlist Church
Grace Eplscopal Church
sray Campbell Inn
Green Falls

Gresen Hill

Gresn Houss

Greenwood

srove, The

Hampsiead

Hampbon Manoy
Hamptonville

gayfield

Hazelwood Daivy 4 House Archaeclogical
gite

Hazslwoomd Graves
Henderson’s Mill
Hickory Grove
Bigh Pastures
#illford
Billford Barn
Hillview

Hopewell Methodist Church Parsonnsge

Bparta

Ashland

Ashland

Pencla
Guinea
Bowling Gresn

Pencla

Pencla

Hanover
wondford
Bowling Sreen
ruther Glan

Rappahannock Acadeny

Ruther Glan
Spsria
Guinea
Guinsa
suinea

Guinea



Page Wo. 5 TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACEK AND TRAIL BEVERYTHING 10722715881

CAROQLINE COUNTY REZSOQURCE IHVENTORY ALPHABETICAL LIBTING

VDER FILE # HAME OF PROPERTY/RESCURCE UEG8 QUAD MAYP NAME
016=0201~001 Hopewell United Methodist church Guinsa
0160243001 Bouse, Rt I Ladysmith
016-0245~001 Hmuﬁé, Rt 1 Ladyswrith
G1E-0239-001 HBouse, Rt 500 Banover
018~0260-001 Bouse, RbL 601 Hewletl
$18-0280.00% House, RL 6§01 Pancla
D16-02%1-001% Houss, RL 601 Pencla
GLE-0296-00]1 House, Rt 601 Panola
G1le~0202-001 House, RL 606 Guinea
Rl6~0218~-001 Houss, Rt 608 woodford
$lE~0224~-001 Houss, RL. 609 woodford
160224002 Houss, RL 609, Garage woodfard
G16-0225.00G1 House, Kb 636 woodfnrd
§16-0226-001 Houge, Rb 825 woodford
$16~0263-0D1 House, Rt 628 Bowling Gresn
016~0273=-001 House, Rt £38 powling Green
4160087001 House, RTU 630 Sparta
D16-0256~-001 Houss, Rt €39 wosdford
3160277001 House, RL &40 Bowling Sreen
$16-0188-001 Bouge, RL 543 Sparta
016~0195-001 House, Rt 851 Hanovey
Dle-0261-001 Houss, RL 658 Hewletl
G16~0237-001 Hougse, RL 664 woodford
BLle-02%0-001 Houes, Rt 883 Hewlett
DLE-0252~001 #ouss, Rt 683 Hewletl
01e-0254-001 House, Rt £8% Howlehl

G1l8m0242-001 House, Rb T1é Ruthsyr Slsn



Page HO. & TRACERIES ENGINE 70 TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 1p/32/1991

CARCLINE COUNTY REBCURCE INVENTORY ALFHARBETICAL LISTING

YDHRR FILE $ HAHE OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE USGs QUAD MAP NAME
$16~-0044~-001 House, RL 721 Sparta
DLE-0267-001 Houss, Rb 732 woodford
416-0306-001 House, RL 755 Guinesa
§16-0207-001 House, Rt 755 Guinea
Di6-0208-001 Houss, Bt 758 Guinea
0i16-0210-001 House, R 755 Guinea
B16-0212-001 Houss, BRL 755 Gulnea
$16-0213~001 Houms, RL 75% Guinea
0160305001 #Bouse, RL 755 GZuinea
Q16-0087~-001 House, Rt 759 Guinea
3160236001 Houss, RL 767 woodford
$16~0173-001 House, RL 35 Ladysmith
0lE~D132-0D1 Bubbard’s Tavern gparta
GlE~0105-002 Irane House Ladyasmith
GleE-0105-001 Irene Slave guarters Ladyamith
GlE-0106~001 Ivy CLliff wWowdford
8160077 -Q0% Ivy Hill Woodford
Giém&$§imﬁﬂi Jackzon Shrins suinea

$16-0163-001

Jeyiche Raptist Church

Ruther Glen

G16~0082-001 Ray House Supply
$16-0249-001 Ladysmith Restaurant Ladyanith
DLE-0IDT7~001 Laurel Springs Buinea

0LE-0068~001

016~0015~001

0160148001

Dl6-0150-001

016-0138-001

Liberty Church
Locust #ill
Luck’z 0ld Place
Magnoelia Tan

Marmaduke

Rappahsunock scademy

Guinsa

rutheyr Glen

Gparta



Pags RO,

CARCLINE COUNTY REBCURCE INVENTORY ALPHABETICRL LISTING

YOHR FILE $

TRACERIES ENSINE T0 TRACK AND TRAXL EVERYTHING

NAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

I0/23/18%1

UBGES UIAD MAP HAME

=

$16-0016~001

$16~0266~001

016~0264-001

016-0270-001

0160017001

Bl6~-0151-001

DLE6-0083~001

DLE-0123~001

D16-0018-001

0160052~

016-0084~001

D16-00B5~

016-0020-001

0LE-0170-001

016~0042-001

$16-0300-001

G16-0175-001

$16~0047-001

016~0047-002

416-0181-001

0160244001

J16-01523-001

D16-~0035-001

$16~0035-003

0LlE~0035-002

016-0086-002

Dl6-0086~001

Muadow Farm

Hilford Freight Station
#ilford Presbyterian Church
Hilford State Bank

¥ill ®Bill

Montpelisy

Hoors Houss

HOOrs ' s %$32

Moss Neck Manor

Hount Church

Hount Clear

Mount Bolus archasclogicsl Site
Mt Gideon

¥t oni Baptist Church

¥t Salem Bapltist Church

¥t Tabor Church

ML Vernon Methodist Church
Mt Zion

¥t Zion Smokehouse

M, Herman Church

Mt. Hoveb Raptist Church
Mulberry Grovs

Mulberry ¥lace

Hulberry Place Blackamith Shop
Mulberry Place Kitchen
¥Murray Suest Housze

Murray House

aZahland

Bowling Gresn
Bowling Green
powling Sreen

Guinaa

Bparta
Bparta

rappahannock Acadamy

Sparta

Hanovey
®ruther Glan
Fenola
pancla
Pencla
Guinsa
Suinesa
Prenclsa
Hanover
Banover
Fenols
Pancla
Pencia
Sparta

Sparts



Page No.

CARGLINE COUNTY RESOGURCE IHRVENTORY ALPHABETICAL LISTING

VDHR FILE §

TRACERIES ENGINE

WAME OF PROFERTY /RESOURLCE

TC TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

10723/71%%L

DEGE QUAD MAP HAME

$16-0232-001
Gle~0281-00%
G16-0281-001
$16~0281~002
§16-0281-004
B16-0111-001
0160285001
016~-0036~-001
01e~0112~001
$16-0247-001
G16-0262~001
G16-005%-00]1
016-0255-001
BLe6-0287-001
0160180001
016~0176-001
0lE~0153-001
0150154001
§16-0154~004
$16~002%~

016~0156~001
Q1E~001 %~

B16-0186-002
Di6~0158~00]1
$16-0287~001
$16-02%8-001

$16-~-00%4-001

Heasdvwood Farm

Hew Market Plantation Rarn
Hew Market Plantaticon Houss
Hew Market Plantation Ritochen
Kew Market Plantation stable
Horth Gardsn

Oak Grove

oak Ridge

Gakton

¢ld Brick House

id Milford Hotel

ormesbhy

orferd ¥t Zion Baptist Church
ralestine Parm

Plum Grove

Point Bastern

Poplar Grove

Poplar Grovs

Poplar Grove North Cottage

Port Royval Trashplt drchaeclogical 8ite

Prospest HIL1
Progpect BLll
Prospect Hill Fitchen
Providence

R P & P Propesrty East
B P & P Property West

Reedy MLll

Hanovey
Bowling Grasn
Bowling Green
Bowling Green
powling Sreen
Guinea
Pancla
Bowling Green
Hewlett
Ladysmith
Bpowling Green
Guinea

ruther Glen
Penola

Sparta
Hanovey
Ruther Glen
woodford

wondford

woodford

wondford

Pancla

rPanclia

Penola



Page Ho. 3

CAROLINE COUNTY RESQURCE INVENRTORY BLPHABETICAL LISTING

YDHR FILE &

TRACERIES ENGINE T TREACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING

NAME OF PROPERTY/RESOURCE

I0/82/71%%1

USGE QUAL MAP NAME

0160225081
G16~0168~

G18~0365~001
G16~0295~001
0160021001
016~0022-001
G16-0132-001
016-0088~001
316-028%-001
3180081001
316~0187-00G1
016-0023~

0l6~DR35-001
4160283001
0160041001
$16-0053-001
$1l6~0268-001
0160179001
G15-0233~001
G18~-0085~

$16-0065-001
016-0024-001
G16~0024~002
D16-00%0-001
D16-00%4-001
D16~0025w

DLe~00%4-002

e

ready Mill Store

refuse Deposit archaeclogical site

Rueptaurant, Rb 7232
River View Farm
Rock Spring

Rock Stop

Rellins House

Rolph House

Ross Hill

Salem Baptist Church
Sallis Young Houss
Santes

Bohool, Rt 554
Sears House

Shannon %ilia
Shephard’s Bill
ghildroth’s Station
shiloh United mMsthodist Church
shumanavillse
skinker’s Nack
gkinker’s Heck
southbrook
gouthbrook

Sparta High school
Bpring Grove

Spﬁing GTOVe

Bpring Grove Fitchen

Fenola

Bowling Green

ranola

Hanover
rappahannock acadsmy
supply

Sparta

Renola

Bparta

Hansver

woodford
Bowling Green
ruther Glen
Bowling Green
goodford
Sparta

rancla

Guinea
Guinsa
Sparta

Suinea

Guinea



Page Ho. 10

CAROLINE COUNTY

VDRER FILE §

TRACERTER ENGINE T2 TRACK AND TRALL EVERYITHING

RESOURBCE INVENTURY ALPHABETICARL LISTING

UBME OF PROPEBRTY/RESCURCE

UEGE QUAL MAP NAME

0le~00%4-003

016-0116-001

G16-0116~002

416~0177-001

016-0172-001

016~-0217-001

Dle-0183-001

$1l6~DO26~001

$16~0135-001

216~0286~001

016~0288-001

016~0228-001

DI6-0162~001

§16-0163-001

$16-~-0178-001

316~0248-001

0160848002

216~0184~001

Bi6-021%~

D16~-0215~001

§16-0117-001

2160027001

016-0027-002

016~0086~-001

GlE-01%6-001

GlE-0232~001

0le~0231-001

spring Grove Smokshouse
gpring Hill

spring Bill Smokshouse
Spy Hill

8t Margarst‘s Eplscopal Church
8t Mary’s Catholic Church
Bt. Luke s Church
Btaphope

Store & Dwelling, Rt 600
store, BL 601

Stors, Rt 641

Stors, RBRL 652

sunny South

Byramors HILL
Taylorsville

Temples Mill

Temples ¥ill Miller’s Houss
Thompsons Hill

villbore Tavern

Villboro Tavern

white Kall

White Plains

wWhite Plains Kitchen
windsor

Windy Hill Fsim

woodford Frelight Station

woodford House

Guinea
Guinea
Guinea
gparta
Ruther Glen
woosdford
Hanovey
Pancls
Hanover
Pensla
Fenola
Ashland
Bawlett
Woodford
Eparta
Ladyamith
Ladysmith
ruther Glan
Zuinea
suinea
woodford
Spartsa

Sparts

Hanover
wondford

wondford

10/22/189%1



Page Wo. 11

TRACERIES BHGINE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 1e/aa/1%91

CABOLINE COUNTY REBOURSCE INVENTORY ALPHABETICAL LISTING

YDHR FILE #

HAME OF PROPERTY/RESQURCE

UEGE QUAD HAP NAME

516-0223-001
0160028001
016~0194-001
0160072001
016-0234-001

$16~0216~001

Woodfnrd school
Woodpaoker
wWright Hougne

Yew Springs Famm
¥oung s Btors

Zion srove Church amdl Cemsltery

276 TOTARL REBDURCES IN THIS REPORT
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woodfnrd
woodford
wondford
rappahannock Academy
Hanover

sGuinea



TRACERIES ERGIRE TO TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING ie/18/19%1

CAROLINE COUNTY PROPERTIES WITH NATIOHNAL REGISTER POTENTIAL

VDHR File 4 Name of Property Ptl applicable MR Criteria

016-000%~ Auburn Hill 208 Tllustrates influential, rare,
notakle architectural style.
Bl Residence of persons significant to
pazi,

GLE-0002 - Bleanheim o6 YXllustrabes influential, rare,
notablas architectural style.
BCG1 Residence of persons significant to
past.

GlE~GD0% - BElson Gresn <06 Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architectural style.

$il6~-0010-  Glamorgan ci$ Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architectural sityle.

Q16001 L~ Grace Episcopal Church 06 Tllustrates influentisl, rare,
notable srchitectural style.

0LlE-0012~ Grove, Ths €% Illustrates Iuilding types and
FUD-LYpes .
A02 Illustrates development of bhuilding
type.
C08 rliustrates siting or landscaping.

GlE~0013~ Hampton Manor 08 rllustrates influsntisl, rare,
notsble arshitsctural style.
BO1 Besidence of perzons significant to
pazt,

GLE=00L 4w Hayfield C6 rllustrates influvential, rave,
netable architectural style.
BU1 Residence of persons significant to
past.

GlEwD01Bm Lsoust HILL 06 Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architectural style.

0160018~ Moss Neck Manor AUl assoclated with specific historical
event,
208 Illustrates influsntial, rare,
notable avchitectural styls.

GIE-0020- Mt sideon <06 Tllustrates influsntial, rare,
notabkle architectural style.

GEEwOGZEm stanhope 06 Xllustrstes influsntial, rare,
notabkle architectural style.



Pags No. 2 TRACERIES ENSINE TG TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING 18/18/718583%
FROPERTIES WITH KWATIOWAL REGIBTER POTENTIAL

VYDHER File # ¥Name of Property Ftl Applicable NR Criteria

QLE-DO2T white Flains Cos Illustrates influential, ravs,
notable architectural style.
B3l mesidence of persons significant to
past.

Q16=-0034~ Gsreen Falls 66 Illustrates influentiasl, rare,
notable architecotural styvle.

GLlE-0035%- Mulberyry Placs 06 Illustrates influentisl, rare,
notable architectursl style.
206 Refleots avchitectural response to
societal structure.

0160043~ Hillford 32 rllustrates development of building
type.
c46 Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architectural style.

D16EG048 - Belle ®ill A01 Associsted with specific historical
event.
06 Illustrates influentisl, rarve,
notable architsctursl style.
06 Reflants asrchitestursl responss to
serietal strunture.

0160056~ Cook’s Mill 05 Illustrates bullding types and
sub-Ltypes.
402 rllustrates development of bullding

Lype.
09 Illustrabes use of materials.

G16-0U80~ 2lien’ s Store o045 1llustrates bullding types and
sib-Lypeg.
502 Illustrates development of bullding
LY R .
AD4 rReflects eoconomic foroes affecting
development patisrn.

D160 0T 4w Bethel Baptist church AD1 Associated with specific historical
wyent.
C06 Illustrates influential, rars,
notable architectural style.

BLE=007 T Ivy Hill CO6 Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architectural styls.

G16~-0084~ Hount Cleay 06 Illustrates influsntisl, rarve,
notable architectural style.
BU1 Residence of pesrzons significant to
past.



rage Ho.
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TRACERTES ENGINE T TRACK AND TRAIL EVERYTHING /1871851

FROPERTIES WITH HATIONAL REGISBTER POTENTIAL

YOHR File # Name of Property

Ptl Applicable HR Criteria

£=4

0160092~

G16-00%4-

016~-0100~

4160122~

016~0137-

016-015%4-

$16-0164~

0160173~

=

Jackson Shrins

Spring Grove

Cannon Houss

Hubbard s Tavern

Fontains HilL

Poplar Grove

Thompsons Hill

st Margareb's Eplscopal
Church

01

OB

BO1

07

I

AO2

FRIK:

£05

A03

A0S

Co5

BU3

AQE

A0S

17

Co6

hAzaociabted with specific historical
event.

Yllustrates ziting or landscaping.
kesidence of pevsonz significant to
pagt.

Illustrates bulldings® roles in
planning/sesthetics.

Illustrates building typesz and
sub~types.

Illustrates development of bullding
type.

part of cluster, corrvider, or
district development pattern.

Illustrates influential, rare,
netable architectural styvle.

Illustrates building types and
sub~Lypes,

Tllustrates devslopment of buillding
Type.,

Reflects architestural responzse to
sexietal strusture.

Iilustrates bullding types and
sub-types.

Part of cluster, corrvidor, or
district development pattern.
Beflects architectural response to
gocietal structure.

Illustrates bullding typss and
sub-types.

rart of cluster, corridor, or
district development patitern.
reflects architectural response Lo
gocistal structure.

reflects attitudes on soclietal
structure.

Ilinstrates influentisl, rare,
notable architectural style.

Illustrates influentisl, rare,
notable architsctural style.



Page Wo.

TRACERIES ENGINE TO TRACE AND TBRAIL EVERYTHING 10/18/19%1

PROPERTIES WITH NATIONAL REGISTER POTENTIAL

YDHR File &€ Nanms of Property

PL1 Applicable NR Criteria

oy

0160194~

G4186~0203~

318~03 15~

D16~-0220~

Di6~0232~

B16~0247~

DI6~0266w~

Wright Houss

Chandler Houze

villbore Tavern

Caroling Mansion

woodford Preight Station

old Brick House

#ilford Freight Station

Ca%

202

03

2

<08

p:2634

AO3

F:311%

CO6

05

A02

AL3

a04

CO6

Co5

K02

B03

04

Illustrates bullding types and
sub-~-Lypes.

Illustrates development of building
type.

Part of clustey, corridor, ov
district davelopment patisrn.

Illustrates influential, rars,
notable architectural styls.

Illustrates building types and
aub-Lypes.

Illustrstes development of bullding
Lype.

Part of sluster, corridor, or
district development patiern.
reflects architsctural rssponze Lo
gsocietal stracturs.

Illustrates influential, rare,
notable architsctural stvle.

Illustrates bullding types and
sub-Lypes.

ITllustrates development of building
Ly,

rPart of cluster, oorridor, oo
district development patisrn.
reflects econmmic forees affecting
devalopment patisrn.

Illustrates influential, rave,
notable architectural style.

Illustrates buillding types and
sub-Lypes.

Iliustrates develoupment of bullding
Loypes .

vart of cluster, corridor, or
district development pattern.
reflects sconomic Eorces affscting
developrent patters.



FPage ¥o 5 TRACERIES BENGINE TO TRACKE AND TRATIL EBEVERYTHIKG 106/1871%91

PROPERTIES WITH NATIONAL REGISTER POTERTIAL

VDHR File 4 Hame of Property Pl applicable NR Criteria
$16-0270~ Milford Stats Bank CO5 rilustrates building types and
sub~Lypes.
&02 Illustrates development of building
Lype.

&04 Reflects economic forces affscting
development pattern.

B16-0273~ Blatt’sz Stove 205 Illustrates bullding types and
sub-types.
&D2 Tllusirates development of buillding
LYpe.
204 Reflects scononmic forces affecting
development pattern.

$16-027%- Chandlers ¢ Tllustrates influential, rave,
notable architectural shyle.

0160281 New Market Plantabion a51 Associated with specific historical
event.

céé rllustrates influentiasl, rare,
notable architectural styvle.

BU1 Residence of persons significant to
pasL,

0186~0282- Broad Plains Parm 08 rllustrates influential, rars,
notabkle architectural style.

43 TOTRL RESOURCES IN THIS REPOGRY



Appendix B

FLOOR PLANS OF SELECTED HISTORIC BUILDINGS
Stanhope
Mit. Gideon
Glamorgan
Cook’s Mill
RE&P Quarter’s Building
Newmarket Plantation {Old Bavior Home)



Cook’s Mill

Pt

al
b
o}
di
¢
b

Origingd Mill building

Warer wheel roof covering below
Srorage addizion, dae unknown
Post supports

2k Century gradn mills

Graoin chutes

First Flpor Plan

PMA Consulting Services

October 158, 1991

drawn by: Kathleen Stuarnt
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Newmarket Plantation

{Old Buylor Home)

-
W E

@

2.
al Qrighngl dwelling
b Porch addition, date unknown e
o FPorch addition, 20eh Cemtury | Lo
di Kirchen addivion, 20tk Centwry . v N S ]
e} Addition, 20k Cesgury First Floor Plan . E

PMA Consulting Services October 18, 1991 drawn by: Kathleen Stuant



Mount Gideon

i

3 Bl
4
B L2

@
. B
@) Origingl side-passage dwelling B
&} Addition, date unknown S U
o} Interior alierations, ¢.a. 1930 fo
d} Porch addivion, c.a. 1830 " ‘ .
& Reconstructed porches First Floor Plan e

PMA Consulting Services

Cictober 15, 1991

drawn by: Kathlgen Stuart
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